Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Joni-Leigh Webster

Date

Speaking Truth to Power: How Black Twitter Subscribers Discuss Mental and Emotional Wellbeing

in Relation to Drug Use, Death, and Everyday Life

By:

Joni-Leigh Webster

Doctor of Philosophy

Sociology

Dr. Timothy Dowd

Advisor

Dr. Weihua An Dr. Irene Browne

Committee Member Committee Member

Dr. Tressie McMillan

Dr. Dawne Mouzon

Cottom

Committee Member

Committee Member

Accepted:

Dr. Kimberly Jacob Arriola

Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Speaking Truth to Power: How Black Twitter Subscribers Discuss Mental and Emotional Wellbeing in Relation to Drug Use, Death, and Everyday Life

By

Joni-Leigh Webster

M.P.H., Rutgers University, 2016

Advisor:

Dr. Timothy Dowd

Ph.D., Princeton University, 1996

An abstract of

A dissertation submitted to the

Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Sociology 2024

Abstract

Speaking Truth to Power: How Black Twitter Subscribers Discuss Mental and Emotional Wellbeing in Relation to Drug Use, Death, and Everyday Life

By Joni-Leigh Webster

This dissertation explores the lasting impact of the war on drugs on the lives of Black women and men by investigating how processes of racialization and racialized gender oppression affect access to prescription drugs and nonmedical prescription drug use (NMPDU). I apply intersectional and Black Feminist frames to understand how Black women and men engage in NMPDU as a form of resistance to negative images of Black people who use drugs, utilizing Twitter ("X") as a site of memory to articulate drug use experiences. In paper one, I employ qualitative thematic analysis of tweets guided by intersectional analytic methods to determine reasons for, patterns of, and side effects of nonmedical prescription opioid use among Black men Twitter subscribers. I learned that hip-hop is a cultural marker by which Black men explain opioid use behaviors tied to sex, mental health, and social interactions. Paper two examines how racial capitalism shapes Black women's decisions to engage in nonmedical prescription stimulant use (NMPSU) from the perspective of the strong Black woman controlling image as Black women manage ADHD and labor-related and co-occurring stressors. I use the transactional stress process model to evaluate Black women's coping processes and find that while Black women express positive identity when accomplishing goals linked to work and school, co-occurring stressors, difficulty meeting expectations, and lack of access to prescription stimulants contributes to negative mental health outcomes, including suicidal ideation. Lastly, paper three uses text analysis to explore the validity of natural language processing techniques to detect emotion, sentiment, and topics about NMPSU among Black women and men. Although research indicates that current emotion lexicons and sentiment dictionaries accurately assess emotion and sentiment for Twitter subscribers writ large, I observe that they fall short of detecting the emotions and sentiments of Black women and men. However, topic models suggest that prescription stimulant dependence is prominent in conversations about NMPSU among women whereas hip-hop is more important to men's conversations.

Speaking Truth to Power: How Black Twitter Subscribers Discuss Mental and Emotional Wellbeing in Relation to Drug Use, Death, and Everyday Life

By

Joni-Leigh Webster

M.P.H., Rutgers University, 2016

Advisor:

Dr. Timothy Dowd

Ph.D., Princeton University, 1996

A dissertation submitted to the

Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Sociology 2024

Acknowledgements

To the Black women and men, whose words provided inspiration and substance to this dissertation. Thank you for sharing your experiences so that I could learn more about Black mental health, and hopefully provide information to improve our community's collective wellbeing.

I'd like to thank my dissertation committee and Emory faculty who have instructed me throughout my years in the doctoral program (Drs. Puckett, Johnson, Idler, Keyes, and Sewell), as well as staff (Pat, Kim, and Brandon). Specifically, I'd like to thank my advisor, Dr. Dowd, for being a cheerleader and advocate. For continually being positive and helping me to become a better teacher. I'd like to thank Drs. Browne and An for the knowledge I've gained through coursework and personal interactions. To Dr. Cottom, thank you for helping me to think more critically about digital sociology. To my mentor, Dr. Mouzon, who encouraged me as a master student in public health and stood with me during this journey. We've come full circle. You are an example of quiet power. Your expertise and rigor are astounding.

I would like to acknowledge the faculty, staff, and my peers in the T.A.D.A. fellowship and sociology graduate program. I've learned so much from you all. To Marielysse, thank you for your empathy and work. None of us would have made it this far without you. Dr. Cooper, thank you so much for being an indispensable ear for me to bounce my ideas off and reign them in while encouraging me to be my best. Thank you for believing in me and helping me to work through several versions of my papers. Dr. Sarker, you are a Python genius, I have learned so much from you and am a better researcher because of it. The mentorship you both provided will always be cherished. To the Sarker Lab members (Yao, Sahithi, Yuan-Chi, and Mohammed), thank you for helping me to work through coding issues and develop my skillset. To Dr. Waller, thank you for spending time nurturing us throughout the fellowship.

And last, but certainly not least, thank you to my friends and family who've walked with me, laughed with me, and loved me. I am so thankful for you all. Thank you, Teshia, Shanique, Racquelle, Sorauly, Steph, Mary, Yemi, Ashby, Shannon, Donna-Lee, Craig, and Sania. To my mentee, Kaya, you remind me of how important it is to maintain youthful joy and hope. To my counselor, Dr. Abrams, thank you for challenging me and helping me to realize I am whole. "We not done yet though!" You have helped me cultivate the skills to survive and to find contentment. You are amazing and the work you do helps so many of us. To Princess, Roscoe, Chloe, Chewey, Dude, Friday, Luna, Diego, and Brooklyn, I love you and thank you for filling our home with laughter and love. To my Aunt Paula, who has always shown me love and kindness. I appreciate you and am happy you're exploring the world. To my sister, who brags about me, even though I didn't have the degree yet, you are a beautiful and intelligent young woman. I am proud of you. Congratulations on your SHRM certification! To my love, Victoria (Victor) Grace Hall, there aren't enough words or ways to thank you for standing with me and crying with me. Holding me when I didn't think I could do it and believing that I would. I love you. To my mother, who had a dream to provide herself and her children with opportunities she never had. For always knowing and trusting that I would be a doctor when others didn't. This is also for you. "Mommy, we made it!"

Thank you to my d*** self! "Girl, you did that!"

Role of funding source

Research reported in this dissertation was supported by the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) of the Nation Institutes of Health (NIH) under award numbers R01DA046619 and R01DA057599 (Sarker, PI), and 5T32DA050552 (Cooper, PI, Waller, PI). The content is solely the responsibility of the author(s) and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH.

Special Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my co-authors, Drs. Cooper, and Sarker, for providing analytic guidance and feedback throughout the writing process of my dissertation.

Dedication

"& this is for Colored girls [and queer folks] who have considered suicide/ but are movin towards the ends of their own rainbows" – Ntozake Shange

To all oppressed and colonized people, we will see freedom in our lifetimes.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
A Racial and Gender Project of Drug Use	
Black Digital Life: Signifyin', Social Media, and Substance Use	
Summary of the Three Papers	
References	
Chapter 2: "A Dose of Percocet": How Black Men Twitter Subscribers Describe Exp	
Opioid Use	
Abstract	
Keywords	
Introduction	
Methods	
Data and Collection Analytic Methods	
Results	
Reasons for Use: Coping, Recreational Use, and Suicidal Ideation	
Opioid Use Patterns: The Relevance of Source and Social Interactions Unwanted Side Effects: Sleepiness, Sexual Dysfunction, and Addiction	
Discussion	
Discussion	
Conclusion	
References	
Tables & Figures	
Chapter 3: "Strong Black Women": Prescription Stimulant Use as a Site of Resistan	
Women's Labor and Negative Images of Black Womanhood	56
Abstract	
Keywords	
Introduction	
"Welfare Queens" and "Crack-Addicted Mothers": Racialized and Gendered Image the War on Drugs	es of Black Womanhood in 58
"Strong Black Women": Negotiating Strength and its Effects on Black Women's Ex	-
Coping The Transactional Stress Process Model as an Analytic Frame	
Methods	
Data Collection and Sampling	
Analytic Methods	
Results	
Overview	
Stress and Coping: Problem-based Methods	
Stress and Coping: Problem- and Emotion-based Methods	

Discussion Limitations	
Conclusion	
References	
Tables & Figures	
Chapter 4: "I Been Taking Adderall Mixing it with Lean, Hope I Do Twitter to Understand Nonmedical Prescription Stimulant Use amo	ng Black Women and Men Subscrib
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Abstract	
Keywords	
Introduction	
Methods	
Data Collection	
Analytic Methods	
Results	
Emotion Analysis	
Sentiment Analysis	
Topic Models	
Discussion	
Limitations	
Conclusion	
References	
Tables & Figures	
Supplementary Tables & Figures	
Chapter 5: Conclusion	

Chapter 1: Introduction

"You want to know what this was really about? [Ehrlicman] asked with the bluntness of a man who, after public disgrace and a stretch in federal prison, had little left to protect. "The Nixon campaign in 1968, and the Nixon White House after that, had two enemies: the antiwar left and Black people. You understand what I'm saying? We knew we couldn't make it illegal to be either against the war or Black, but by getting the public to associate the hippies with marijuana and blacks with heroin, and then criminalizing both heavily, we could disrupt those communities. We could arrest their leaders, raid their homes, break up their meetings, and vilify them night after night on the evening news. Did we know we were lying about the drugs? Of course, we did." Dan Baum – Legalize it All, 2006

Since 2011, there has been a reversal in opioid-involved mortality, with annual percentage increase of opioid-involved and stimulant-involved overdose death highest among Black women and men in comparison to White peers (Friedman and Hansen, 2022; Townsend et al., 2022; Furr-Holden et al., 2021; Althoff et al., 2020). Yet, greater attention is paid to White people who use drugs because of rises in deaths among middle and upper socioeconomic status White women and men (Herzberg et al., 2023). Whereas morbidity and mortality from drugs have conscripted Black, Latinx, and American Indian people who use drugs to deviance, racialization in the form of Whiteness has avoided such pejorative labeling by juxtaposing them to Black and Latinx populations (Herzberg et al., 2023; Ramsey, 2023; Alexander, 2010; Provine, 2007). White people who use drugs are viewed as victims subject to the disease of addiction and consequent to this, conversations about the opioid epidemic have shifted political commentary and media discussions to more empathic portrayals of drug use rather than those engendering violence at political and judicial levels since White mortality from overdose could no longer be hidden by social class (Herzberg et al., 2023). The war on drugs acts a racial and gender project through policies and media representations to present drug use among Black people as part of the sequelae of the culture of poverty

without acknowledging Black women and men as victims and casualties in this lost war (Cooper, 2015; Omi and Winant, 2014; Windsor et al., 2012; Jordan-Zachery, 2009; Jordan-Zachery, 2008; Provine, 2007; Bonilla-Silva, 2006). In this way, controlling images are the medium by which policy makers justify control by using media to propagate negative stereotypes of Black people who use drugs (Collins, 2000).

Stigmatization of drug use without acknowledging the reasons for it perpetuate risk by creating an unholy union wherein oppression through controlling images of Black people exacerbate the likelihood of death while reducing access to treatment and heightening exposure to adulterated or illegalized drugs along raced and gendered lines. Rises in mortality from drugs among Black people is driven by fundamental causes of disease (Banks et al., 2023; Gondre-Lewis et al., 2022; Nicholson, 2020; Phelan and Link, 2015; Phelan et al., 2010; Williams and Collins, 2001; Link and Phelan, 1995) and neighborhood characteristics that make illegalized drugs and drug products contaminated with synthetic opioids more accessible in Black communities (Ciccarone, 2021; Nicholson and Ford, 2019). The introductory quote by Baum showcases how the federal government undermines Black communities to forestall progress from the Civil Rights movement and Black Panther party through stereotypes that depict Black women and men as criminals and negligent parents who violate societal contracts of acceptability by not conforming to American ideals (Herzberg et al., 2023; Ramsey, 2023; Mendoza et al., 2019; Alexander, 2010; Provine, 2007; DuBois, 1903; DuBois, 1899).

Though drug use among Black people is partially explained by social disadvantage from exposure to poverty, neighborhood instability, and childhood trauma (Banks et al., 2023; Nicholson, 2023), studies infrequently explore reasons for drug use conceptualized from Black people's perspectives outside of a punitive frame (Sypher et al., 2023; Hargons et al., 2022; Jemal et al., 2020; Jones et al., 2015). To this end, this dissertation examines how race and gender intersect through a matrix of domination (Collins, 2000; Crenshaw, 1991) to affect the drug-related experiences of Black Twitter subscribers who engaged in nonmedical prescription drug use. I assessed the implication of racialization and gender on adverse mental health and drug-related experiences for prescription opioids and stimulants, and positive effects of

use to challenge negative images of Black women and men who use drugs using qualitative inquiry and computational text analysis. Although I focused on how drug use is used to racialize Black people towards deviance, this does not imply that White people are not concomitantly racialized through drugs (Herzberg et al., 2023) since race and gender are social constructions and not deterministic (Omi and Winant, 2014; Collins, 2004; Collins, 2001). It is just that this dissertation paid attention to the patterns and outcomes of Black women and men exclusively.

A Racial and Gender Project of Drug Use

As Black people age, risk of drug use increases because of the persistence of discrimination across their lives (Nicholson et al., 2022; Jackson et al., 2010). For Black men, it is hypothesized that the legacy of slavery and present marginalization promotes aversion to responsibility and family life, leaving women to be caretakers in the home as Black men seek alternative ways to articulate masculinity tied to American ideals of economic success and dominance (hooks, 2004). As a result of this and the nexus of racism and sexism, Black women and children are left to care for themselves causing Black women to harbor feelings of anger as they are taught to put the needs of families and communities ahead of their own (hooks, 2004; Davis, 1983). This conflates with controlling images of Black women and men as sexually promiscuous, lazy, and drug dependent to justify control by the state and medical providers (Collins, 2004; Collins, 2000). However, controlling images like these are limited and do not explain how adverse childhood experiences from exposure to poverty and racism, impedes Black women's and men's ability to engage in vulnerability as silence is antithetical to strength in the form of masculinity for Black men, and the strong Black woman framework for Black women (Silverstein et al., 2023; Banks et al., 2023; Craddock et al., 2023; Bernard et al., 2020; Harper and Jackson, 2019; Beauboeuf-Lafontant, 2009; hooks, 2004; Collins, 2000). For instance, absent from these kinds of conversations are the use of the prison and medical industrial complexes to worsen drug-related outcomes among Black people who use drugs (Mingus, 2015; Omi and Winant, 2014).

The neuroscience explanation of drug use emerged in the early 2000s with amplified incidence of opioid dependence among White people because of prescription opioid marketing predicated on beliefs

that White people are less susceptible to addiction and Black people are more tolerant of pain (Hertzberg et al., 2023; Hart, 2021; Washington, 2008). The whitening of drug use as a biological rather than social outcome fell under the purview of medical providers to manage through prescription drugs. However, moralization of drug use due to biologization does not allow for drug use to exist along a continuum where pathologization is not the only outcome, enabling medical practitioners to gatekeep care in tandem with the state (Conrad and Barker, 2010; Illich, 2000; Zola, 1972). Due to this, differences in treatment for heroin versus prescription opioid addiction (derived from the same primary active ingredient - opium) follows racialization of pharmacotherapy with methadone treatment in majority minoritized and impoverished neighborhoods, and buprenorphine normalized in private doctors' offices in suburban White communities (Herzberg et al., 2023). In these ways, race and space intersect with policy and social control to create barriers to care routinized by geographic exclusion irrespective of insurance coverage (Wu et al. 2016; Lagisetty et al. 2019).

Treatment in private medical offices provides insured patients with flexibility in deciding to take medications in the privacy of their homes, outside of the scrutiny of others in White suburban contexts (Herzberg et al., 2023). Though, treatment of opioids in the form of heroin is managed by methadone clinics and is subject to supervision in-office by clinic personnel with patients required to present to clinics daily for treatment, receive psychological or group therapy, and to pass urine drug screens. In conjunction to this, provider bias regarding Black women's (people's) ability to withstand pain decreases medical professionals' willingness to treat Black pain through prescription opioids (Poehlmann et al. 2022; Keister et al. 2021; Rosenthal et al. 2021; Santoro and Santoro 2018). Thus, the medical industrial complex merges with the prison industrial complex to permit physicians' control in access to less stigmatized and criminalized prescription medications (drugs) while law enforcement and child welfare organizations punish drug use among Black women and men (Finamore; 2022; Harp and Bunting, 2020; Jordan-Zachery, 2008).

Policies and practices like stop-and-frisk practices; mandatory minimum sentences; prenatal screening for drug use of Black mothers; and utilization of no-knock drug warrants in Black communities

create an image of Black people as deviant, with illegalized drug use worsening perceptions of a spoiled identity requiring incarceration to mitigate fallout (Orenstein and Kaul, 2022; Earp et al., 2021; Donnelly et al., 2020; Mencarini et al., 2020; McCellan et al., 2018; Jones, 2017; Hansen and Netherland, 2016; Alexander, 2010; Roberts, 1993; Goffman, 1963). The intersection of gender and race is palpable in these frameworks, as rises in overdose mortality is higher among Black men, yet Black women bear a greater burden of opioid- and stimulant-involved overdoses compared to White women (Jones et al., 2023).

Incarceration has fed the bidirectional relationship between criminalization for nonviolent drug offenses and overdose since the 1990s through changes in mandatory minimum sentencing guidelines for drug possession of crack-cocaine versus powder-cocaine and prescription opioids versus heroin (Herzberg, 2023; Ramsey, 2023; Alexander, 2010; Provine, 2007). A quick review of studies published during this period showcases how crack-cocaine was used to present Black men as "super predators" and Black women as crack-addicted teenage mothers to explain drug use in Black communities. Missing from these assessments are the prevalence of use and sale of heroin and cocaine by White people above Black people or the provision of prescription opioids by physicians through pill mills (Herzberg et al., 2023; Harp and Bunting, GF; Ingram, 2014; Alexander, 2010; Lillie-Blanton et al., 1993). Instead of presenting this social reality, Black women and men are scapegoated and presented as the primary sellers and users of narcotic drugs. Moral imperatives link controlling images to drug use among Black women through surveillance of Black mothers who are criminalized if they test positive for drugs (Finamore, 2022; Harp and Bunting, 2020). This is demonstrated by higher annual percentage rise of incarceration of Black women for drug related offenses, outpacing Black men who are not penalized as parents who uses drugs (Monazzam and Budd, 2023; Jordan-Zachery, 2008).

The rhetoric of the culture of poverty is pernicious, as a history of incarceration creates risk of relapse (and overdose death) by limiting opportunities for employment, education, and housing when Black women and men leave carceral institutions because of multiple forms of jeopardy tied to race and gender (King, 1988). So, by centering negative images of Black women and men, positive effects from drug use are undermined as Black people use drugs to cope with racialized and gendered oppression in

American society. The decision to use drugs despite stigma and marginalization is not maladaptive but reflects enactment of agency as Black people cope with the cumulation of emotional and psychological pain from social disadvantage using the resources available to them (Chang, 2023; Dennis and Plenaar, 2023; Jauffret-Roustide, 2023; brown, 2019). This includes decisional choices balancing pleasure with risk since Black women and men articulate an identity separate from controlling images, and their manifestations at political levels, to decide how and when to use drugs (Rudzinski and Strike, 2020). Black Digital Life: Signifyin', Social Media, and Substance Use

Twitter (now called "X") provides a venue to examine the drug-related experiences of Black women and men because Black subscribers make up a unique subgroup through cultural identity and engagement. Approximately twenty-three percent of Black people use Twitter, indicating that the site is popular among Black people who use the internet (Pew, 2024). "Black Twitter" refers to the unbounded network of Black subscribers who interact with one another on the platform to form a counterpublic discussing content relevant to a Black cultural identity (Brock, 2020; Stephens, 2018; Brock, 2012; Fraser, 1990). I use counterpublic because discussions by Black Twitter subscribers range from the benign to significant, as hashtags (or "blacktags") are used to signify race when Black people talk to one other about pop culture, politics, media, activism, and everyday life, intentionally subverting negative media representations of Blackness (Florini, 2014; Sharma, 2013). As such, Black Twitter subscribers' conversations become diffuse, making their way to trending topics despite dense social networks where they are more likely than subscribers of other racial groups to follow and interact with people they know on the site (Manjoo, 2010). This means that topics relevant to Black identity are discussed by Black Twitter subscribers though they are subject to a White gaze (Hamilton, 2020). It is a for-us-by-us method of social engagement where Black subscribers allow others to peak through the veil only ever so slightly (so to speak; DuBois, 1903).

Across Black Twitter, Black women and Black queer subscribers resist dominant frames of misogynoir (racialized sexism against Black women), such as those of controlling images, with humor and incisive commentary (Peterson-Salahuddin, 2022; Bailey, 2021; Jackson et al., 2020). In kind, Black

Twitter subscribers use posts as a site of memory in commemoration to the oral traditions of Black peoples and slave narratives to talk about lived experiences, especially in relation to racialized and gendered oppression (Morrison, 1998).

Whereas digital social life is perceived to lack the kind of racial stratification of real-world settings by being race neutral, colorblind racism is imbued within the fabric of technological landscapes via material aspects of digital design (Cottom, 2020; Hamilton, 2020; Maddox, 2017). For instance, in Algorithms of Oppression, Noble (2018) explains how Google reproduces sexualized imagery of Black women even as White women and men stand in as a default chaste category in search results. Compounding this is the often race- and gender-neutral approach of computational research, which does not examine how sociodemographic characteristics influence distinctive patterns of interaction online (Cottom, 2020). Although some of this is manifest in the anonymity social network sites, like Twitter, provide, researchers have increasingly predicted sociodemographic characteristics through natural language processing techniques (Yang et al., 2023; Preotiuc-Pietro and Unger, 2018).

Returning to our conversation on drug use, social media research about drug-related behaviors is often presented from the perspective of a gender- and race-neutral subscriber whose racial categorization defaults to White. When race is considered, it is because blacktags like #BlackLivesMatter push the war on drugs to the fore to understand vicarious trauma and politicization of Black Twitter subscribers who witness legal interventions (murder by police officers; Hawkins, 2023; Hawkins, 2022; Taylor, 2016). Nevertheless, Black people who use drugs remain peripheral to these kinds of conversations even as their deaths become battle cries in the mattering of Black lives. The murders of George Floyd and Breonna Taylor are emblematic of this, as Floyd's history of drug use was used by police to justify his murder. Exofficer Thao's statement as Floyd was actively being killed by Derek Chauvin triangulates the war on drugs to policing and drug use, "This is why you don't do drugs, kids" (Karnowski, 2023).

While progress is being made to regard race and gender in social media research about drug behaviors, race and gender remain latent variables. For example, although Stevens et al. (2020) collected Twitter data from Black and White adolescents who used drugs, they only presented outcomes from a

non-racialized viewpoint. This kind of analysis is a necessary stepwise progression towards understanding how demographic characteristics (re: race and gender as fundamental causes) influence drug-related behaviors, but more research is needed to elucidate the effects of race and gender directly, especially since subgroups like Black Twitter interact and communicate with one another in unique ways online. Rai et al. (2023) highlight this as they showed racial distinctions in how Black and White Facebook subscribers talked about depression. Rai et al. found that current computational techniques do not readily account for racialized experiences through sentiment analysis and topic modeling, even when using posts by Black Facebook subscribers to predict depression among other Black people.

Summary of the Three Papers

My dissertation bridges the work of Al-Garadi et al. (2022) and Yang et al. (2023, 2021) by using thematic qualitative analysis and computational techniques (i.e., text analysis using natural language processing) to investigate the implication of controlling images and the war on drugs to worsening outcomes from nonmedical prescription opioid and stimulant use. Whereas Al-Garadi and Yang used natural language processing methods to classify subscribers by race, gender, and age to detect nonmedical prescription drug use (by gender), I augment their work by using text analysis to show how race and gender intersect to produce drug-related outcomes. I explain how Black women and men resist pejorative images through drug-related behaviors by finding pleasure in drug use despite adverse effects. I validate Rai et al.'s (2023) observations regarding the shortfall of computational techniques by clarifying how culture influences the ways Black people discuss topics like nonmedical prescription drug use on Twitter. Although my papers are exploratory in nature, they apply data-driven methods to center the perspective of Black women and men in retelling their experiences to inform future research to mitigate overdose among Black people who use drugs.

I explore nonmedical prescription drug use because of the mimicking effects of prescription medications on people who use illegalized drug products and the substitution of one for the other as drug use progresses overtime (Shearer et al., 2022). This is imperative since the dissemination of prescription opioids has expanded to Black people as patents have expired and newer (safer) versions are developed

and marketed to White people who use drugs (Herzberg et al., 2023). Black adults are gradually using prescription opioids in place of heroin (Jordan et al., 2021), which parallels rises in diagnosis and treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder with stimulant medications among Black people (Shi et al., 2021; Fairman et al., 2020; Oehrlein et al. 2016).

In paper one, I assess adverse outcomes from nonmedical prescription opioid use among Black men using inductive thematic analysis. I allowed themes to emerge through repetitive readings (of Twitter posts) while being sensitive to reasons for use, patterns of use, and side effects from use. In paper two, I explore the role the controlling image of the strong Black woman plays in nonmedical prescription stimulant use to cope with labor-related tasks among Black women. I use the transactional stress process model as an analytic frame to determine Black women's stress and coping processes. Lastly, in paper three, I use sentiment and text analysis to evaluate differences in discussions of nonmedical stimulant use by gender among Black women and men. I compare the emotion valence of tweets by gender and prominent topics in nonmedical prescription stimulant use because it is the most dominant form of nonmedical prescription drug use among Black Twitter subscribers in our repository.

The overarching aims of this dissertation are summated as follows:

Paper 1: Identify reasons, patterns, and side effects of nonmedical opioid use among Black men Twitter subscribers.

Paper 2: Using the transactional stress process model, examine how prescriptionstimulants are used by Black women to cope with labor-related stress.Paper 3: Evaluate the utility of natural language processing techniques to describeemotions and prominent topics of Black women and men's conversations aboutnonmedical prescription stimulant use.

All papers are co-authored and will be submitted to Drug and Alcohol Dependence and Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse. I am the primary author responsible for designing the studies, drafting reports, and conducting natural language processing and qualitative analyses. However, Dr. Cooper participated in the manual coding and qualitative analysis of sample tweets, and Dr. Sarker guided and supervised the computational analysis, providing the repository of nonmedical prescription drug use tweets from his lab.

References

- Al-Garadi, M.A., Yang, Y., Guo, Y., Kim, S., Love, J.S., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2022. Large-Scale Social Media Analysis Reveals Emotions Associated with Nonmedical Prescription Drug Use. Health Data Science 2022, 9859189.
- Alexander, M., 2010. The New Jim Crow: Mass Incarceration in the Age of Colorblindness. The New Press, New York.
- Althoff, K.N., Leifheit, K.M., Park, J.N., Chandran, A., Sherman, S.G., 2020. Opioid-related overdose mortality in the era of fentanyl: Monitoring a shifting epidemic by person, place, and time. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 216, 108321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108321</u>
- Bailey, M., 2021. Misogynoir Transformed: Black Women's Digital Resistance. NYU Press, New York, NY.
- Banks, D.E., Duello, A., Paschke, M.E., Grigsby, S.R., Winograd, R.P., 2023. Identifying drivers of increasing opioid overdose deaths among black individuals: a qualitative model drawing on experience of peers and community health workers. Harm Reduction Journal 20, 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-023-00734-9
- Beaubeouf-Lafontant, T., 2009. Behind the Mask of the Strong Black Woman: Voice and Embodiment of a Costly Performance. Temple University Press, Philadelphia, PA.
- Bernard, D.L., Calhoun, C.D., Banks, D.E., Halliday, C.A., Hughes-Halbert, C., Danielson, C.K., 2020.
 Making the "C-ACE" for a Culturally-Informed Adverse Childhood Experiences Framework to Understand the Pervasive Mental Health Impact of Racism on Black Youth. J Child Adolesc Trauma 14, 233–247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40653-020-00319-9</u>
- Bonilla-Silva, E., 2006. Racism without Racists: Color-Blind Racism and the Persistence of Racial Inequality. Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Washington, DC.
- Brock, A., 2012. From the Blackhand Side: Twitter as a Cultural Conversation. Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media 56(4), 529-549.
- Brock, A., 2020. Distributed Blackness: African American Cybercultures. NYU Press, New York.

brown, adrienne maree, 2019. Pleasure Activism: The Politics of Feeling Good. AK Press, Chico, CA.

- Chang, J., 2023. Narcofeminism: A feminist auto-ethnography on drugs. The Sociological Review 71, 760–779. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00380261231176893</u>
- Ciccarone, D., 2021. The rise of illicit fentanyls, stimulants and the fourth wave of the opioid overdose crisis. Current Opinion in Psychiatry 34(4), 344-350.
- Collins, P.H., 2000. Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment. Routledge, New York, NY.
- Collins, P.H., 2004. Black Sexual Politics: African Americans, Gender, and the New Racism. Routledge, New York, NY.
- Conrad, P., Barker, K.K., 2010. The social construction of illness: key insights and policy implications. Journal of Health and Social Behavior 51, S67-S79.
- Cooper, H.L.F., 2015. War on Drugs Policing and Police Brutality. Substance Use & Misuse 50(8– 9),1188–94. Doi: 10.3109/10826084.2015.1007669.
- Cottom, T.M., 2020. Where Platform Capitalism and Racial Capitalism Meet: The Sociology of Race and Racism in the Digital Society. Sociology of Race and Ethnicity 6, 441–449.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2332649220949473

- Craddock, J.B., Adams, V., Gladden, A., Netty, B., Ajenifuja, O., 2023. "Black Families Don't Talk About It": Young Black Women's Perceptions of Mental Health Communication in Black Communities. Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research 14, 633–652. https://doi.org/10.1086/716188
- Crenshaw, K., 1991. Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence Against Women of Color. Stanford Law Review 43(6), 1241-1299.
- Davis, A., 1983. Women, Race & Class. Vintage, New York, NY.
- Dennis, F., Pienaar, K., 2023. Refusing recovery, living a 'wayward life': A feminist analysis of women's drug use. The Sociological Review 71, 781–800. https://doi.org/10.1177/00380261231175729

- Donnelly, E.A., Wagner, J., Stenger, M., Cortina, H.G., O'Connell, D.J., Anderson, T.L., 2020. Opioids, Race, and Drug Enforcement: Exploring Local Relationships Between Neighborhood Contexts and Black-White Opioid-Related Possession Arrests. Criminal Justice Policy Review 00(0), 1-26.
- DuBois, W.E.B., 1899. The Philadelphia Negro: A Social Study and History of Pennsylvania's Black American Population; their Education, Environment, and Work. Pantianos Classics, New York, NY.
- DuBois, W.E.B., 1903. The Souls of Black Folk: Essays and Sketches. The Atlantic Monthly. Washington, D.C.
- Earp, B.D., Lewis, J., Hart, C.L., with Bioethicists and Allied Professionals for Drug Policy Reform,
 2021. Racial Justice Requires Ending the War on Drugs. The American Journal of Bioethics 21,
 4–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2020.1861364</u>
- Fairman, K.A., Peckham, A.M., Sclar, D.A., 2020. Diagnosis and Treatment of ADHD in the United States: Update by Gender and Race. J Atten Disord 24, 10–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054716688534</u>
- Finamore, A., 2022. Geeking and Freaking. California History 99, 59–80. https://doi.org/10.1525/ch.2022.99.2.59
- Florini, S., 2014. Tweets, Tweeps, and Signifyin': Communication and Cultural Performance on "Black Twitter." Television & New Media 15, 223–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1527476413480247</u>
- Fraser, N., Rethinking the Public Sphere: A Contribution to the Critique of Actually Exciting Democracy. Social Text 25/26, 56-80.
- Friedman, J.R., Hansen, H., 2022. Evaluation of Increases in Drug Overdose Mortality Rates in the US by Race and Ethnicity Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA Psychiatry 79, 379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.0004</u>
- Furr-Holden, D., Milam, A.J., Wang, L., Sadler, R., 2021. African Americans now outpace whites in opioid-involved overdose deaths: a comparison of temporal trends from 1999 to 2018. Addiction 116, 677–683. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15233</u>

Goffman, E., 1963. Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity. Touchstone, New York, NY.

- Gondré-Lewis, M.C., Abijo, T., Gondré-Lewis, T.A., 2022. The Opioid Epidemic: a Crisis Disproportionately Impacting Black Americans and Urban Communities. J. Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-022-01384-6
- Hamilton, A.M., 2020. A Genealogy of Critical Race and Digital Studies: Past, Present, and Future. Sociology of Race and Ethnicity 6, 292–301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2332649220922577</u>
- Hansen, H., Netherland, J., 2016. Is the prescription opioid epidemic a white problem? Am J Public Health 106, 2127–2128. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303479</u>
- Hargons, C.N., Miller-Roenigk, B.D., Malone, N.J., Mizelle, D.L., Atkinson, J.D., Stevens-Watkins, D.J., 2022. "Can we get a Black rehabilitation center"? Factors impacting the treatment experiences of Black people who use opioids. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment 142, 108805. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2022.108805
- Harp, K.L.H., Bunting, A.M., 2020. The Racialized Nature of Child Welfare Policies and the Social Control of Black Bodies. Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State & Society 27, 258–281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/sp/jxz039</u>
- Hart, C., 2021. Drug Use for Grown-Ups: Chasing Liberty in the Land of Fear. Penguin Books, England.
- Hawkins, D.S., 2022. "After Philando, I had to take a sick day to recover": Psychological distress, trauma and police brutality in the Black community. Health Communication 37(9), 1113-1122.
- Hawkins, D.S., 2023. "When you Search a #Hashtag, it Feels Like You're Searching for Death:" Black
 Twitter and Communication About Police Brutality Within the Black Community. Social Media +
 Society 9, 20563051231179705. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/20563051231179705</u>
- Herzberg, D, Hansen, H., Netherland, J., 2023. Whiteout: How Racial Capitalism Changed the Color of Opioids in America. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- hooks, b., 2004. We Real Cool: Black Men and Masculinity. Routledge, New York, NY.
- Illich, I., 2000 (1975). Medical Nemesis: The Limits of Medicine. Marian Boyars Publishers Limited, London, United Kingdom.

- Ingram, C., 2014. White people are more likely to deal drugs, but black people are more likely to be arrested for it. URL <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2014/09/30/white-people-are-more-likely-to-deal-drugs-but-black-people-are-more-likely-to-get-arrested-for-it/</u> (accessed March 2024)
- Jackson, J.S., Knight, K.M., Rafferty, J.A., 2010. Race and unhealthy behaviors: Chronic stress, the HPA axis, and physical and mental health disparities over the life course. American Journal of Public Health 100(5), 933-939. https://doi.org/10. 2105/AJPH.2008.143446
- Jackson, S.J., Bailey, M., Welles, B.F., 2020. #HashtagActivism: Networks of Race and Gender Justice. The MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Jauffret-Roustide, M., 2023. Pleasure, drugs, materiality and tensions in harm reduction in practice: The case of safer injection programmes. The Sociological Review 71, 903–921. https://doi.org/10.1177/00380261231176894
- Jemal, A., Gunn, A., Inyang, C., 2020. Transforming responses: Exploring the treatment of substanceusing African American women. Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse 19, 659–687. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2019.1579141</u>
- Jones, C.M., 2017. The paradox of decreasing nonmedical opioid analgesic use and increasing abuse or dependence — An assessment of demographic and substance use trends, United States, 2003– 2014. Addictive Behaviors 65, 229–235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.08.027</u>
- Jones, L.V., Hopson, L., Warner, L., Hardiman, E.R., James, T., 2015. A Qualitative Study of Black Women's Experiences in Drug Abuse and Mental Health Services. Affilia 30, 68–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109914531957
- Jones, A.A., Shearer, R.D., Segel, J.E., Santos-Lozada, A., Strong-Jones, S., Vest, N., Teixeira da Silva,
 D., Khatri, U.G., Winkelman, T.N.A., 2023. Opioid and stimulant attributed treatment admissions and fatal overdoses: Using national surveillance data to examine the intersection of race, sex, and polysubstance use, 1992–2020. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 249, 109946.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2023.109946

- Jordan, A., Mathis, M., Haeny, A., Funaro, M., Paltin, D., Ransome, Y., 2021. An Evaluation of Opioid Use in Black Communities: A Rapid Review of the Literature. Harv Rev Psychiatry 29, 108–130. https://doi.org/10.1097/HRP.00000000000285
- Jordan-Zachery, J.S., 2008. A Declaration of War: An Analysis of How the Invisibility of Black Women Makes Them Targets of the War on Drugs. Journal of Women, Politics & Policy 29, 231–259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15544770802118595</u>

Jordan-Zachery, J.S., 2009. Black Women, Cultural Images, and Social Policy. Routledge, New York, NY.

Karnowski, S., 2023. Ex-officer Thao convicted of aiding George Floyd's Killing. URL <u>https://apnews.com/article/george-floyd-minneapolis-officer-tou-thao-</u> <u>841814b3f2d4258b79f3ae408ba11fac</u> (accessed March 2024)

- Keister, L.A., Stecher, C., Aronson, B., McConnell, W., Hustedt, J., Moody, J.W., 2021. Provider Bias in prescribing opioid analgesics: a study of electronic medical Records at a Hospital Emergency Department. BMC Public Health 21, 1518.
- King, D.K., 1988. Multiple Jeopardy, Multiple Consciousness: The Context of a Black Feminist Ideology. Signs 14(1), 42-72.
- Lagisetty, P.A., Ryan, R., Bohnert, A., Clay, M., Mauset, D.T., 2019. Buprenorphine Treatment Divide by Race/Ethnicity Payment. JAMA Psychiatry 6(9), 979-981.
- Lillie-Blanton, M., Anthony, J.C., Schuster, C.R., 1993. Probing the meaning of the racial/ethnic group comparisons in crack cocaine smoking. JAMA 269(8), 993-997.
- Link, B.G., Phelan, J., 1995. Social conditions as fundamental causes of disease. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 80-94.
- Maddox, A., 2017. Beyond digital dualism: Modeling digital community. In: Daniels, J., Gregory, K., Cottom, T.M. (Eds.). Policy Press, Bristol, UK, pp. 9-26.
- Manjoo, F., 2010. How Black People Use Twitter. Slate. URL <u>https://slate.com/technology/2010/08/how-black-people-use-twitter.html</u> (accessed March 2024).

- McClellan, C., Lambdin, B.H., Ali, M.M., Mutter, R., Davis, C.S., Wheeler, E., Pemberton, M., Kral, A.H., 2018. Opioid-overdose laws association with opioid use and overdose mortality. Addictive Behaviors 86, 90–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.03.014
- Mencarini, M., Costello, D., Duvall, T., 2020. Louisville police's 'no-knock' warrants most often targeted Black residents, analysis shows. USA Today, December 1. URL

https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/2020/12/01/louisville-police-no-knock-warrants-mostlytargeted-black-residents/6456241002/ (accessed August 2022).

- Mingus, M., 2015. Medical Industrial Complex Visual. URL <u>https://leavingevidence.wordpress.com/2015/02/06/medical-industrial-complex-visual/</u> (accessed March 2024)
- Monazzam, N., Budd, K.M., 2023. Incarcerated Women and Girls. URL <u>https://www.sentencingproject.org/fact-sheet/incarcerated-women-and-girls/</u> (accessed March 2024)
- Morrison, T., 1998. The Site of Memory, in: Inventing the Truth: The Art and Craft of Memoir. Harper Perennial, New York, pp. 183–200.
- Nicholson, H.L., 2020. Socioeconomic status, fundamental cause theory, and prescription opioid use behaviors: a theoretical examination. Sociological Spectrum 40, 1–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02732173.2019.1707138</u>

Nicholson, H.L., 2023. Social determinants of opioid use behaviors among adults in the United States. Journal of Substance Use 28, 371–378. https://doi.org/10.1080/14659891.2022.2050317

- Nicholson, H.L., Ford, J.A., 2019. Sociodemographic, neighborhood, psychosocial, and substance use correlates of cocaine use among Black adults: Findings from a pooled analysis of national data. Addictive Behaviors 88, 182–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.08.042</u>
- Nicholson, H.L., Wheeler, P.B., Smith, N.C., Alawode, O.A., 2022. Examining the Relationship between Discrimination and Prescription Drug Misuse: Findings from a National Survey of Black

Americans. Substance Use & Misuse 57, 1014–1021.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2022.2052096

- Noble, S.U., 2018. Algorithms of Oppression: How Search Engines Reinforce Racism. NYU Press, New York, NY.
- Oehrlein, E.M., Burcu, M., Safer, D.J., Zito, J.M., 2016. National Trends in ADHD Diagnosis and Treatment: Comparison of Youth and Adult Office-Based Visits. PS 67, 964–969. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201500269</u>

Omi, M., Winant, H., 2014. Racial Formation in the United States. Routledge, New York, NY.

- Orenstein, W., Kaul, G., 2020. State data show Minnesota law enforcement agencies reported the most no-knock warrants, who they target and why. MinnPost, February 9. URL <u>https://www.minnpost.com/state-government/2022/02/state-data-shows-which-minnesota-lawenforcement-agencies-reported-the-most-no-knock-warrants-who-they-target-and-why/</u> (accessed April 2022).
- Pew Research Center, 2024. Social Media Fact Sheet. URL <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/social-media/?tabId=tab-673f63a2-da02-4836-96c6-c1d4e25c8a89</u> (accessed March 2024)
- Peterson-Salahuddin, C., 2022. Posting Back: Exploring Platformed Black Feminist Communities on Twitter and Instagram. Social Media + Society 8, 20563051211069051. https://doi.org/10.1177/20563051211069051
- Phelan, J.C., Link, B.G., 2015. Is Racism a Fundamental Cause of Inequalities in Health. Annual Review of Sociology 41, 311-330.
- Phelan, J.C., Link, B.G., Tehranifar, P., 2010. Social Conditions as Fundamental Causes of Health Inequalities: Theory, Evidence, and Policy Implications. Journal of Health and Social Behavior 51, S28-240.
- Poehlmann, J.R., Avery, G., Anthony, K.M., Broman, A.T., Godecker, A., Green, T.L., 2022. Racial disparities in post-operative pain experience and treatment following cesarean birth. The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine 35(26), 10305-10313.

Preoțiuc-Pietro, D., Ungar, L., 2018. User-Level Race and Ethnicity Predictors from Twitter Text 12.

- Provine, D., 2007. Unequal Under the Law: Race in the War on Drugs. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- Rai, S., Stade, E.C., Giorgi, S., Francisco, A., Ungar, L.H., Curtis, B., Guntuku, S.C., 2023. Key language markers of depression on social media depend on race (preprint). PsyArXiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/uvamz</u>
- Ramsey, D. X., 2023. When Crack Was King: A People's History of a Misunderstood Era. One World, London, United Kingdom.
- Roberts, D.E., 1992. Crime, Race, and Reproduction Symposium: On Criminal Law, Crimianl Justice, and Race. Tul. L. Rev. 67, 1945–1977.
- Rosenthal, E.W., Short, V.L., Cruz, Y., Barber, C., Baxter, J.K., Abatemarco, D.J., Roman, A.R., Hand, D.J., 2021. Racial inequity in methadone dose at delivery in pregnant women with opioid use disorder. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment 131, 108454.
- Rudzinski, K., Strike, C., 2020. Resilience in the Face of Victimization: A Bourdieusian Analysis of Dealing With Harms and Hurts Among Street-Involved Individuals Who Smoke Crack Cocaine. Contemporary Drug Problems 47, 3–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0091450920907425</u>
- Santoro, J.D., Santoro, T.N., 2018. Racial Bias in the US Opioid Epidemic: A Review of the History of Systemic Bias and Implications for Care. Cureus 10(12), e3733.
- Sharma, S., 2013. Black Twitter? Racial Hashtags, Networks and Contagion. New Formations 78, 46–64. https://doi.org/10.3898/NewF.78.02.2013
- Shearer, R.D., Jones, A., Howell, B.A., Segel, J.E., Winkelman, T.N.A., 2022. Associations between prescription and illicit stimulant and opioid use in the United States, 2015–2020. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment 143, 108894. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2022.108894</u>
- Shi, Y., Hunter Guevara, L.R., Dykhoff, H.J., Sangaralingham, L.R., Phelan, S., Zaccariello, M.J., Warner, D.O., 2021. Racial Disparities in Diagnosis of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder in a US

National Birth Cohort. JAMA Netw Open 4, e210321.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.0321

- Silverstein, S.M., Rivera, J., Gainer, D., Daniulaityte, R., 2023. "Things that you can't really suppress": Adverse childhood experiences in the narratives of people with opioid use disorder. Social Science & Medicine - Mental Health 3, 100185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmmh.2022.100185</u>
- Stephens, E.M., 2018. Making #BlackLivesMatter: A Social Media Ethnography of Cultural Trauma (Ph.D.). ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. George Mason University, United States -- Virginia.
- Stevens, R.C., Brawner, B.M., Kranzler, E., Giorgi, S., Lazarus, E., Abera, M., Huang, S., Ungar, L.,
 2020. Exploring Substance Use Tweets of Youth in the United States: Mixed Methods Study.
 JMIR Public Health Surveill 6, e16191. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/16191</u>
- Sypher, I., Pavlo, A., King, J., Youins, R., Shumake, A., Lopez, J., Haeny, A.M., 2023. What's race got to do with it? Factors contributing to self-change from cocaine use disorder among Black adults. Journal of Substance Use and Addiction Treatment, Racism, Racial Identity, and Substance Use 153, 208945. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.josat.2022.208945</u>
- Taylor, K., 2016. From #BlackLivesMatter to Black Liberation. Haymarket Books, Chicago, IL.
- Townsend, T., Kline, D., Rivera-Aguirre, A., Bunting, A.M., Mauro, P.M., Marshall, B.D.L., Martins,
 S.S., Cerdá, M., 2022. Racial/Ethnic and Geographic Trends in Combined Stimulant/Opioid
 Overdoses, 2007–2019. American Journal of Epidemiology 191, 599–612.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwab290
- Washington, H., 2008. Medical Apartheid: The Dark History of Medical Experimentation on Black Americans from Colonial Times to the Present. Vintage, New York, NY.
- Williams, D.R., Collins, C., 2001. Racial residential segregation: a fundamental cause of health disparities. Public Health Reports 116(5), 404-416.
- Windsor, L.C., Dunlap, E., Armour, M., 2012. Surviving Oppression under the Rock: The Intersection of New York's Drug, Welfare, and Educational Polices in the Lived Experiences of Low-Income

African Americans. Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse 11, 339–361.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2012.735176

- Wu, L.T., Zhu, H., Swartz, M.S., 2016. Treatment Utilization among Persons with Opioid Use Disorder in the United States. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 169, 117-127.
- Yang, Y.-C., Al-Garadi, M.A., Love, J.S., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2021. Automatic gender detection in Twitter profiles for health-related cohort studies. JAMIA Open 4, 00ab042. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jamiaopen/00ab042</u>
- Yang, Y.C., Al-Garadi, M.A., Love, J.S., Cooper, H.L.F., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2023. Can accurate demographic information about people who use prescription medications nonmedically be derived from Twitter? PNAS 120(8), e2207391120.
- Zola, I.K., 1972. Medicine as an institution of social control. American Sociological Review 20, 487-504.

Chapter 2: "A Dose of Percocet": How Black Men Twitter Subscribers Describe Experiences of Prescription Opioid Use

Abstract

Background: Black men who use prescription and other synthetic opioids are at increased risk of overdose death. However, the opioid epidemic has been framed as a problem facing White men. We explored how tweets from Black men Twitter subscribers can be used to explore nonmedical prescription opioid use. *Methods:* We collected tweets from March 6, 2018, to April 30, 2021, using keywords and machine learning classifiers. Tweets were aggregated at the subscriber level (n=49), and we conducted natural language processing and thematic analysis to assess reasons for and patterns of nonmedical prescription opioid use, and undesirable side effects.

Results: Coping with physical, emotional, and psychological pain was the most prominent reason for use. Black men discussed using prescription opioids to intentionally overdose. Patterns of use like co-use with other drugs and alcohol were common, along with using Twitter to connect with others to describe drugrelated experiences while under the influence and to form drug-using partnerships. Hip-hop lyrics describing drug use were quoted by Black men and provided a context for use by highlighting drug-use behaviors tied to sex.

Conclusions: Natural language processing techniques can be effective at informing qualitative methods of inquiry. Findings from this study indicate that social media holds promise for harm-reduction if intervention methods focus on Black men who use opioids by addressing their physical and emotional pain. Sites like Twitter can be used to create a safe space for Black men to discuss drug use with network members by using hip-hop to connect with others and to center drug use conversations through music.

Keywords

Natural language processing; nonmedical prescription drug use; opioids; overdose; race; thematic analysis; Twitter

Introduction

In 2020, the overdose death rate for Black Americans outpaced Whites for the first time since 1999 (Friedman & Hansen, 2022). Black people and Black men are at increased risk of opioid-involved deaths in comparison to their racialized and gendered counterparts (Han et al., 2022; Althoff et al., 2020), with many deaths attributable to prescription opioids, synthetic opioids like fentanyl, and heroin (CDC, 2022). For instance, a systematic review by Kyei and Leveille (2023) showed that Black men fifty-five and older experienced the highest increase in opioid overdose mortality in comparison to White men and women, and Black women across age cohorts. Further, Harris (2023) projects that by 2025 Black men 31 to 47 years and 48 years and over will continue to experience rises in opioid-related overdose deaths if post-Covid-19 trends continue unremitted.

While Black people use at a similar rate to Whites (Nicholson and Ford, 2018), Black men's drug-related experiences are understudied. Whereas current interventions target White men for treatment, Black men who use drugs are criminalized and incarcerated (Nicholson et al., 2022; Camplain et al., 2020; Mendoza et al., 2019; Cooper, 2015; Alexander, 2010). To give an example, medication to treat opioid use disorders like Vivitrol and buprenorphine (to control cravings and reduce positive drug experiences) and Good Samaritan laws (to eliminate penalization for contacting emergency services in the case of an overdose) have disproportionately accrued to the White middle-class because of geographic and structural access to primary care physicians, emergency medical care, and rehabilitation services irrespective of medical insurance coverage (Banks et al., 2023; Kariisa et al., 2022; Tierney et al., 2022; Earp et al., 2021; Drake et al., 2020; McCellan et al., 2018; Hansen and Netherland, 2016). When treatment is available Black people are less likely to utilize care and more likely to be undertreated or not treated for pain because of provider bias, neighborhood/community level inequality, stigma, and issues with access to prescription opioid analgesics at pharmacy and provider levels (Enzinger et al., 2023; Gondre-Lewis et al., 2022; Hargons et al., 2022; Jordan et al., 2021; Abbasi et al., 2020; Pro and Zaller, 2020; Buonora et al., 2019; Gaither et al., 2018; Phalen et al., 2018; Meghani et al., 2012; Staton et al., 2007).

Studies on the effectiveness of prescription monitoring programs in reducing consumption of high doses of opioids show that Black people are more likely to receive reduction or cessation of medications, though Whites are not affected by these practices (Townsend et al., 2022). Barriers such as these can be condensed into fundamental causes of disease (i.e., overdose death) due to poverty, racism, and residential segregation leading Black men to engage in polysubstance, prescription, and recreational drug use to cope with the cumulative effects of neighborhood disadvantage, financial insecurity, lack of social capital, and childhood trauma (Banks et al., 2023; Nicholson and Vincent, 2019; Anagnostopoulus et al., 2018; James and Jordan, 2018; Phelan and Link, 2015; Jackson et al., 2010; Phelan et al., 2010; Williams and Collins, 2001; Link and Phelan, 1995). More research is needed to determine how the personal experiences of Black men with access to prescription opioids contribute to use and overdose mortality given focus on White Americans as victims in the opioid epidemic.

Emphasis on treatment for Whites versus criminalization of use for Black men impedes strategies to address rising rates of overdose (Jordan et al., 2021; Marotta et al., 2019; Nicholson and Ford, 2018; Wu et al., 2016; Cooper, 2015; Alexander, 2010). We explored how Black men used Twitter (currently "X") to talk about nonmedical prescription opioid use (NMPOU) to determine reasons for and patterns of use, and unwanted side effects like unintentional overdose since Black men use the site to discuss topics linked to mental health and suicide (Francis, 2021; Francis and Finn, 2021). Twitter and 'Black Twitter' as a nomenclature refers to the collective of Black Twitter subscribers who use the site to talk about events, experiences, and cultural artifacts relevant to Black identity when displaying commonality between network members (Brock, 2020; Florini, 2014; Brock 2012). However, what makes Black Twitter subscribers distinct is that Black subscribers have smaller social networks on the platform and are more likely to follow people they know (Brock, 2020; Brock, 2012; Manjoo, 2010), which indicates that communication about stigmatizing topics, like opioid use, by Black Twitter subscribers likely occurs among those having interpersonal relationships on and off the site (Dekerseredy et al., 2021; Samuel, 2017).

Methods

Data and Collection

As a group, Black social media subscribers prefer Twitter to other platforms, like Reddit, which has also been used to study drug-related outcomes (Bunting et al., 2021; Kaufman et al., 2021; Conway et al., 2019; Wojcik and Hughes, 2019). However, little is known about how racialized groups discuss opioid use outcomes on these sites (Fodeh et al., 2021; Jain et al., 2020; Graves et al., 2018). This is significant given that the median age of Black Twitter subscribers parallels age-adjusted opioid-related overdose death of Black men, with Black people 18- to 29-years old and 30- to 49-years old holding the largest shares of Twitter use by age and race (Wojcik and Hughes, 2019; Smith, 2014). To our knowledge, Twitter has yet to be used to study outcomes specific to Black men. For instance, despite Yang et al. (2023, 2021) and Al-Garadi et al. (2021a, 2021b) demonstrating the viability of Twitter to investigate nonmedical prescription drug use through natural language processing (NLP) techniques, including identifying gender differences in sentiment and topics in drug-related discussions, not much is known about Black men who engage in nonmedical prescription opioids as a group. We used Twitter to assess this in greater detail.

We collected tweets on nonmedical prescription opioids, prescription benzodiazepines, and prescription central nervous system stimulants from March 6, 2018, to April 30, 2021, using NLP techniques (Yang et al., 2023; Al-Garadi et al., 2021b; Fodeh et al., 2021). Researchers used keyword and machine learning classifiers to automatically flag posts representing self-disclosed nonmedical use, detecting the distribution of gender identity, age-group, and race with high precision (positive predictive value; age = 0.88, gender = 0.94, race = 0.90; Yang et al. 2023; Yang et al., 2021). Nonmedical use was defined as any prescription medication use that diverged from medical providers' recommendations, including use of other people's medications or for reasons other than prescribed. From this data, we sampled subscribers who identified as Black, were gendered as men, and tweeted about NMPOU (n=862). We did not stratify by age because of the small sample number of Twitter subscribers who provide this information. Although, age as a descriptive characteristic validated the similarity between our
sample and demographic characteristics of Black men who use Twitter and are at increased risk of opioid overdose (Althoff et al., 2020).

Analytic Methods

Natural Language Processing Methodology

We used Python to apply NLP-based text preprocessing (stopword removal, stemming, and lemmatization) to reduce the vocabulary sizes and convert words to their canonical forms. Tweets for each subscriber were combined to represent their entire NMPOU timeline as a single body of text. Our overarching intent was to characterize the subscribers' chatter in terms of frequency of lexical expressions. We computed the number of tokens (words), including unique tokens to understand the language Black men used to describe opioid use and the ubiquity of tokens to examine cultural significance (if they were repeated across the sample of subscribers). The most frequent word n-grams (unigrams, bigrams, and trigrams) were collected for Black men (n-grams are units of consecutive word/token sequences across a body of text; Srinidhi, 2019). We present results for Twitter subscribers in our sample based on our larger summative sample and our qualitative subsample, reporting the ten most common unigrams, bigrams, and trigrams (figures 2-4).

Qualitative Coding

For qualitative data analyses, we selected all Black men Twitter subscribers who had a minimum of three tweets to capture as much information as possible given Twitter's 280-character limit per tweet during the time of tweet collection (n=49; Twitter N.d.). Pre-defined codes were used to capture attribution of causes, addiction, overdose, and pain management using the framework of Jain et al. (2020). Jain et al. (2020) examined factors associated with Twitter subscribers' sharing content about opioid use. We began with these codes because they demonstrate the implication of structural racism Black men experience in access to prescription opioids (i.e., decreased access due to medical discrimination and residential segregation; SAMHSA, 2020). To supplement these methods and provide contextual information relevant to Black Twitter subscribers, we engaged in iterative inductive analysis of tweets to pinpoint other dominant codes and emergent themes. NLP analyses were used to validate dominant themes from qualitative results (Esposito and Evans-Winter, 2021).

Two-coders (JW and HC) reviewed tweets to identify topics. After independently evaluating tweets and identifying common patterns, the coders selected every 10th Twitter subscriber to confirm a similar application of the coding framework. Following this, JW coded the remaining data. Multiple labels for each tweet were permitted to guarantee that the breadth of tweet content was captured. The final code list was truncated to determine themes relevant to reasons for use, drug behavior patterns, unwanted side effects of drug use including overdose, and hip-hop music (figure 1 and table 1). Hip-hop music was the most frequently occurring theme in our sample and was identified by searching Genius.com and Google using tweet text as keywords. We did this because the most frequent n-grams reflected popular hip-hop songs coinciding with song titles or lyrics listed by BMUO. As such hip-hop aided us in contextualizing major themes in relation to cultural artifacts significant to Black Twitter subscribers. We provided parenthetical and indirect quotes to increase anonymity of our sample and reduce the likelihood of surveillance because of the sensitivity of topics discussed. As such tweets reflect relevant themes without providing verbatim content.

[Figure 1 goes here]

Results

Our NLP and qualitative samples included 1,102 and 192 tweets, respectively, from Black men who engaged in nonmedical prescription opioid use. The average age of the sample was 31 years (NLP = 30.561, qualitative=28.429). Subscribers posted between 1 to 10 tweets about NMPOU. Overall, each Black man who used opioids (BMUO) listed between one to five medications across tweets. Percocet followed by morphine and Tramadol were the most frequently mentioned prescription opioids in the NLP sample, whereas Percocet, Tramadol, and Percocet and Vicodin were more likely to be named in the qualitative group. There was a minimum of a three-fold difference between the frequency of mentions between Percocet and other medications by each sample group (in favor of Percocet). N-gram distributions matched pipeline results for the two-most listed opioid analgesics in both samples, figure 2.

However, unlike the NLP sample BMUO in the qualitative subsample listed more medications per subscriber (NLP=1.056 medications and qualitative=1.429), which may indicate that those who tweet more about opioid use consume a greater variety of prescription opioids.

[Table 1 goes here]

[Figures 2-4 go here]

Reasons for Use: Coping, Recreational Use, and Suicidal Ideation

BMUO talked about opioid use to cope with emotions, pain, and distress with the remainder describing NMPOU for recreational purposes like to celebrate an event, create a particular mental state like getting in "mode", or simply because they had been offered them. When discussing opioid use to cope BMUO mentioned using opioids to deal with unwanted feelings related to mental health. They described using Percocet or Tramadol to manage feelings associated with anxiety, suicidal ideation, or being mentally unwell. A BMUO whose wife passed from long-term nonmedical opioid use stated,

"For some, Tramadol makes them sleepy and sick. For me? I can put work in, I get that upper high. [I take it so] on [...]'s birthday, I won't be all in my head ... I'll be super charged ..."

Opioid use allowed subscribers to alleviate negative emotions like anxiety so they could function.

Rather than the temporariness that can come with opioid use, some BMUO sought permanent relief from negative emotions through suicide. A subscriber tweeted,

"Never had the life my boys had Slept inside the church next to grandad Feeling d*mn good doing d*mn bad But could you teach me how to overdose I don't want to die..."

Feeling good while doing bad reflects the positive effects received from opioids while recognizing the salience of negative events triggering use; overdose becomes a pathway for BMUO to escape a life where troubles and painful feelings are abundant.

"I've been on some bullsh** the last 2 ½ weeks. I've been getting drunk every day. I stay up all night I sleep until it's time to go to work [and] I've been eating the worst foods. Last Sunday, I found myself drinking lean and poppin Percs. [I] don't know who I am ... Last summer when that Kanye came out, I heard Ghost Town and thought that's the perfect song to die to. I bought 11 Percs from [...] on payday, and went home and popped all 11."

Two BMUO linked opioid use with coping with grief, life experiences, and emotions. They perceived suicide through overdose to attain permanent escape from their suffering. These kinds of admissions along with naming hip-hop songs or using lyrical expressions reveals how important hip-hop music is to Black men's voicing personal experiences and emotions. Hip-hop references were among the top 10 bigrams and trigrams in both samples showing coherence between them (e.g., pop_percocet; dose_percocet; percocet_pill; percocet_want_one; go_night_percocet; figures 3 and 4). In terms of "Ghost Town", the sentiments, and themes in the lyrics match those conveyed by BMUO to cope wherein the artists rapped about death via overdose, overwhelm from trying to keep up with what was happening in their lives, and fentanyl use.

Opioid Use Patterns: The Relevance of Source and Social Interactions

In terms of opioid-use patterns, BMUO talked about sources, social interactions, and co-use as part of their drug using routines. Although co-use was a pattern of use, we discuss it in more detail in the next section due to its intersection with undesirable side effects.

The most prevalent opioid analgesic listed by those discussing sources was Tramadol – the third most common medication in our NLP analysis, and second most in our qualitative subsample. BMUO talked about buying or obtaining opioids like Tramadol from family members, friends, coworkers, "plugs," and via online sources. "Plug" was a colloquial term used to describe a person(s) from whom drugs are purchased or obtained. For example, one man said,

"I get grams for free from the plug and family. Quality hydro syrup, promethazine, oxy, Vicodin, xans, and edibles."

"[Friend] was a bad influence. Ni**a met me drinking beer and volunteered to open 2 Tram in my drink. [crying laughing emoji]"

While another wrote about securing Tramadol through online sources:

"Having an early 2000 kind of night. I'm ordering weed and Trammies online..." Twitter subscribers engaged in social interactions online to disclose sources for drugs and to obtain them. To this extent the relationship between social networks/interactions was critical to sources for drugs, demonstrating how personal networks, on and off Twitter, were used to access opioids. BMUO would *"@"* network members (including another subscriber in tweet messages) or make general appeals to solicit drugs on Twitter (*"@subscriber Trammies...you got more?"; "who can get some percs?"*). In cases when the subscriber already had access to drugs, Twitter was used to facilitate drug-using partnerships. For instance, subscribers often tweeted,

"Percocet, you want one? @subscriber"

The phrase "Percocet, you want one?" gained popularity after rapper Lil Gotit stopped to ask an interviewer if they would like a Percocet because he was craving one (VladTV, 2019). Twitter subscribers referenced it when @ing one another, enabling drug-using partnerships and bridging the relationship between sources, social interactions, and hip-hop, as the same subscribers were likely to list or quote hip hop songs in their tweets. By invoking hip-hop songs with drug references, Black men were able to normalize drug use when interacting with network members on Twitter, generally, and when inviting them to use, specifically. Twitter facilitated social integration among BMUO by allowing them to share stories about sources with one other and inviting others to use with them.

Unwanted Side Effects: Sleepiness, Sexual Dysfunction, and Addiction

BMUO disclosed negative short-term physical outcomes and long-term ones like addiction from opioid use. They talked about feeling "too high" or overdoing it; experiencing sexual dysfunction; and overdose. Turning first to being "too high", a BMUO noted how using Tramadol to treat pain led to feeling "loaded" with sensations moving beyond relief to overwhelm. Unanticipated effects like these occurred when taking larger than anticipated dosage using a single medication. Other unintended effects included sleepiness. Although this occurred in various environments, one person discussed this normative expectation and compared it to his own (i.e., unlike others who became sleepy he felt energized). While another said,

"I don't know why I took that perc before work. SMH got my a** sleepy as hell."

Even though the subscriber does not clarify why he used prior to work, an examination of his tweets indicated that opioid use often coincided with work activities. It became clear that BMUO were not using opioids to fall asleep or stay asleep. Instead, they were using prescription opioids for other purposes, and sleepiness was an unwanted outcome.

When disclosing sexual dysfunction, BMUO named erectile dysfunction as unwelcomed. One subscriber said,

"One of my friends told me he took 100mg of Tram when he was expecting a babe. He's a doc. He liked the erection he got and decided to top it with another 100 before the girl shows up. D*** went flaccid."

Likewise, another reported an inability to ejaculate as displeasing:

"Nope. I popped a Perc. Ain't no nutting that day."

Sexual side effects were an unexpected albeit tolerated part of NMPOU, and subscribers used hip-hop to situate their expectations related to sex.

To explore the implication of opioid use in sexual dysfunction, we examined the link between sex behaviors and invocations of hip-hop when codes overlapped or occurred in proximity to one another. We learned that BMUO tweeted about NMPOU when discussing masturbation or having sex with others, referencing lyrics with similar themes. For instance, a BMUO tweeted,

"Drug sex. I throw back a Percocet n go to work [devil emoji]"

The subscriber described consuming Percocet during sex as "drug sex", and the endurance it provided him as being able to put in "work" (energy and time). "Drug sex" is a nod to the song "Home Body" by Lil Durk where he talks about taking Percocet and Xanax during intercourse. Another subscriber engaged in similar behaviors, using the cadence and themes of hip-hop to discuss opioid use and sex. He said,

"I pop Percs like it ain't nothing, then I f*** her from night until morning."

In this way, subscribers used lyrics from hip-hop songs to express expectations of increased endurance and pleasure when consuming drugs during sexual activities. The perception that opioids would permit BMUO to have sex for extended periods coincided with BMUO tweets and Lil Keed's lyrics about "going all night" on Percocet pills. The song "Nameless" by Lil Keed was among the top ten bigrams and trigrams in NLP and qualitative samples (figures 2-4). Songs like these intimate positive sexual effects tied to opioid use without acknowledging side effects like sexual dysfunction.

Beyond sleep and sexual dysfunction, BMUO divulged incidents of overdose because of use, with more men describing unintentional rather than intentional overdose. While we examined intentional overdose to escape in the first section, we delve into unintentional overdose here. Whereas instances of overdose with a single medication occurred during suicide attempts (intentional overdose), BMUO talked about unintentional overdoses in relation to co-use (using more than one medication, drug, or alcohol during a drug using event). Prescription opioids associated with overdose of BMUO included oxycodone, Percocet, and Tramadol along with ecstasy, alcohol, or marijuana. BMUO attempted to assuage concerns of network members about the potential to overdose despite naming it as a possibility ("… *chilled Pepsi, 300mg of Tram, and top it off with marijuana. It's ok. I won't die*"). Furthermore, tweets about overdose co-occurred with disclosures of struggles with addiction.

Approximately one in five subscribers implicitly or explicitly revealed they were addicted to opioids. Time was central to these admissions and was conveyed in terms of dependence on drugs and subsequent discussions about overdose. A BMUO tweeted,

"I was taking Perc in high school. While you were struggling to read out loud, I was sitting there off 2 ER Oxy 80s reading. Weird flex, but I'm tellin you, stop doing Perc. They gonna stop working & you gonna need heroin." For these men, opioid use appeared to progress from recreational use to dependence, with withdrawal; cooccurring addiction; poly-substance use; and poor health listed as adverse outcomes.

"My wife didn't have a chance. She was on methadone after having our baby. Having multiple surgeries after his birth. On top of years of abusing narcotics because of a foot injury back in [...]. Her body just gave up."

To this extent, addiction was portrayed as adversarial, something subscribers were in battle with for their life and autonomy.

"The word in church was the solution god has for you may not be the one you were looking for. Some of us pray for our drug addiction and end up with jail time so we can sit down and fight it. I been trying to fight these percs for years."

The kind of anguish displayed in tweets led this Twitter subscriber and others to engage in healthcare seeking behaviors.

"In other news. They gave me nasal sprays that will reverse the complications of an overdose in the event of a relapse. If you know someone battling opioids like Perc, I get them free of charge. Let me know! It could save a life if they overdose."

The subscriber was the only BMUO in our subsample to talk about life-saving interventions like Narcan to reverse overdose.

Discussion

In this study we used natural language processing and thematic analysis to assess factors associated with nonmedical prescription opioid use among Black men Twitter subscribers. We learned that Black men used opioids to cope with pain, physical or emotional, and used multiple doses of a single medication when attempting to commit suicide, and co-used prescription opioids with other drugs or alcohol in the case of unintentional overdoses. Patterns of use involved using Twitter to connect to sources for medications, and to engage with other subscribers on and off the site to facilitate drug-using partnerships. Black men used hip-hop to foster these connections. Signifyin' is a communication tool used by Black social media subscribers to demonstrate race without explicitly naming it through cultural artifacts and communication patterns (Brock, 2020; Florini, 2014). Hip-hop served this purpose for Black men by signifyin' race while talking about drug use (Peteet et al. 2021; Herd, 2008). This is not surprising as hip-hop evolved in the 1970s and was used by Black Americans to decry the effects of poverty, lack of access to employment, and drug use in metropolitan areas (Benvenga, 2022; Harlow and Benbrook, 2019; Speer, 2014; Assante, 2008; Clay, 2003). Hip-hop then [and now] was used to create a safe space to discuss drug use behaviors, like drug use during sex, by presenting drug use as normative and centering a Black-masculine identity. For example, when BMUO talked about sex and drug use, they used hip-hop lyrics about endurance to display provess and bravado without posing health concerns like sexual dysfunction, assault, or transmission of sexually transmitted infections as risks of having sex under the influence of opioids (Griffin et al., 2020; Tettey et al., 2020; Smiley, 2017). As such, BMUO tied sex to their self-esteem (hooks, 2004).

BMUO used hip-hop as a form of self-expression and leaned into normative images of their racialized and gendered identities predicated on self-assurance through sex to connect with others. However, focusing on sexuality in hip-hop music can miss an important facet of how Black men used hip-hop to discuss other topics in tweets about opioid use. For instance, beyond sexual behaviors, BMUO used hip-hop to disclose personal struggles, including those connected to mental health. BMUO divulged instances of emotional pain and suicidal ideation wherein drug use helped them to cope. The prevalence of using drug use to manage emotions and stress have been validated by work documenting the utility of drugs by Black people to cope with stress to decrease symptoms of depression (Jackson et al., 2010; Mouzon, 2022), as Black people with a history of major depression are likely to engage in NMPOU (Nicholson and Wheeler, 2021).

Though suicide is a highly effective way to end suffering, it also creates other problems. BMUO talked about suicide and overdose as a means of escape. This is significant since Black people are dying by suicide at rising rates (Cofield, 2023; Stone et al., 2023; Tate, 2023; HHS, n.d.), including those with higher levels of educational attainment (Assari et al., 2019) and a history of overdose and depression

(Brown et al. 2021). BMUO sharing intent to commit suicide on Twitter parallels conversations about Black mental health online, as members of the hip-hop community like rappers Kid Cudi and Logic shared struggles with depression leading to trending hashtags (Francis 2021; Niederkrotenthaler et al., 2021). Kid Cudi's admission he would seek rehabilitation for depression and suicidal ideation led to Black men with similar concerns using #YouGoodMan to create a space for support. Like this, social relationships were central to social integration of BMUO Twitter subscribers, as BMUO used Twitter to reduce stigma of drug use and mental health.

The social relationships BMUO cultivated on Twitter seemed to move from online when soliciting drugs from network members to in-person when inviting others to use with them. Although sharing information was not limited to drug-using partnerships, as some men in our sample used Twitter to decry how opioid use could progress to addiction and forms of institutionalization like jail. This indicates that Twitter can be harnessed by network members to connect BMUO to resources related to drug use behaviors like addiction through diffusion of health information. Twitter has the potential for social marketing mental health care for those contemplating suicide (Torgerson et al., 2021) or emergency medications to treat overdose like Narcan in the case of an overdose. Hip-hop would likely be a preferable mechanism to facilitate these kinds of conversations since BMUO used it to express their thoughts and feelings. Nevertheless, the infrequency with which healthcare was mentioned as a source of prescription opioids by BMUO is unsurprising and signals decreased access to prescription opioids from medical providers. While BMUO received drugs from online sources, family members, and friends, this is not distinct to Black men, as other racial groups use personal networks or plugs to engage in nonprescription opioid use (Graves et al., 2018; McCabe et al., 2018; Jones et al., 2014).

Limitations

Though machine learning algorithms allowed us to classify a large swath of data by age, gender, and race, misclassification of some Twitter subscribers was likely despite high predictive accuracy. Limiting gender identity to men and using binary methods impeded our ability to assess drug use patterns among Black women, Black trans, and non-binary people. Opioid use patterns likely differ for these

groups due to the role of medical discrimination and the influence of stigma on drug-using behaviors and access to care (Paschen-Wolff et al., 2023). Furthermore, while our sample was not limited by source of drugs, meaning men who obtain opioid analgesics from unregulated illicit markets, it was restricted to those who had access to prescription opioids or were able to obtain them from plugs or network members. Whereas only one BMUO in our sample drew a direct connection between drug use and carcerality, this is not a common aspect of the Black experience because of the racialized and gendered attributes of the War on Drugs and policing that affects Black men (Mendoza et al., 2019; Cooper, 2015; Alexander, 2010).

The discrepancy in conversations pertaining to racial discrimination and carcerality in relation to NMPOU represents how the sociodemographic characteristics of Black Twitter subscribers (higher educational attainment and income) coupled with use of prescription opioids rather than illegalized drugs buffers them from negative interactions with police even while being less likely to receive prescription medication from medical providers. NMPOU may reduce frequency of police contact through access to drugs from loved ones or White drug dealers who are less likely to be surveilled and have greater access to providers and pharmacies supplying prescription medications (Jacques, 2017; Jacques and Wright, 2015). Special attention should be paid to incarcerated or formerly incarcerated Black people, and unhoused populations because of potential discordance in criminalization of drug use among higher-income Black populations. Future research should include these populations and those who engage in opioid use more broadly, including those who primarily use heroin and/or synthetic opioids independently and in combination with other drugs.

Conclusion

We hope this study honored the voices of Black men Twitter subscribers in expressing thoughts, feelings, and experiences related to opioid use. *We did not interpret drug use as maladaptive* but interpreted themes related to nonmedical opioid use behaviors within the context of reducing adverse drug events (e.g., multiple drug use in single drug-using event and overdose) since most people who engage in NMPOU do not develop problem drug use (Hart, 2021). In keeping with this, the oral history traditions of Black people were used by Black men Twitter subscribers as a form of discursive expression and

collective identity through signifyin' and hip-hop to make natural language processing possible (Boyd and Ellison, 2007).

The demographic characteristics of our sample and n-gram distributions from NLP analysis validated our race-based and NMPOU predictive pipelines, showcasing the importance of cultural artifacts like hip-hop in inferring subscriber race from tweets and understanding demographic differences in drug-related behaviors. Our analyses highlight the utility of drugs in coping with unpleasant emotions and events and need for greater attention to the emotional wellbeing of Black men given high rates of undertreatment of Black people's pain (physical and mental) and the correlation of mood disorders and somatic pain (Bailey et al., 2019; Wheeler et al., 2019; Trivedi, 2004). As such, opioid use was not always problematic since Black men experienced pleasure tied to opioid use in the form of recreation and connection with others, pain reduction, and positive emotions. Opioid use was an adaptive way to experience autonomy, self-governance, and pleasure, which is significant when we consider the criminalization of Black men, particularly those who use illegalized drugs (Dennis et al., 2023; Hart, 2021; Brock, 2020). More research is needed to understand the positive effects of nonmedical opioid use and when the threshold of use moves beyond this to unpleasant outcomes to reduce stigmatization and direct care for addiction, suicidal ideation, and opioid-related drug problems. Intervention efforts should incorporate hip-hop and target network members to increase knowledge of and accessibility to mental health and addiction treatment, and overdose prevention like Narcan to stop fatal overdose (Wallace, 2023; Kunins, 2020; Levy, 2020; Wright, 2019; Frank et al., 2018).

References

- Abbasi, A.B., Salisbury-Afshar, E., Berberet, C., Layden, J., Pho, M.T., 2020. Opioid Prescribing Patterns Prior to Fatal Opioid Overdose. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 58(2), 250-253.
- Al-Garadi, M.A., Yang, Y.-C., Guo, Y., Kim, S., Love, J.S., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2021a. Large-scale social media language analysis reveals emotions and behaviours associated with nonmedical prescription drug use. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.09.20.21263856</u>
- Al-Garadi, M.A., Yang, Y.-C., Cai, H., Ruan, Y., O'Connor, K., Graciela, G.-H., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2021b. Text classification models for the automatic detection of nonmedical prescription medication use from social media. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 21, 27.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-021-01394-0
- Alexander, M., 2010. The New Jim Crow: Mass Incarceration in the Age of Colorblindness. The New Press, New York.
- Althoff, K.N., Leifheit, K.M., Park, J.N., Chandran, A., Sherman, S.G., 2020. Opioid-related overdose mortality in the era of fentanyl: Monitoring a shifting epidemic by person, place, and time. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 216, 108321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108321</u>
- Anagnostopoulos, A., Abraham, A.G., Genberg, B.L., Kirk, G.D., Mehta, S.H., 2018. Prescription drug use and misuse in a cohort of people who inject drugs (PWID) in Baltimore. Addictive Behaviors 81, 39–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.01.024</u>
- Assante, M.K., 2008. It's Bigger Than Hip-Hop: The Rise Of The Post-Hip-Hop Generation. St. Martin's Press, New York.
- Assari, S., Schatten, H.T., Arias, S.A., Miller, I.W., Camargo, C.A., Boudreaux, E.D., 2019. Higher
 Educational Attainment is Associated with Lower Risk of a Future Suicide Attempt Among NonHispanic Whites but not Non-Hispanic Blacks. J. Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities 6, 1001–
 1010. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-019-00601-z
- Bailey, R., Mokonogho, J., Kumar, A., 2019. Racial and ethnic differences in depression: current perspectives. NDT Volume 15, 603–609. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S128584</u>

- Banks, D.E., Duello, A., Paschke, M.E., Grigsby, S.R., Winograd, R.P., 2023. Identifying drivers of increasing opioid overdose deaths among black individuals: a qualitative model drawing on experience of peers and community health workers. Harm Reduction Journal 20, 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-023-00734-9
- Benvenga, L., 2022. Hip-hop, identity, and conflict: Practices and transformations of a metropolitan culture. Frontiers in Sociology 7.
- Boyd, D.M., Ellison, N.B., 2007. Social Networks: Definition, History, and Scholarship. Journal of Computer Mediated Communication 13(1), 210-230.
- Brock, A., 2012. From the Blackhand Side: Twitter as a Cultural Conversation. Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media 56(4), 529-549.
- Brock, A., 2020. Distributed Blackness: African American Cybercultures. NYU Press, New York.
- Brown, L.A., Denis, C.M., Leon, A., Blank, M.B., Douglas, S.D., Morales, K.H., Crits-Christoph, P.F., Metzger, D.S., Evans, D.L., 2021. Number of opioid overdoses and depression as a predictor of suicidal thoughts. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 224, 108728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108728
- Bunting, A.M., Frank, D., Arshonsky, J., Bragg, M.A., Friedman, S.R., Krawczyk, N., 2021. Sociallysupportive norms and mutual aid of people who use opioids: An analysis of Reddit during the initial COVID-19 pandemic. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 222, 108672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108672
- Buonora, M., Perez, H.R., Heo, M., Cunningham, C.O., Starrels, J.L., 2019. Race and Gender Are Associated with Opioid Dose Reduction Among Patients on Chronic Opioid Therapy. Pain Medicine 20(8), 1519-1527.
- Camplain, R., Camplain, C., Trotter II, R.T., Pro, G., Sabo, S., Eaves, E., Peoples, M., Baldwin, J.E.,
 2020. Racial/Ethnic Differences in Drug- and Alcohol-Related Arrest Outcomes in a Southwest
 County From 2009 to 2018. American Public Health Association 110, S85–S92.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2019.305409

CDC (Center for Disease Control and Prevention), 2022. Overdose death rates increased significantly for Black, American Indian/Alaska Native people in 2020. URL

https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2022/s0719-overdose-rates-vs.html (accessed March 2022).

- Clay, A., 2003. Keepin' It Real: Black Youth, Hip-Hop Culture, and Black Identity. American Behavioral Scientist 46(10), 1346–58. Doi: 10.1177/0002764203046010005.
- Cofield, D., 2023. "Is it Okay Not to be Okay?": A Critical Literature Review of Barriers to Mental Health Treatment for Black Men. Journal of Black Studies. https://doi.org/10.1177/00219347231200885
- Conway, M., Hu, M. Chapman, W.M., 2019. Recent Advances in Natural Language Processing to Address Public Health Research Questions Using Social Media and Consumer-Generated Data. IMIA Yearbook of Medical Informatics 28(1), 208-217.
- Cooper, H.L.F., 2015. War on Drugs Policing and Police Brutality. Substance Use & Misuse 50(8– 9),1188–94. Doi: 10.3109/10826084.2015.1007669.
- Dekeseredy, P., Sedney, C.L., Razzaq, B., Haggerty, T., Brownstein, H.H., 2021. Tweeting Stigma: An Exploration of Twitter Discourse Regarding Medications Used for Both Opioid Use Disorder and Chronic Pain. Journal of Drug Issues 51, 340–357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022042620986508</u>
- Dennis, F., Pienaar, K., Rosengarten, M., 2023. Narcofeminism and its multiples: From activism to everyday minoritarian worldbuilding. The Sociological Review 71, 723–740. https://doi.org/10.1177/00380261231174962
- Drake, J., Charles, C., Bourgeois, J.W., Daniel, E.S., Kwende, M., 2020. Exploring the Impact of the Opioid Epidemic in Black and Hispanic Communities in the United States. Drug Science, Policy and Law 6, 2050324520940428. Doi: <u>10.1177/2050324520940428</u>.
- Earp, B.D., Lewis, J., Hart, C.L., with Bioethicists and Allied Professionals for Drug Policy Reform,
 2021. Racial Justice Requires Ending the War on Drugs. The American Journal of Bioethics 21,
 4–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2020.1861364</u>

- Enzinger, A.C., Ghosh, K., Keating, N.L., Cutler, D.M., Clark, C.R., Florez, N., Landrum, M.B., Wright,
 A.A., 2023. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Opioid Access and Urine Drug Screening Among
 Older Patients with Poor-Prognosis Cancer Near the End of Life. Journal of Clinical Oncology
 41(14): 2511-2522.
- Esposito, J., Evans-Winter, V.E., 2021. Introduction to Intersectional Qualitative Research. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Florini, S., 2014. Tweets, Tweeps, and Signifyin': Communication and Cultural Performance on "Black Twitter." Television & New Media 15, 223–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1527476413480247</u>
- Fodeh, S.J., Al-Garadi, M., Elsankary, O., Perrone, J., Becker, W., Sarker, A., 2021. Utilizing a multi-class classification approach to detect therapeutic and recreational misuse of opioids on Twitter. Comput Biol Med 129, 104132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compbiomed.2020.104132
- Francis, D.B., 2021. "Twitter is Really Therapeutic at Times": Examination of Black Men's Twitter Conversations Following Hip-Hop Artist Kid Cudi's Depression Disclosure. Health Communication 36, 448–456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2019.1700436</u>
- Francis, D.B., Finn, L., 2021. A Theoretically Based Analysis of Twitter Conversations about Trauma and Mental Health: Examining Responses to Storylines on the Television Show *Queen Sugar*. Health Communication 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2021.1888454</u>
- Frank, J.W., Fox, A.D., Chatterjee, A., Goede, D., Gordon, A.J., Starrels, J., 2018. Harm Reduction and the Drug Overdose Crisis: Evidence and Advocacy Opportunities. SGIM Forum 41(9), 1-3.
- Friedman, J.R., Hansen, H., 2022. Evaluation of increases in drug overdose mortality rates in the U.S. by race and ethnicity before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA Psychiatry, 79(4), 379-381.
- Gaither, J.R., Kirsha, G., Stephen, C., Edelman, J.E., Kerns, R.D., Justice, A.C., Fiellin, D.A., Becker,
 W.C., 2018. Racial disparities in discontinuation of long-term opioid therapy following illicit
 drug use among black and white patients. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 192, 371-376.

- Gondré-Lewis, M.C., Abijo, T., Gondré-Lewis, T.A., 2022. The Opioid Epidemic: a Crisis Disproportionately Impacting Black Americans and Urban Communities. J. Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-022-01384-6</u>
- Graves, R.L., Tufts, C., Meisel, Z.F., Polsky, D., Ungar, L., Merchant, R.M., 2018. Opioid Discussion in the Twittersphere. Substance Use & Misuse 53, 2132–2139.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2018.1458319

- Griffin, M., Link to external site, this link will open in a new window, Fournet, A., Link to external site, this link will open in a new window, 2020. F**k B*tches Raw on the Kitchen Floor: A Feminist Examination of Condom Messages in Hip Hop and Rap Music, 1991–2017. Sexuality & Culture 24, 291–304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12119-019-09638-y</u>
- Han, B., Einstein, E.B., Jones, C.M., Cotto, J., Compton, W.M., Volkow, N.D., 2022. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Drug Overdose Deaths in the US During the COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA Netw Open 5, e2232314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.32314</u>
- Hansen, H., Netherland, J., 2016. Is the prescription opioid epidemic a white problem? Am J Public Health 106, 2127–2128. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303479</u>
- Hargons, C.N., Miller-Roenigk, B.D., Malone, N.J., Mizelle, D.L., Atkinson, J.D., Stevens-Watkins, D.J., 2022. "Can we get a Black rehabilitation center"? Factors impacting the treatment experiences of Black people who use opioids. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment 142, 108805. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2022.108805
- Harlow, S., Benbrook, A., 2019. How #Blacklivesmatter: exploring the role of hip-hop celebrities in constructing racial identity on Black Twitter. Information, Communication & Society 22, 352–368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2017.1386705</u>
- Harris, R.A., 2023. Drug Overdose Deaths Among Non-Hispanic Black Men in the U.S.: Age-Specific Projections Through 2025. AJPM Focus 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.focus.2022.100063</u>

Hart, C., 2021. Drug Use for Grown-Ups: Chasing Liberty in the Land of Fear. Penguin Books, England.

- Herd, D., 2008. Changes in drug use prevalence in rap music songs, 1979–1997. Addiction Research & Theory 16, 167–180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16066350801993987</u>
- HHS (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of Minority Health), n.d. Mental and Behavioral Health – African Americans. URL <u>https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/mental-and-behavioral-health-african-</u> <u>americans#:~:text=In%202020%2C%20suicide%20was%20the,Americans%2C%20ages%2015</u>

%20to%2024.&text=The%20death%20rate%20from%20suicide,African%20American%20wome n%2C%20in%202018 (accessed September 2023).

hooks, bell, 2004. We Real Cool: Black Men and Masculinity. Routledge, New York, NY.

- Jacques, S. 2017. "A Run-in with the Cops Is Really Few and Far Between": Negative Evidence and Ethnographic Understanding of Racial Discrimination by Police. Sociological Focus 50, 7-17.
- Jacques, S., Wright, R., 2015. Code of the Suburb: Inside the World of Young Middle-Class Drug Dealers. University of Chicago Press, Illinois.
- Jackson, J.S., Knight, K.M., Rafferty, J.A., 2010. Race and Unhealthy Behaviors: Chronic Stress, the HPA Axis, and Physical and Mental Health Disparities Over the Life Course. American Journal of Public Health 100(5), 933-939.
- Jain, P., Zaher, Z., Mazid, I., 2020. Opioids on Twitter: A Content Analysis of Conversations regarding Prescription Drugs on Social Media and Implications for Message Design. Journal of Health Communication 25, 74–81. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2019.1707911
- James, K., Jordan, A., 2018. The Opioid Crisis in Black Communities. Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics 46, 404–421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110518782949</u>
- Jones, C.M., Paulozzi, L.J., Mack, K.A., 2014. Sources of Prescription Opioid Pain Relievers by Frequency of Past-Year Nonmedical Use. JAMA Internal Medicine 174(5), 802-803.
- Jordan, A., Mathis, M., Haeny, A., Funaro, M., Paltin, D., Ransome, Y., 2021. An Evaluation of Opioid Use in Black Communities: A Rapid Review of the Literature. Harv Rev Psychiatry 29, 108–130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/HRP.00000000000285</u>

- Kariisa, M., Davis, N.L., Kumar, S., Seth, P., Mattson, C.L., Chowdhury, F., Jones, C.M., 2022. *Vital Signs:* Drug Overdose Deaths, by Selected Sociodemographic and Social Determinants of Health Characteristics 25 States and the District of Columbia, 2019–2020. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 71, 940–947. <u>https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7129e2</u>
- Kaufman, M.R., Bazell, A.T., Collaco, A., Sedoc, J., 2021. "This show hits really close to home on so many levels": An analysis of Reddit comments about HBO's Euphoria to understand viewers' experiences of and reactions to substance use and mental illness. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 220, 108468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108468</u>
- Kunins, H.V., 2020. Structural Racism and the Opioid Overdose Epidemic: The Need for Antiracist Public Health Practice. Journal of Public health Management and Practice 26(3), 201-205.
- Kyei, E.F., Leveille, S., 2023. Opioid Misuse and Opioid Overdose Mortality Among the Black
 Population in the United States: An Integrative Review. Policy, Politics, & Nursing Practice 24, 208–218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/15271544231164323</u>
- Levy, I.P., 2020. "Real Recognize Real": Hip-Hop Spoken Word Therapy and Humanistic Practice. Journal of Humanistic Counseling 59(1), 38-53. https://doi.org/10.1002/johc.12128
- Link, B.G., Phelan, J., 1995. Social conditions as fundamental causes of disease. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 80-94.
- Manjoo, F, 2010. How Black people use Twitter: The latest research on race and microblogging. Slate.com, August 10. URL <u>https://slate.com/technology/2010/08/how-black-people-use-twitter.html</u> (accessed June 2023).
- Marotta, P.L., Hunt, T., Gilbert, L., Wu, E., Goddard-Eckrich, D., El-Bassel, N., 2019. Assessing Spatial Relationships between Prescription Drugs, Race, and Overdose in New York State from 2013 to 2015. Journal of Psychoactive Drugs 51(4), 360-370.
- McCabe, S.E., Teter, C.J., Boyd, C.J., Wilens, T.E., Schepis, T.S., 2018. Sources of Prescription Medication Misuse Among Young Adults in the United States: The Role of Educational Status. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry 79(2), 17m11958.

- McClellan, C., Lambdin, B.H., Ali, M.M., Mutter, R., Davis, C.S., Wheeler, E., Pemberton, M., Kral, A.H., 2018. Opioid-overdose laws association with opioid use and overdose mortality. Addictive Behaviors 86, 90–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.03.014
- Meghani, S., Byun, E., Gallagher, R.M., 2012. Time to take stock: a meta-analysis and systemic review of analgesic treatment disparities for pain in the United States. Pain Medicine 13(2), 150-74.
- Mendoza, S., Rivera, A.S., Hansen, H.B., 2019. Re-racialization of Addiction and the Redistribution of Blame in the White Opioid Epidemic: Re-racialized Addiction and Redistributed Blame. Medical Anthropology Quarterly 33, 242–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/maq.12449</u>
- Mouzon, D.M., 2022. Chronic Stress, Coping, and Mental Health Among Older African Americans. J Aging Health 34, 347–362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/08982643221085805</u>
- Nicholson, H.L., Ford, J.A., 2018. Correlates of prescription opioid misuse among Black adults: Findings from the 2015 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 186, 264–267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.12.006</u>
- Nicholson, H.L., Vincent, J., 2019. Gender Differences in Prescription Opioid Misuse Among U.S. Black Adults. Substance Use & Misuse 54, 639–650. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2018.1531427</u>
- Nicholson Jr., H.L., Wheeler, P.B., 2021. Prescription Drug Misuse among African Americans and Afro Caribbeans: Results from the National Survey of American Life. Substance Use & Misuse 56, 962–970. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2021.1901928</u>
- Nicholson, H.L., Wheeler, P.B., Smith, N.C., Alawode, O.A., 2022. Examining the Relationship between Discrimination and Prescription Drug Misuse: Findings from a National Survey of Black Americans. Substance Use & Misuse 57, 1014–1021.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2022.2052096

Niederkrotenthaler, T., Tran, U.S., Gould, M., Sinyor, M., Sumner, S., Strauss, M.J., Voracek, M., Till, B., Murphy, S., Gonzalez, F., Spittal, M.J., Draper, J., 2021. Association of Logic's hip hop song "1-800-273-8255" with Lifeline calls and suicides in the United States: interrupted time series analysis. BMJ 375, e067726. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2021-067726</u>

- Paschen-Wolff, M.M., Kidd, J.D., Paine, E.A., 2023. The State of the Research on Opioid Outcomes Among Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer, and Other Sexuality- and Gender-Diverse Populations: A Scoping Review. LGBT Health 10(1), 1-17.
- Peteet, B., Roundtree, C., Dixon, S., Mosley, C., Miller-Roenigk, B., White, J., Bediako, M., Hitch, A., McCuistian, C., 2021. 'Codeine crazy:' a content analysis of prescription drug references in popular music. Journal of Youth Studies 24, 1100–1116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2020.1801992</u>
- Phalen, P., Ray, B., Watson, D.P., Huynh, P., Greene, M.S., 2018. Fentanyl related overdose in Indianapolis: estimating trends using multilevel Bayesian models. Addictive Behaviors 86, 4-10.
- Phelan, J.C., Link, B.G., 2015. Is Racism a Fundamental Cause of Inequalities in Health. Annual Review of Sociology 41, 311-330.
- Phelan, J.C., Link, B.G., Tehranifar, P., Social Conditions as Fundamental Causes of Health Inequalities: Theory, Evidence, and Policy Implications. Journal of Health and Social Behavior 51, S28-240.
- Pro, G., Zaller, N., 2020. Interaction effects in the association between methadone maintenance therapy and experiences of racial discrimination in U.S. healthcare settings. PLOS ONE 15, e0228755. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0228755</u>
- SAMSHA (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration)., 2020. THE OPIOID CRISIS AND THE BLACK/AFRICAN AMERICANPOPULATION: AN URGENT ISSUE. Office of Behavioral Health Equity, Maryland.
- Samuel, Leah, 2017. "We never talked about it": As opioid deaths rise, families of color stay silent. STAT. URL <u>https://www.statnews.com/2017/02/13/race-stigma-opioid-death/</u> (accessed 5.15.22).
- Smiley, C., 2017. Addict Rap? The Shift from Drug Distributor to Drug Consumer in Hip Hop. The Journal of Hip Hop Studies 4, 50–73.
- Smith, A., 2014. African Americans and Technology Use. URL <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2014/01/06/african-americans-and-technology-use/</u> (accessed October 2022).

- Speer, N., 2014. Hip Hop and Black Identity, in: Proceedings of The National Conference On Undergraduate Research (NCUR) 2014. p. 8.
- Srinidhi, S., 2019. Understanding Word N-grams and N-gram Probability in Natural Language Processing. Towards Data Science, November 27. URL <u>https://towardsdatascience.com/understanding-word-n-grams-and-n-gram-probability-in-natural-language-processing-9d9eef0fa058</u> (accessed November 2022).
- Staton, L., Panda, M., Chen, I., Genao, I., Kurz, J., Pasanen, M., Mechaber, A., Menon, M., O'Rorke, J., Wood, J., Rosenberg, E., Faeslis, C., Carey, T., Calleson, D., and Cykert, S., 2007. When race matters: disagreement in pain perception between patients and their physicians In primary care. J Natl Med Assoc 99(5), 532-538.
- Stone, D.M., Mack, K.A., Qualters, J., 2023. Notes from the Field: Recent Changes in Suicide Rates, by Race and Ethnicity and Age Group – United States, 2021. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) 72(6), 160-162.
- Tate, R, 2023. Researchers sound the alarm over rising Black male suicides. Defender Network, March 13. URL <u>https://defendernetwork.com/culture/health/no-way-out-black-male-suicides-rising-faster-than-any-other-racial-group/</u> (accessed September 2023).
- Tettey, N.-S., Siddiqui, K., Llamoca, H., Nagamine, S., Ahn, S., 2020. Purple Drank, Sizurp, and Lean: Hip-Hop Music and Codeine Use, A Call to Action for Public Health Educators. IJPS 12, 42. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/ijps.v12n1p42</u>

Tierney, H.R., Rowe, C.L., Coffa, D.A., Sarnaik, S., Coffin, P.O., Snyder, H.R., 2022. Inpatient Opioid Use Disorder Treatment by Generalists Is Associated With Linkage to Opioid Treatment Programs After Discharge. Journal of Addiction Medicine 16(2), 169–76. doi: <u>10.1097/ADM.00000000000851</u>.

Torgerson, T., Swayze, C., Sanghera, S., Cooper, C., Beaman, J., Hartwell, M., Vassar, M., 2021. Public awareness of the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline following the release of a hip-hop song.
 BMJ EBM 26, 191–191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjebm-2020-111509</u>

- Townsend, T.N., Bohnert, A.S.B., Lagisetty, P., Haffajee, R.L., 2022. Did prescribing laws disproportionately affect opioid dispensing to Black patients?. Health Services Research, 57(3), 482-496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13968</u>
- Trivedi, M.H., 2004. The Link Between Depression and Physical Symptoms. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 6(1), 12-16.
- Twitter. N.d. Counting characters. URL <u>https://developer.twitter.com/en/docs/counting-characters</u> (accessed January 2023).
- VladTV, 2019. Rapper Lil Gotit Asks Interviewer If He Wants a Percocet Mid-Interview. VladTV, February 2. URL <u>https://www.vladtv.com/article/251972/rapper-lil-gotit-asks-interviewer-if-he-wants-a-percocet-mid-interview</u> (accessed July 2023).
- Wallace, R., 2023. "Been Through it Too": Exploring Community Development Through Collaborative Hip-Hop Creation. In: Smith, J.A., Watkins, D.C., Griffith, D.M. (Eds.), Health Promotion with Adolescent Boys and Young Men of Color. Springer Cham, New York, pp. 193-205.
- Wheeler, P.B., Stevens-Watkins, D., Moody, M., Dogan, J., Lewis, D., 2019. Culturally relevant risk and protective factors for nonmedical use of prescription opioids among incarcerated African American men. Addictive Behaviors 93, 46–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.01.014</u>
- Williams, D.R., Collins, C., 2001. Racial residential segregation: a fundamental cause of health disparities. Public Health Reports 116(5), 404-416.
- Wojcik, S., Hughes, A., 2019. Sizing Up Twitter Users. URL <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2019/04/24/sizing-up-twitter-users/</u> (accessed January 2023).
- Wright, J.K., 2019. For Colored Girls and Boys Who Have Considered Suicide/ When Prayer and GOOD Music Weren't Enough. The Journal of Hip Hop Studies 6, 106-122,136,106A. <u>https://doi.org/10.34718/xz28-g676</u>

- Wu, L.-T., Zhu, H., Swartz, M.S., 2016. Treatment utilization among persons with opioid use disorder in the United States. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 169, 117–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.10.015</u>
- Yang, Y.-C., Al-Garadi, M.A., Love, J.S., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2021. Automatic gender detection in Twitter profiles for health-related cohort studies. JAMIA Open 4, 00ab042. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jamiaopen/00ab042</u>
- Yang, Y.-C., Al-Garadi, M.A., Love, J.S., Cooper, H.L.F., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2023. Can accurate demographic information about people who use prescription medications nonmedically be derived from Twitter?. PNAS 120(8), e2207391120. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2207391120

Tables & Figures

Table 1. Prevalence of themes in qualitative sample of tweets from Black men who used opioids (n=49).

		Prevalence at
		the subscriber
Theme	Definitions	level (%)
Reasons for opioid		
use		
Coping	Describing use to self-medicate emotional, physical, or	7 (14.3)
	psychological pain or distress.	
Recreational	Disclosing reasons for use other than coping with a	6 (12.2)
	likelihood tied to leisure activity.	
Intentional	Describing current or past experiences of knowingly using	2 (4.08)
Overdose/Suicide	prescription opioids to cause death or injury.	
Patterns of opioid		
use		
Co-use	Discussing multiple drug use in a single tweet, intimating	15 (30.6)
	that the person is using more than one type of drug at the	
	same time or within a finite period. This does not include use	
	of multiple prescription opioids but can include using	
	prescription opioids and opioids deemed to be illicit (e.g.,	
	using heroin and Percocet).	
Social interactions	Engaging with other subscribers when using by @ing them	15 (30.6)
	or @ing others to talk about drug use experiences, as well as	
	inviting other subscribers to use with them.	
Sources	Disclosing transactions or sources to obtain drugs.	20 (40.8)

Side effects of use

- Addiction Directly or indirectly disclosing behaviors related to 10 (20.4) addiction or being addicted to drugs including worsening use over time or an inability to control drug use; overdose; recovery or relapse; withdrawal symptoms; and the opioid epidemic.
- Sexual dysfunction Mentioning side effects related to sexual functioning, 3 (6.12) including undesirable physical sexual effects.
 - Sleep issues Talking about unintendedly feeling sleepy or falling asleep. 4 (8.16)
 - Unintentional Describing current or past experiences of accidental 5 (10.2) Overdose overdose, including sickness associated with drug use.
- **Hip-hop**Listing song titles or quoting lyrics of hip-hop songs when 31 (63.3)discussing opioid use. This included tweets demonstrating
the lyrical or poetic cadence of hip-hop music.

Note: Themes are not mutually exclusive. Prevalence is based on the number of subscribers who were coded for a particular theme rather than frequency of codes across tweets. Each tweet could be coded for multiple codes or themes.

Figure 1. Process for data collection NLP and thematic analyses.









Figure 3. Most frequent bigrams among Black men Twitter subscribers who used opioids from the NLP sample.

Figure 4. Most frequent trigrams among Black among Twitter subscribers who used opioids from the NLP sample.



Chapter 3: "Strong Black Women": Prescription Stimulant Use as a Site of Resistance in the Context of Black Women's Labor and Negative Images of Black Womanhood

Abstract

Black women are experiencing rising rates of mortality from stimulant-involved overdose. Yet research on the reasons for use of stimulants among Black women are rare. The present study evaluates how the war on drugs has used negative stereotypes of Black womanhood tied to labor through racial capitalism to create barriers in access to prescription stimulants for Black women. We applied the strong Black woman controlling image and transactional stress process model to evaluate how Black women talked about nonmedical prescription stimulant use on Twitter. Results indicated that the controlling image of the crack-addicted mother still affects the way Black women talk about and view their drug use. We found that stressors related to productivity at school, work, and in the home, as well as mental health and addiction determine how Black women cope with stress through nonmedical prescription drug use as a problem- and emotion-based coping method. Identifying how stressors influence Black women's decisions to engage in nonmedical prescription stimulant use, especially in terms of barriers to care, can help to reduce overdose and poor mental health outcomes through decriminalization of drugs and increased access from medical providers.

Keywords

Attention deficit disorders; controlling images; coping; nonmedical prescription stimulant use; stress; strong Black woman

Introduction

Stimulant-involved overdose increased among all racial groups beginning 2007 (Jones et al., 2023b; Waila et al. 2021). However, Black adults show higher annual percentage of growth in fatality than White, Latinx, and American Indian adults (Townsend et al. 2022; Friedman and Hansen, 2022; Cano et al., 2020). Contamination of illegalized stimulant products by fentanyl and other synthetic opioids drives mortality (Ciccarone, 2021), yet Black people who use stimulants or opioids are less likely than White people to receive emergency medicine in the form of Narcan or to carry Narcan if an overdose occurs (Jones et al., 2023b; Khan et al. 2023; Kline et al., 2023; Kyei and Leveille, 2023; Townsend et al., 2022; Hansen and Netherland, 2016). This is compounded for Black women who are more likely to die from stimulant use than White women (Jones et al., 2023a). In kind, Black people who use stimulants are more likely to be surveilled by medical providers and state organizations like child welfare in comparison to White peers (Finamore, 2022; Mendoza et al. 2019; Roberts, 1991). For instance, Black women who are pregnant are more likely to be screened for drug use than White women and to be reported to child welfare and legal systems if they test positive for drugs, losing parental rights and facing incarceration (Harp and Bunting, 2020; Bishop et al. 2017). Higher mandatory minimum sentencing for possession of crack- versus powder-cocaine ensures this by racializing and gendering crack-cocaine as a drug of impoverished Black women and men (Ramsey, 2023; Windsor et al., 2012; Jordan-Zachery, 2008).

Despite the chemical similarity of crack-cocaine to powder-cocaine (Hart, 2021) and that Black people have a lower lifetime and past year rate of use cocaine use than Whites (Orndorff, 2023; Palamar et al., 2015), the severity of stimulant use among Black people is concerning and deserves further inquiry (Cano et al., 2022; Shearer et al., 2022; Townsend et al., 2022 Palamar et al., 2015; Lillie-Blanton et al. 1993). We analyzed Twitter data to determine how race and gender intersect to impact the stimulantrelated outcomes of Black women who engaged in nonmedical prescription stimulant use (use of prescription stimulants not prescribed to you or in ways not recommended by medical providers). We investigated how the transactional stress process model can be used to understand Black women's coping processes through the strong Black woman framework. We focused on Black women's experiences

because of rapid transition from recreational drug use to stimulant use disorder among women in comparison to men (Bobzean et al., 2014); reduced likelihood of Narcan administration in the event of an overdose for Black women (Goetz et al., 2021); and the cumulation of social disadvantage tied to race and gender (Jones et al., 2023a; Jones et al., 2023b; Orndorff et al., 2023).

"Welfare Queens" and "Crack-Addicted Mothers": Racialized and Gendered Images of Black

Womanhood in the War on Drugs

Practices of racializing and gendering drug use and punishment have been instantiated since the early 20th century when the Federal Bureau of Narcotics was formed to eradicate marijuana use and to mitigate the importation of opium products by targeting Black, Mexican, and Chinese populations (Hari, 2015). Today, iterations of agencies and legislation continue to punish drug use among poor, Black, Latinx, and American Indian adults (Hansen et al., 2023; Jones et al. 2023a; Earp et al., 2021; Alexander, 2010; Provine, 2007). Though emphasis is now placed on harm reduction to decrease adverse opioid-involved outcomes, interventions have mainly targeted White people who use drugs (Hansen et al. 2023; Netherland and Hansen, 2016; Cooper, 2015). In fact, inequities persist in treatment of recreational drug use and addiction as a normal part of development of young White people and a moral failing of Black people who use drugs (Mendoza et al., 2019). In-line with this, no standardized medical therapy for stimulant use or stimulant overdose exists (Trevedi et al., 2021; Kapman, 2019; Ballester et al. 2017) despite rising mortality rates among Black populations (Jones et al., 2023a).

The Moynihan report, along with the Nixon and Reagan administrations helped to cement myths of Black women who use drugs through controlling images of the welfare queen and crack-addicted mother, linking them to illegalized drug use because of a nefarious "culture of poverty" (Hill Collins, 2009; Jordan-Zachery, 2009). Clinton amplified these images of Black women by foregrounding stereotypes of Black women as dependent on the state when cutting Aid to Families with Dependent Children, guaranteeing incarceration for drug-related crimes by tapping into White fear of Black men as "super predators", and surveillance of Black families and mothers by child welfare systems because they were purported to birth crack-addicted children (Harp and Bunting, 2020; Roberts, 2014; Jordan-Zachery, 2009; hooks, 2004). Instead of redressing inequitable policies that left Black women and their children in conditions of poverty (Ramsey, 2023; Massey and Denton, 1993), personal blame was foisted onto Black women for the viability of Black families and communities without providing treatment for drug dependence (Finamore, 2022; Jemal et al., 2020; Beaubeouf-Lafontant, 2009). Along these lines, images of the welfare queen and crack-addicted mother served as dog whistles to galvanize anti-Black and anti-drug sentiments to maintain White conservative (and liberal) hegemony by conjuring up destructive images of Black women that persist today (Harp and Bunting; 2020; Beaubouef-Lafontant, 2009; Roberts, 1991).

Portrayals of Black women as dependent on federal and state aid to buy drugs rather than to take care of their children ensures that resources are expended to aid "good [White] American" workers deserving of help (Finamore, 2022; Jordan-Zachery, 2008; DuBois, 1903) while ignoring the social reality of drug use. These tropes depict pregnant Black women as being more likely to use drugs obfuscating higher prevalence of drug use among pregnant White women to direct White women who use opioids to social services and all women who use cocaine to jail (i.e., the racialization of cocaine as a drug used by Black people; Harp and Bunting, 2020). Furthermore, although Black women are depicted as lazy and indigent, they have engaged in labor outside of the home be it involuntary (i.e., slavery) or for survival since their arrival in the United States, inextricably linking them to capitalism in a unique way (Davis, 1983). Even still, as a group, Black women make up a greater share of the employed workforce than White women (Roux, 2021). Yet, Black women and Black families who are impoverished receive fewer welfare benefits than White families who are less likely to be impoverished but constitute a greater proportion of welfare recipients (Administration of Children and Families, 2023; DeSilver, 2023; Shrider, 2023). This contradicts legislation and ideologies which racialize and gender poverty as endemic to Black women's failure to work instead of confronting the state's maintenance of the privileged status of White women in society (Ramsey, 2023; Cano et al., 2022). Black women continue to be responsible for the financial wellbeing of their children and communities.

"Strong Black Women": Negotiating Strength and its Effects on Black Women's Experience of Stress and Coping

In contrast to the welfare queen and crack-addicted mother, the image of the strong Black woman was established to showcase how Black women could become incorporated into American society through ideals of success and resilience (Abrams et al., 2014; Beaubouef-Lafontant, 2009; Beauboeuf-Lafontant, 2007). Though harmful, the strong Black woman (SBW) controlling image has been used to justify the social hierarchy suppressing Black women by asking them to negotiate boundaries between racialized capitalism and family while never allowing full integration (Settles et al., 2008; Jones and Shorter-Gooden, 2003). Within the scope of the SBW, Black women engage in ethnic pride, spirituality, and strength-based and self-sacrificing practices to guarantee their economic wellbeing, and that of family members and communities (Abrams et al., 2014). As such, the SBW adapts to racial capitalism by diminishing her needs, overcoming obstacles, and accomplishing goals irrespective of available resources (Woods-Gisccombe, 2010; Beaubouef-Lafontant, 2009).

The SBW believes strength in the face of inequity is compulsory to survival. Whereas White women whose decision-making surrounding family life involves choosing to work or stay at home, Black women must engage in labor outside the home to support their families regardless of a desire to do so (Dow, 2015; Settles et al. 2008). In this sense, the success of Black women and their households is dependent on their continued labor in a capitalistic system while ignoring other arenas of labor in homes and communities. Like this, the SBW provides a counter valence within which Black women articulate their existence against the weakness of White women by always being strong, nurturing, and self-silencing (Hill Collins, 2009; Beauboeuf-Lafontant, 2005; Wallace, 1979). While there is variance in the degree to which Black women internalize and adopt these constructs (Nelson et al., 2016), the SBW provides Black women with armor to protect themselves against the negative effects of discrimination through a behavioral ideal of self-denial that involves being high achieving, hardworking, and showing emotional constraint (Nelson et al., 2016; Donovan and West, 2015; Beauboeuf-Lafontant, 2007; Shorter-Gooden, 2004). This can be helpful when dealing with instances of discrimination and racism within

society writ large (Bronder et al., 2014; Woods-Giscombe, 2010; Reynolds-Dobbs et al., 2008), however, it impedes Black women's ability to be vulnerable since displays of vulnerability would make them weak and not Black (Beauboeuf-Lafontant, 2005).

The inner world of Black women does not reflect impenetrability because bearing the burden of stress within families, communities, and in their working lives leads to weathering of the body and mind (Geronimus et al., 2006; Geronimus, 2001) transmuted intergenerationally through behavior and genes (Burnett-Zeigler, 2022; Menakem, 2017). Continued self-sacrificing behaviors by placing responsibility to others above responsibility to self comes at great personal cost, resulting in poor physical health, depression, substance use, child abuse and neglect, and eating to manage emotional pain (Moody et al., 2023; Matsazuka et al. 2023a; Goodbolt et al. 2022; Harrington et al., 2010; Jackson et al., 2010; Woods-Giscombe, 2010). Engaging in multiple forms of labor (at work, in homes, and in communities) without assistance causes Black women to experience psychological distress when overwhelmed and overextended (Black and Peacock, 2011). In this way, self-sacrificing behaviors augment negative consequences by requiring Black women to not acknowledge emotional pain and normalizing struggle as part of the Black experience. This attenuates Black women's ability to reap the benefits of social support and emotionally focused coping on wellbeing (Black and Peacock, 2011).

Self-silencing behaviors mediate the relationship between strength and depression among Black women (Abrams et al. 2019). Although, internalization of the SBW can be beneficial when used towards achieving goals like recovery from stimulant use by helping Black women to distance themselves from discrimination (Bronder et al., 2014; Woods-Giscombe, 2010) through the frameworks of strength, racial identity, and community/family values (Sypher et al., 2023), it comes at a price. We used the transactional stress process model to examine this and the continued relevance of the SBW framework in Black women's lives (Woods-Giscombe, 2010; Reynolds-Dobbs et al., 2008). We did so because the drugrelated experiences of Black women are understudied from their perspectives. We scrutinized how Black women used stimulants to cope with labor related stressors, due to the multidimensional effects of the SBW framework on Black women's health.
For our purposes labor was not limited to the workplace but included efforts to engage in work in the home and at school – places not traditionally considered environments of racialized capitalism because of the gendered realities of Black women and the legacy of their enslavement and domestic work in White households (Katznelson, 2005; Browne and Misra, 2003; Davis, 1983). To this end, we explored prescription stimulants in particular because of its association with illegalized stimulant use like cocaine, as use can be interchanged between stimulant substances because of mimicking effects (Shearer et al., 2022). Though illegalized stimulant use is linked to neighborhood availability (Cano et al., 2022), illegalized or nonmedical stimulant use can arise when barriers in access to care are not addressed. For example, like disparities in overdose, studies demonstrate that in comparison to White children, Black girls have higher incidence of not being diagnosed with ADHD (attention deficit hyperactivity disorder) and are less likely to be prescribed stimulant medication to treat it (Glasofer and Dingley, 2021; Shi et al., 2021). When Black girls become Black women, symptoms of ADHD remain undiagnosed and undertreated (Glasofer and Dingley, 2022; Fairman et al., 2020; Chung et al., 2019) indicating higher likelihood that Black women will need to seek alternative resources to address psychological needs through illegalized stimulant use in the form of cocaine. Thus, we highlighted the relevance of racial capitalism and the SBW archetype in the lives of Black women as they reject permissible coping strategies in response to controlling images of Black women as crack-addicted mothers and welfare queens. We believed that Black women were likely to engage in nonmedical use of prescription stimulants to help manage labor-related stress as a strength-based practice, and in response to barriers in care notwithstanding potential risks.

The Transactional Stress Process Model as an Analytic Frame

The transactional stress process model has been used to examine how stress affects health and includes three components – the presence of stressor(s), their appraisal (primary, secondary, and reappraisal), and coping responses (emotion- and/or problem-based). The coping responses chosen are dependent on how stressors are evaluated - as being a threat (potentially harmful), a challenge (something that can be overcome), or a harm (negative effects have already occurred), and perception of availability

of resources to deal with them (adequate or inadequate; Lazarus, 1987). The cumulation of which affects health based on whether emotion-based or problem-based strategies are used.

Though, emotion- and problem-based coping methods generally occur together, they affect stress experiences in discrete ways. For instance, emotion-strategies are indirect and use psychological and emotional tools to accept or reframe stressors when they are viewed as unchangeable whereas problem-based strategies attempt to directly mitigate the effects of stressors or to eradicate them when they are believed to be manageable (Mouzon, 2022). A study of young Black people perceived to be overweight or obese found that those who experienced discrimination, interpersonal stress, and financial difficulties as main sources of stress and evaluated stressors and resources negatively were more likely to engage in emotion-based methods (Quattlebaum et al., 2021). Thus, the degree to which emotion- or problem-based strategies exacerbates health is based on the chronicity of the stressor.

Since stressors are not time limited, can recur, and be contemporaneous, evaluation does not only happen prior to coping, but afterwards to gauge the effectiveness of methods used (re-appraisal; Folkman, 2010; Lazarus, 1989; Folkman et al. 1986; Folkman and Lazarus, 1980). For instance, when older Black adults used emotion-based strategies, they experienced greater psychological distress than when they engaged in problem-based methods (high active coping) for short-term stressors (Mouzon, 2022). However, when stressors were more long-lasting acceptance of stressors and substance use reduced distress. This indicates that at minimum substance use can provide positive outcomes among Black adults who use drugs to cope with stress by attenuating emotionally intense responses in the case of unchangeable stressors (Jackson et al., 2010; Mezuk et al., 2010).

The strong Black woman framework allows us to investigate the relationship of stress and coping by explaining why Black women might choose nonmedical prescription stimulant use as a coping strategy. For instance, whereas the transactional stress process model walks us through the process, the SBW framework elucidates the conditions within which Black women perceive certain coping strategies to be necessary based on the kinds of stressors they experience. Using labor as an example, the SBW helps us to understand why Black women might use prescription stimulants to cope by drawing on a

racialized and gendered behavioral ideal that necessitates being high achieving irrespective of obstacles and how self-silencing strategies support this by using food to numb emotional pain (Harrington, et al., 2010; Woods-Giscombe, 2010). In this example, nonmedical prescription stimulant use is a problembased response to stress while eating is an emotion-based strategy.

Methods

Twitter provides a medium by which we can assess how stimulant use acts as an emotion- and problem-based coping tool for Black women who engage in nonmedical prescription stimulant use in the face of persistent and coexistent stress. Research indicates that Black women use Twitter to connect with one another from shared race and gender identities, as well as relevant characteristics shaping identity (Bailey, 2021; Jackson et al., 2020). As such, Black women use Twitter to discuss issues relevant to them, their communities, and experiences like mental health, racialized sexism, pop culture, and resistance and activism (Hawkins, 2023; Pendleton, 2023; Peterson-Salahuddin, 2022; Bailey, 2021; Francis and Finn, 2021; Brown et al. 2017; Stanton et al., 2017).

Black women interact with one another on Twitter to challenge stereotypes and controlling images, reforming what Black womanhood means to them, from their perspective, and in display to other social media subscribers using humor and other acts of signifyin' (displays of Black identity in ways that are understood by other Black people; Brock, 2020; Florini, 2014). Our research questions were: 1) In what ways can the transactional stress process elucidate coping strategies of Black women who engage in nonmedical stimulant use? 2) In what ways, if any, does ADHD or the gatekeeping practices of medical providers impact nonmedical prescription stimulant use? 3) How does the strong Black woman controlling image impact nonmedical prescription stimulant use as an emotion- or problem-based coping strategy?

Data Collection and Sampling

To evaluate nonmedical prescription stimulant use (NMPSU), we engaged in thematic analysis of tweets from Black women Twitter subscribers who talked about NMPSU between March 6, 2018, and

April 30, 2021. We used Python programming language to extract tweets from Twitter (currently called "X") and machine learning pipelines to extrapolate age, race, and gender using keywords and Twitter profile characteristics from subscribers who self-identified as Black in their tweets (Yang et al., 2023; Al-Garadi et al., 2021; Fodeh et al., 2021). The mean age of subscribers was 28.5 years (minimum age = 17, maximum age =73) with an average of 5 tweets per subscriber. We extracted 889 tweets from 174 Black women Twitter subscribers using a three minimum parameter for tweets per subscriber. While our unit of analysis was individual tweets, we believed that setting a minimum number of tweets would allow us to understand the stress process of subscribers at the personal level and in individual instances of stress and coping.

Analytic Methods

After data collection we used MAXQDA to conduct thematic analysis. First, we reviewed tweets for mentions of labor-related stress and only kept tweets from subscribers who talked about labor as a stressor at least once in their body of tweets. As a result, our final sample was 542 tweets from 98 Twitter subscribers. Following this, we employed iterative analysis of tweets using Braun and Clarke's (2006) methods to assess how Black women interpreted stress and engaged in NMPSU to cope. Although labor-related stress was our primary stressor of interest, subsequently listed as productivity throughout (in-vivo coding), we included other prominent stressors identified by the Black women in our sample like stress related to finances, interpersonal issues, mental health and addiction, and body image and weight. We explored the influence of these stressors because stress does not exist in a vacuum and as a result its accumulation affects how Black women use strength-based or self-sacrificing strategies to survive.

While any tweet could be coded for stressors or coping responses, tweets without reference to a stressor were not evaluated for appraisal since appraisal is a mediating concept within the transactional stress process. We evaluated primary appraisal based on whether a stressor was perceived as a challenge, harm, or threat, as well as subscribers' perceptions of resources including, but not limited to, NMPSU. We determined whether subscribers engaged in reappraisal after coping to assess the effectiveness of coping strategies and consequent side effects, grouping reappraisal with other appraisal concepts. Primary and

secondary appraisal occurred on more subconscious levels with Black women using memes and gifs to express thoughts and emotions about stressors and coping mechanisms. To account for this, we used tone, word tense, and emojis to infer whether Black women evaluated stressors as a challenge, harm, or threat when interpreting tweets.

Coping was analyzed as emotion-based if the methods were used to change thoughts or feelings about stressors, and problem-based if they impacted the stressor directly. In this sense, subscribers could use both emotion- and problem-based strategies to change thoughts and feelings while also addressing stressors directly. Stimulant use was perceived to provide both. It was categorized as problem-based when it impacted productivity or body image through weight loss by helping subscribers to stay awake or focus on tasks or was emotion-based when it helped them to become more motivated or enhanced mood.

We present themes and subthemes as a proportion of tweets at the subscriber and tweet level (Tables 1-2). Themes and subthemes were not considered mutually exclusive, and tweets could be coded for multiple themes at once. We did not present verbatim tweets but used edited (paraphrased) versions to safeguard Twitter subscriber privacy. We superimpose the SBW framework on the transactional stress process below (Figure 1).

In the subsections below, we present the process from stress to coping (transactional stress process) based on problem-based and problem and emotion-based coping strategies for stressors. We did this to give attention to the distinct ways Black women engaged in NMPSU independently and in concert with more than one stressor. Whereas Black women primarily engaged in NMPSU as a problem-based coping method for productivity-related and financial stressors, they employed problem- and emotionbased strategies for mental health and addiction, interpersonal stress, and stress-connected to body image and weight. Within each subsection, we first present the stressor, followed by aspects of appraisal or reappraisal, and then coping, connecting the interaction of stressors with each other when appropriate.

[Figure 1 goes here]

[Tables 1-2 go here]

Results

Overview

Productivity was the most mentioned stressor in our sample due to our emphasis on labor-related stress and strength-based practices of the strong Black woman controlling image, with every woman in our sample describing productivity-related stress at least once. However, Black women also talked about stress from mental health challenges and addiction, interpersonal issues, body image and weight, and finances (Tables 1-2). These stressors co-occurred with productivity or were listed in single tweets without productivity mentioned. Nevertheless, co-occurring stress demonstrated how NMPSU could become generalized among Black women if they moved from prescription stimulant use for one stressor to NMPSU for multiple purposes. To assess this in greater detail we examined how Black women transitioned from stress and coping through primary and secondary appraisal, and reappraisal.

Stress and Coping: Problem-based Methods

Productivity

Black women Twitter subscribers discussed feeling stressed because of work, school, and household responsibilities, with approaching deadlines increasing a sense of urgency. Black women talked about staying up late or going without sleep to meet demands, engaging in NMPSU to bolster these methods by helping them to get up early, remain awake, be alert, become more motivated or more efficient, or focused.

Whereas some posts drew clear distinctions in terms of productivity settings like school, work, and the home, others depicted productivity as a general concept. In these tweets it was difficult to ascertain specific arenas where Black women felt the need/demand to produce. In this way, the terms "work" and derivatives of "productivity" (i.e., productive) were used to describe labor-related stress broadly and in relation to tasks for school and employment/jobs specifically. For our purposes, if work was not connected to a specific role, it was attributed to productivity as an overarching concept, as such Black women talked about NMPSU as part of their daily routines, with use coinciding with getting ready for the day.

"I don't know if I'm overtired, took too much CBD or allergy medicine. What day is it? My swivel chair feels like a cloud and I'm pretty sure I'm high. Come on Adderall! Do your job!"

"Eating addies at 7am, because productivity."

Nevertheless, Black women engaged in problem-based strategies to cope with productivity through organizational methods and by supplementing prescription stimulants with other drugs or caffeine. This was salient across tweets since Black women used productivity as a gauge of functioning, the absence of which signaled a lack of wellbeing. Like this, productivity became a coping mechanism of its own, helping Black women to distract themselves from stress or to modulate negative feelings and emotions.

"Me when I'm upset but take addy and am feeling productive"

"D*** near went crazy and embarrassed the f out myself the other day all for the sake of not being alone....It's amazing what staying busy and productive (and Addies [upside down smiling emoji]) can do for you."

Productivity at School

Productivity-related to school was linked to Black women pulling all-nighters to complete schoolwork. Black women expressed feeling stressed and anxious because of requirements and expectations in college (and high school), especially when facing immediate deadlines or having to balance work- and school-related responsibilities. Black women talked about engaging in high-active coping through NMPSU in anticipation of the amount of schoolwork to be finished, displaying a willingness to miss out on sleep or take higher doses of stimulants.

""I just took 5 mg of addies against my better judgement because I NEED to get this paper done. I won't be sleeping tonight. #ADHDLife"

"Just popped 50mgs of Vyvanse. I'm ready for these three finals!!"

"It's finals week. That means anxiety is high, GPAs are low and the only thing to get us through this tough time is 20mg addies and \$15 old tests."

Consumption of prescription stimulants often occurred before class or while at the library to get homework assignments done including readings and writing papers. This was common when Black women procrastinated or put off work, or during exam season.

"Ms [name]: Sleep is more important than cramming!!

Me: Ma'am I'm going to take 40 mg of Adderall in the morning and stay up all night" "It's 3:55 am. I've been studying since like 10:30 last night [staring off into the distance emoji] addy is that girl!"

Inadequate rest can be risky since tiredness affects functioning leading to poor performance during high stake periods.

"I'm pretty sure I'll be taking about 10 years off my life with all the heart problems I'm going to develop from abusing addies so much this semester [crying laughing emoji]"

Negative outcomes were not anticipated, with some students conveying frustration when NMPSU was ineffective. Black women talked about unwanted side effects like difficulty focusing or becoming easily distracted especially when they consumed larger doses of prescription stimulants. Ineffectiveness of NMPSU was compounded for students who struggled to finish work or were unable to access prescription stimulants through physicians.

"I think it's pathetic that I take 10mg of Adderall every day and still struggle academically and can only function barely normally. I still have to go to the library every day, and every weekend, even on a reduced courseload [crying smiling emoji]"

Inability of school administrators or medical providers to empathize with the demands placed on Black women worsened feelings of frustration when they internalized poor performance.

"Was late to my first exam because I was getting vyvnz for my second exam. And that's college folks"

"approach to academics will always be slow and unresponsive. If it happens at all! It's not like I want to sit and stare at the same f**** paragraph for 3 hours but that's what f**** happens no matter how much Adderall I take."

Black women viewed NMPSU as compensatory, it was an accepted part of their toolkit for survival as students. When they did not have access to prescription stimulants through medical providers, Black women found sources within their networks including loved ones and other students.

"@subscriber it's true. When I was in college, I constantly had people wanting me to sell them my Adderall. But I was like "I need it to function? Please just drink a monster and leave me alone."

"Having white friends so you can get their parents Adderall"

Two Black women noted differences in access tied to race, however, NMPSU was normalized at collegiate institutions indicating that it was used to meet the demands of college life whether or not you were racialized as White and/or received treatment for ADHD. In this way, NMPSU acted as a life preserver helping Black women to feel unconquerable.

"got a 99%, 98%, and 88% for 3 of my finals [tear sniffling emoji] couldn't be here today without addy [heart emoji celebration emoji]"

"My gpa is cute but I'm about to get an addy script and actually flex on the whites in 2019"

When they completed schoolwork objectives, Black women continued to study so as not to waste the benefits they received from NMPSU, enhancing their ability to get work done, including during short windows.

"I just finished studying and have an hour to kill but I want to study more cause I don't wanna waste this Adderall [hand emoji]"

This is noteworthy since Black women would reminisce and express longing for NMPSU when they moved beyond college because of how it helped them to meet demands during stressful times in their past.

Productivity at Work

Despite the efficacy of NMPSU to meet school-related tasks, work-related stress was also a challenge to Black women. Black women Twitter subscribers talked about working long hours, including multiple shifts, and managing school- and work-responsibilities in tandem with entrepreneurial endeavors. They worked in varied industries like creative arts and entertainment, business, and service.

"5 classes and a full-time job. AIN'T ENOUGH ADDIES IN THE WORLD!"

"I have ADHD, a fulltime job, a bunch of side hustles and kids including a toddler. My life is currently managed by a ridiculous amount of coffee. Can't wait until I stop breastfeeding so me and addy can get reacquainted. [crying laughing emoji]"

Like school, NMPSU helped Black women to wake-up if they stayed up late. However, for women with work-related stress, staying up late was due to participation in recreational activities rather than getting work done. Meaning Black women used stimulants to help them wake-up or be alert during the workday, with some engaging in NMPSU to alleviate boredom or to become motivated to work.

"Getting readjusted to Adderall which means 2 straight days of sleeping before I start churning out art again. See y'all later"

"Crap! I have to wake up for work at 4 am. Oh well. This is why I have addy. For late nights. Let's go #Eagles!"

Black women exhibited ambivalence towards work activities, with some gaining esteem from their jobs whereas others just tried to get through the day. NMPSU to meet deadlines was not as frequently mentioned as NMPSU to stay awake for this group. For instance, wherein NMPSU was normative in academic settings, it did not appear to be so within the specific roles/industries of the women sampled (or they did not mention it). Instead, NMPSU vacillated by the individual and their needs/demands.

"There better be a coffee shop in this fancy place my new job is. Since my yerba mate mysteriously disappeared from the fridge. If not, addy is gonna get tagged in." Consuming caffeine including coffee, energy drinks, and tea were common, with women looking to augment the effects of prescription stimulants. However, coping primarily included the use of substances to increase energy. Coping strategies outside of NMPSU were less likely to be mentioned or were not valued in the same way.

"When I first moved to the city I secured a doctor to give me Adderall so I could WORK instead of finding a real counselor. The clown suit is 24/7 round these parts girls!" "2019 was the best year of my career but the worst year of my life. Jay-Zs Blueprint plus forced FT and check-ins from friends who love me really got me through. And addy. Prob mostly addy. But thank you friends, it meant the world."

For the most part, Black women talked about support in the form of NMPSU. "I work 35 hours a week and take 7 classes. I pay my rent, my phone bill, my car note and other necessities all by myself. My mom and dad don't support me emotionally or financially. It's just so draining to the point I have to take hella Adderall just to get sh** done. I hate it."

This may explain a willingness to engage in NMPSU in spite of negative side effects like difficulty sleeping, shakiness, and gastrointestinal issues when stressors mounted.

Black women who talked about stressors focused on sources of NMPSU to supplement their needs, with sources largely going unnamed. However, Black women with work-related stress listed doctors and therapists more often in their conversations about NMPSU while college students talked about prescriptions. This may showcase differential access to prescription stimulants through medical providers, as older Black women either have difficulty obtaining medications through providers, already have a stable source, or are less likely to engage in regular NMPSU. Nonetheless, NMPSU allowed Black women to feel powerful at work.

"Taking an Adderall and furiously sending 20 work emails is just as powerful as playing a full game of professional basketball"

Productivity at Home

In terms of productivity in the home, Black women gained a sense of pride from taking care of chores and household responsibilities. Household responsibilities ranged from routine cleaning and laundry to cooking, shopping, getting ready to spend time with loved ones, and the begrudged wash day (when Black women wash their hair and do natural styling). Although productivity in the home placed demands on Black women, they were not perceived as negative since the ability to engage in these tasks were a sign of wellbeing for Black women, who assessed their functioning from them (i.e., an absence of functioning in the home signaled sadness/depression). Black women engaged in NMPSU to complete routines and to experience pleasure from medications when finishing chores, just as they did for productivity as a general stressor.

"I'm gonna wash this hair and do a twist out. Let me drop this Adderall prescription right now!

"you know things are looking up (and I have some addy) when my room is this clean and organized! I let it get so bad when I'm sad hahaha"

"I decided waking up at 8am, taking vyvnz, and bleaching my whole bathroom is better than crack (to future employers, this is in no way an admission that I am a crackhead)" Productivity in the home can act as a signal for wellbeing and be a coping method along with NMPSU.

Finances

Following productivity related to the household, financial stressors were the least mentioned stressor in our sample. Black women described needing money to support their Adderall addiction, with one woman expressing willingness to exchange sex for drugs. Others highlighted financial deficits and engaging in NMPSU to help them create artwork to sell to meet financial needs or a willingness to sell their own medication to take care of monetary deficits. These examples show how productivity intersects with financial stressors to help Black women support themselves. However, this can be encumbered by poor mental health. One woman described financial barriers in her ability to get mental health care.

"I don't want to be dependent butcan I please have sum Zoloft? Adderall? Affordable therapy? Anything?"

Like the role social disadvantage plays in the lives of Black women leading to NMPSU to cope with negative emotions from stress, Black women harnessed NMPSU to meet their financial needs and to be more productive, likely so they could attain economic success or be financially stable. This is part of the grind of racial capitalism.

"@subscriber no one cares at certain levels. They can't risk testing their best to find out they are on drugs. When I was broke, I used to sell my addy to tech bros."

With this in mind, we turn to NMPSU as an emotion- and problem-based coping method.

Stress and Coping: Problem- and Emotion-based Methods

Mental Health and Addiction

Black women assessed stress related to mental health and addiction to stimulants based on adequacy of resources to meet needs or the ability to function and engage in pleasurable activities. It is difficult to discern the timeline of events from NMPSU. However, we present mental health conversations in which Black women did not state that stimulant use caused poor mental health. Although, this may have been the case. For Black women Twitter subscribers, struggles associated with mental health and addiction included depression, anxiety, stimulant use dependence, and suicidal ideation.

"I'm so depressed I cannot function. I can't read. I can't study anymore. I sit in the library alone and cry. I can't even focus with adderall. I can't do my laundry, cook, or change my sheets."

Concurrent stress negatively affected Black women who reported stress from the demands of schoolbased productivity.

"trigger warning// speaking of college if I don't get my d*** Adderall and a reason to live. I'm not about to get into any [sad face emoji]" "so my first day of school went a little like this: hit snooze on my alarm 6x. An addy cloud macchiato. Loved my first class. Anxiety. Disassociated in my 2^{nd} class. Took a nap in my 3^{rd} class because the professor loves me. Bomb threat. Panic attack."

Feelings of sadness could progress over time based on ability to address contemporaneous stressors, with women moving towards tolerance, dependence, or generalized NMPSU.

"I now take Adderall and have atypical anorexia....but not adderexia. The way I'm still f***** up but at least I don't abuse addy. At this point that's my greatest accomplishment."

"Wait until I have money to afford my addiction. It's over for you h***" "Instead of my usual 5 mg of addy. Today I briefly thought about doing crack. But the d*** conservatives got rid of it all. Ronald Reagan has taken everything from me."

Black women tended to evaluate mental health and addiction stressors as challenges or threats similarly despite employing emotion-based coping more often than problem-based methods. Though both provided a way to modulate thoughts and emotions, NMPSU helped Black women to distract themselves from unwanted thoughts or feelings.

"I really need an adderall so I can focus on something other than suicide. I know I'm annoying y'all. Raise your hand if you muted my tweets"

Whereas Black women subscribers often experienced two or more stressors simultaneously, mental health and addiction was most affected by interpersonal stressors. Although social support and integration can mitigate the relationship between stress and adverse health outcomes, Black women described difficulties in relationships with parents and other loved ones. They talked about conflict in relationships and not receiving adequate support, with some questioning if their lives were worth living. This created greater mental health stress in connection to interpersonal stressors as Black women engaged in NMPSU to numb emotional pain from poor relationships or to quell feelings of loneliness.

"My mom is really on some s^{***} today but I love her regardless. I might do uppers tonight." "is anyone listening. can anyone hear me. Does my life matter. Is the sims game fun or is it just something to do. who's got Adderall"

This is concerning since Black women considered suicide to escape negative evaluations of self, because of inadequate support. Suicidal ideation was discussed by a total of five women in our sample, with Black women contemplating the value of their lives or NMPSU to die by suicide.

"2:30am why doesn't anyone want to watch me deep clean my apartment on addy... why does no one value me"

"Remembering I will never be loved. Even by my parents because I am pathetic. GOD I wish I had enough Adderall to f***** destroy my liver and die."

Interpersonal

For Black women, interpersonal stressors generally regarded difficulty accessing prescription stimulants or not having enough support/strong connections to others. We discussed support in the previous section and focus on access issues here.

With regards to access, Black women expressed frustration about physicians' reticence to prescribe stimulants that affected their psychological wellbeing. As literature states receiving a diagnosis for attention disorders does not guarantee care for Black women who engage in NMPSU to manage demands outside of their mental health, including those related to productivity.

"I got some adderall from my nephew and have been having the most productive day. I told my counselor that we thought my anxiousness and sadness was exacerbating my ADHD but I think it was the other way around."

Medical practitioners appeared to be unwilling to prescribe stimulants or to impede the process of moving from diagnosis to treatment with prescription stimulant medication, making access cumbersome. Often, Black women did not explicitly state why being diagnosed was important to them. However, some talked about difficulty completing assignments and wanting to compete with others academically.

"Help! Where can I get some addies. My doctor won't prescribe it because they don't believe in diagnosing adults with ADHD." Black women perceived academic success as demonstrative of being able to function normally, and not like someone with ADHD. They noted difficulty completing work without the help of prescription stimulants and that tasks took them longer than expected to finish in comparison to their peers.

"I hate school. Everyone thinks I'm a smart over achiever when actually I'm high on adderall everyday so I pay 100x more attention to everything"

In this way, gaining access to prescription stimulants was an added stressor when Black women struggled to achieve academically or at work. However, the quantity of stimulants prescribed could also reflect shortfalls in care.

"I did no homework the entire break and here I am wasting the past 4 hours...if she doesn't just file my Adderall and go"

"As if they'd give me more addy [eye roll emoji] @subscriber"

This subscriber described using other methods to supplement prescribed stimulants and taking more than recommended when they experienced increased demands to be productive. Whether dosage was inadequate cannot be determined from the tweet. Irrespective of this, Black women found alternative sources to get medications in response to impediments in care.

"The next doctor I see I'm lying out my teeth for da addy [red angry face emoji]"

Body Image and Weight

Body image and weight issues permeated Black women's lives, as women across age cohorts discussed this as a stressor (19-24 years and 25-46 years), indicating that weight issues remain prominent as Black women age. Although Black women did not talk about where ideas regarding their body image emerged, it was evident that the physical ideal was slimness.

"I was at my lowest weight at Howard my freshman year. Between walking up and down them stairs, walking to class and not eating because of addy and stress I got down to 135."

"Just took addy. : D We getting skinny AND a 4.0"

NMPSU helped Black women to decrease appetite and increase focus on exercising and sticking to diets. Black women talked about wanting to be "skinny" and how NMPSU helped them to do just that by distracting them from thoughts about food instead of weight management. Weight loss rather than weight gain was paramount, and Black women subscribers engaged in purging behaviors, purposely missing meals, or limiting what they ate to a few items, and supplementing this with prescription stimulants and caffeine. NMPSU was part of their "diet", and "working out" was part of their weight management routine. For those who also experienced stress related to work and school, NMPSU's ability to address co-occurring stressors was a favorable outcome.

"I can sell all my extra addies or I can start double dosing, lose a bunch of weight, and get a lot of s*** done"

However, not eating could be the result of being highly focused on other tasks, with women not remembering to eat until later in the night.

Black women relied on caffeine and NMPSU to help them get through the day while reducing their appetite and engaging in cycles of not eating or eating past fullness. Prescription stimulants enabled Black women to cope with the demands of work and school, as well as self-imposed (or societally imposed) demands regarding their bodies.

"I've been missing whole days of eating. Then having days of overeating. Was takin coke everyday for like 2 weeks. [But I'm] currently on addy which helps me focus while I work out and eat less. [crying smiling emoji]"

*"ate so much just now cause I'm f*t. I'm gonna take Adderall later today to stop that"* Conversely, Black women also expressed pride when they were able to be productive without NMPSU.

"I DID IT! I'M STILL UP W/ no Addy, coffee, or monster"

"@subscriber @subscriber I wasn't prescribed Adderall but I used to buy it off people to help me study and get things done. But when I was more active and eating healthy and

sleeping...I was able to manage school and work and extracurricular better and had increased motivation. but idk your situation."

Nevertheless, when NMPSU caused Black women to become distracted or unable to focus, they demonstrated dexterity by engaging in alternate activities.

"I will never mix Adderall and black coffee again. I'm like vibrating and can't sit still and somehow even more distracted than usual. It's like I'm pumped with adrenaline but nothing scary or exciting is going on. I wonder if I can go run some laps. Wtf" "So I was TIRED today. Doubled the Vyvanse and got venti cold brew extra shot. I just noticed I've been listening to "Through the Fire and Flames" for 2 hours straight...SO FAR AWAY WE WAIT FOR THE DAYEAY [URL for meme or gif]"

Lack of access to or inadequate amount of prescription stimulants could impede problem-based coping and pose a threat to achieving body image goals. Yet, Black women sought alternative sources through strangers when they didn't have access to stimulants.

"So I asked this guy for some of his Adderall cuz I just knewww when I came back to work after a week of vacation it would be hell. N**** should've told me no coffee with this. [surprised face emoji]"

"When I sold uppers a N**** tried to pay me in head Imao college students are irritating."

Black women subscribers engaged in nonmedical prescription stimulant use to increase motivation for productivity and to improve body image, as well as to produce positive emotions. In conjunction with emotion-based coping, problem-based coping produced positive affect through selfesteem, self-control, and self-efficacy over stressors. Problem-based coping enhanced emotion strategies by helping Black women to shift their feelings by motivating them to overcome challenges and attend to other activities like cleaning or work.

Discussion

Black women engaged in nonmedical prescription stimulant use for a panoply of reasons. For some, it enabled them to be distracted, to have fun, or to interact with peers. For others, NMPSU helped Black women Twitter subscribers to address stressors ranging from productivity to mental health and addiction, and finances. All in all, Black women relied on studying, lists, routines and schedules, self-care activities like exercising, interpersonal relationships, and medication for depression and anxiety to deal with stress in combination with NMPSU.

For stressors pertaining to productivity, Black women upped doses or avoided sleeping. These were thoughtful responses, as Black women placed higher value on demands irrespective of immediate or future risks to health. In kind, the Black women in our sample did not talk about instances of overdose from stimulants outside of suicidal ideation, though it is a risk of use. But they did acknowledge that NMPSU could lead to negative effects on their hearts. Like this, NMPSU represented the nuance of Black women's experiences, especially when NMPSU progressed towards dependence and became more generalized across stress and recreational experiences. What is certain, is that the pejorative image of the crack-addicted mother remains salient for Black women (mentioned 10 times by 8 different women) as some conceived of their drug use from this perspective.

Black women drew parallels between the effectiveness of crack-cocaine (or illegalized stimulants more broadly) in place of prescription stimulants. However, only focusing on negative ascriptions of Black women's stimulant use belies reappropriation of controlling images among Black women who view cocaine use as an alternative to prescription stimulants like Adderall or Vyvanse, showing agency in nonmedical stimulant use. In this way, Black women used humor to supplant negative imagery of the crack-addicted mother to juxtapose the utility of prescription stimulants with crack-cocaine to cope with demands. Black women balanced NMPSU to avoid unwanted outcomes from stress or in the space of decreased access to prescription stimulants from medical providers.

For the most part, Black women Twitter subscribers considered stressors as challenges, and used positive language and beliefs of self-efficacy, self-control, and self-esteem to choose problem-based

coping methods. While the controlling image of the crack-addicted mother is used to present Black women as lazy and lacking control, the Black women in our sample engaged in stimulant use to increase productivity in resistance to the image as they detached themselves from it. Productivity was a source of pride, and Black women used it as a sign of functioning to evaluate their wellbeing as they engaged in NMPSU to cope with demands. For instance, when Black women excelled in school, work, or home settings they experienced positive self-image and perceived themselves as powerful and unconquerable. However, when they failed to meet their own expectations, or the expectations they internalized from others, Black women struggled to complete tasks and responsibilities, engaging in self-criticism and comparisons.

Valuations of strength through success without considering its limitations impedes Black women's wellbeing and sense of self which likely triggers feelings of anxiousness and sadness, leading to depressive and anxious symptoms. This is concerning since several women in our sample expressed suicidal ideation when they endeavored to be successful in ways aligned with the American ideal of placing work above all.

Although Black women are increasingly obtaining higher levels of educational attainment (DOL, 2022; Everett et al., 2005), there is a sense of diminishing returns when their mental health comes at the cost of success (Assari et al., 2019; Assari et al., 2018). While the strong Black woman framework can increase positive emotions and reduce symptoms of depression through a racial and gender identity of resilience and overcoming obstacles (Castelin and White, 2022; Green, 2019; Bronder et al., 2014), it is limited when Black women engage in perfectionism, contributing to increased psychological distress (anxiety, depression, and stress) and suicidal thoughts or behaviors (Liao et al., 2020; Green, 2019). This is especially true for younger, college-aged Black women who experience lower self-esteem compared to older Black women or those not in school (Stanton et al., 2017). Furthermore, while refrains of #BlackGirlMagic and similar statements are used to create a counterframe for Black women, beliefs of perfection do not allow Black women to be whole and sometimes weak (Porter and Byrd, 2023; Beaubeouf-Lafontant, 2009) because of the impact of racism and sexism in their lives. Black women may

engage in self-silencing to the detriment of their psychological wellbeing to protect themselves in spaces, like universities, colleges, and work, that are unsupportive and unsafe, when they lack supportive networks (Porter and Byrd, 2023; Thompson and Dale, 2022; Abrams et al., 2019). Racialized capitalism encourages Black women to continue to labor while reaping fewer rewards for mental health and striving against structured racism that makes economic success more difficult.

Whereas stressors connected to mental health and addiction were perceived to be threats or harms, with Black women appraising stressors more negatively when coping strategies were insufficient, Black women still responded with problem-based coping methods. Though, they also used emotion-based strategies. When describing relationships with loved ones, Black women tended to express a lack of support that coincided with using Twitter to express frustrations, seemingly to connect with others online to supplement in-person relationships and to diminish feelings of loneliness (Matsuzaka et al., 2023b). It appears some Black women judged their worthiness based on parental figures, the absence of support from whom, along with managing multiple stressors, an inability to meet expectations, or co-occurring addiction to stimulants, anxiety, or depression, worsened mental health. Although studies showcase the negative effects social media can have on psychological wellbeing (Berryman et al., 2018; Stanton et al., 2017; Vogel et al., 2014), Black women have a history of cultivating supportive spaces with one another online to pushback against racialized gendered oppression (Bailey, 2021; Francis and Finn, 2021; Cottom, 2017). This may explain why the women in our sample, used Twitter as a space to share their struggles and wins. This is significant since research has shown that people who use drugs utilize Reddit to connect with one another for support and to provide health information (Bunting et al., 2021), circumventing traditional modes of connection. Twitter may allow Black women who embody the strong Black woman framework, and who feel lonely and unsupported, to engage in help-seeking to reduce symptoms of loneliness through collective compassion (Maclin-Akinyemi et al., 2021; Liao et al., 2020). However, if deficits in support remain unmet worsened mental health may result. More research is needed to determine whether Black women's utility of Twitter to supplement relationships offline increases or worsens wellbeing.

White et al. (2023), found that while the mask of strength can lead Black women to avoid helpseeking behaviors, Black women college students who demonstrate self-reliance are more likely to seek out formal types of care. The effects of which were showcased when Black women Twitter subscribers talked about getting/looking for help from doctors, psychiatrists, and therapists when struggling with mental health and addiction and productivity. Even still, medical discrimination and cost were prohibitive for these women, as they talked about instances of gatekeeping and having to jump through "adderallhoopz" to access medications. This can be discouraging and can exacerbate stress in and of itself when there is another impediment to overcome in getting needs met.

Black women engaged in resilience when interacting with physicians to ensure their diagnoses led to treatment, otherwise, they would have to contend with the negative effects of the behavioral ideal of the SBW despite high-active coping practices and struggling to meet productivity-based demands. It is difficult to determine whether the women in our sample, struggled with attention disorders on an aggregate level or used prescription stimulants primarily to compete in educational or work settings as part of a normative practice to meet demands at work or school. Nonetheless, our research validates the persistence of disparities in treatment since younger Black women were more likely to describe using their own prescription stimulants in comparison to Black women 25 years and older, who talked about interactions with doctors and therapists more often.

Engaging in nonmedical prescription stimulant use rather than seeking therapy can trigger negative self-perception, as using medications is perceived [by Black women] to be something White women do because of access to and racialization of drug use by medical practitioners, including viewing White women as emotionally weak (Jones et al., 2015; Gubrium, 2008). However, Black women find alternative sources to access prescription stimulants through loved ones, peers, plugs, and online to meet perceived needs at home and to compete in academic and work settings (Murphy et al., 2018).

Limitations

We acknowledge several limitations to our study. First, although our sample focuses on the strong Black woman controlling image, a key construct of this image deals with how Black women engage in

caretaking practices. However, only one woman in our sample talked about any kind of caretaking role. The other women in our sample did not mention these kinds of responsibilities. Another shortfall is that although mental health was an important outcome, it was difficult to decipher the time-order of when women developed symptoms of psychological distress since we only collected tweets about nonmedical prescription stimulant use. As such, poor mental health could be a side effect of use or may have preceded NMPSU which we were not able to ascertain. Lastly, our research was limited to Black women who experienced labor-related stress in the form of productivity. This restricted our sampling pool and impeded our ability to detect how other stressors affected the wellbeing of Black women and could coincide with NMPSU more broadly.

Conclusion

We used the strong Black woman controlling image to examine nonmedical prescription stimulant use as a coping method for Black women experiencing stress connected to productivity at school, work, and in the home. We found that Black women engaged in NMPSU as a problem- and emotion-based coping method, as well as for pleasure, and in resistance to negative images of the crackaddicted mother while experiencing co-occurring stressors. Although only one woman in our sample identified as a parent, our work validates other studies regarding the positive and negative effects of SBW on Black women as they attempt to navigate racialized and gendered oppression aligned with American ideals of financial success. The women in our sample expressed similar motivations to engage in NMPSU for study and work (Fairman et al., 2021) as White people who engage in NMPSU. However, unlike White people who use drugs, Black women experienced distinct obstacles tied to their race and gender and were less likely to mention co-use with opioids, including prescription opioids (Mendez et al., 2023; Shearer et al., 2022; Compton et al., 2018; Jones, 2017; McCabe and West, 2013). Even more, one subscriber in our sample pointed to Reagan's war on drugs to highlight access issues in obtaining stimulants. Whereas Raza et al. (2023), Al-Garadi et al. (2022), and Guntuku et al. (2019) used Twitter to showcase motivations and side effects of use like our sample, our analysis showed distinct stressors among Black women in relation to nonmedical prescription stimulant use like suicidal thoughts, lack of

social support, barriers to care, and body image and weight issues. Future studies should incorporate mixed method strategies to distinguish group level differences in nonmedical prescription drug use, especially considering growing nonmedical prescription use among Black people and should provide recommendations to increase access to care for conditions like ADHD and decriminalization of drugs (Herzberg et al., 2023; McCabe and West, 2023 Fairman et al., 2020).

References

- Abrams, J.A., Hill, A., Maxwell, M., 2019. Underneath the Mask of the Strong Black Woman Schema:
 Disentangling Influences of Strength and Self-Silencing on Depressive Symptoms among U.S.
 Black Women. Sex Roles 80, 517–526. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-018-0956-y
- Abrams, J.A., Maxwell, M., Pope, M., Belgrave, F.Z., 2014. Carrying the World With the Grace of a Lady and the Grit of a Warrior: Deepening Our Understanding of the "Strong Black Woman" Schema. Psychology of Women Quarterly 38, 503–518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684314541418</u>
- Administration of Children and Families, 2023. Characteristics and Financial Circumstances of TANF Recipients, Fiscal Year 2020. URL

https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/ofa/fy2020_characteristics_data_final.pdf (accessed February 2024).

- Al-Garadi, M.A., Yang, Y.-C., Cai, H., Ruan, Y., O'Connor, K., Graciela, G.-H., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2021. Text classification models for the automatic detection of nonmedical prescription medication use from social media. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 21, 27.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-021-01394-0
- Alexander, M., 2010. The New Jim Crow: Mass Incarceration in the Age of Colorblindness. The New Press, New York, NY.
- Assari, S., Lapeyrouse, L.M., Neighbors, H.W., 2018. Income and Self-Rated Mental Health: Diminished Returns for High Income Black Americans. Behavior Science 8(5), 50.
- Assari, S., Shatten, H.T., Arias, S.A., Miller, I.W., Camargo, C.A., Boudreaux, E.D., 2019. Higher Educational Attainment is Associated with Lower Risk of a Future Suicide Attempt Among Non-Hispanic Whites but not Non-Hispanic Blacks. Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities 6, 1001-1010.
- Bailey, M., 2021. Misogynoir Transformed: Black Women's Digital Resistance. NYU Press, New York, NY.

- Ballester, J., Valentine, G., Sofuoglu, M., 2017. Pharmacological treatments for methamphetamine addiction: Current status and future directions. Expert Review of Clinical Pharmacology, 10(3), 305–314. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17512433.2017.1268916
- Beauboeuf-Lafontant, T., 2005. Keeping up Appearances, Getting Fed up: The Embodiment of Strength among African American Women. Meridians 5, 104–123.
- Beauboeuf-Lafontant, T., 2007. You Have to Show Strength: An Exploration of Gender, Race, and Depression. Gender & Society 21, 28–51. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243206294108
- Beaubeouf-Lafontant, T., 2009. Behind the Mask of the Strong Black Woman: Voice and Embodiment of a Costly Performance. Temple University Press, Philadelphia, PA.
- Beryman, C., Ferguson, C.J., Negy, C., 2018. Social Media Use and Mental Health among Young Adults. Psychiatry Quarterly 89, 307-314.
- Bishop, D., Borkowski, L., Couillard, M., Allina, A., Baruch, S., Wood, S., 2017. Pregnant women and substance use: Overview of research and policy in the United States. Jacob's Institute of Women's Health. Bridging the Divide. URL

https://publichealth.gwu.edu/sites/default/files/downloads/JIWH/Pregnant Women and Substanc

e_Use_updated.pdf (accessed February 2024).

- Black, A.R., Peacock, N., 2011. Pleasing the Masses: Messages for Daily Life Management in African American Women's Popular Media Sources. Am J Public Health 101, 144–150. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.167817
- Bobzean, S.A.M., DeNobrega, A.K., Perrotti, L.I., 2014. Sex differences in the neurobiology of drug addiction. Experimental Neurology 259, 64-70. doi:10. 1016/j.expneurol.2014.01.022
- Braun, V., Clarke, V., 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology 3, 77–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa</u>
- Brock, A., 2020. Distributed Blackness: African American Cybercultures. NYU Press, New York, NY.

- Bronder, E.C., Speight, S.L., Witherspoon, K.M., Thomas, A.J., 2014. John Henryism, Depression, and Perceived Social Support in Black Women. Journal of Black Psychology 40, 115–137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798412474466</u>
- Brown, M., Ray, R., Summers, E., Fraistat, N., 2017. #SayHerName: a case study of intersectional social media activism. Ethnic and Racial Studies 40, 1831–1846.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2017.1334934

- Browne, I., Misra, J., 2003. The Intersection of Gender and Race in the Labor Market. Annual Review of Sociology 29, 487-513.
- Bunting, A.M., Frank, D., Arshonsky, J., Bragg, M.A., Friedman, S.R., Krawczyk, N., 2021. Sociallysupportive norms and mutual aid of people who use opioids: An analysis of Reddit during the initial COVID-19 pandemic. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 222, 108672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108672
- Burnett-Zeigler, I., 2022. Nobody Knows the Trouble I've Seen: The Emotional Lives of Black Women. Amistad, New York, NY.
- Cano, M., Oh, S., Salas-Wright, C.P., Vaughn, M.G., 2020. Cocaine use and overdose mortality in the United States: Evidence from two national data sources, 2002–2018. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 214, 108148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108148</u>
- Cano, M., Link to external site, this link will open in a new tab, Salas-Wright, C.P., Oh, S., Noel, L., Hernandez, D., Vaughn, M.G., 2022. Socioeconomic inequalities and Black/White disparities in US cocaine-involved overdose mortality risk. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 57, 2023–2035. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-022-02255-5</u>
- Castelin, S., White, G., 2022. "I'm a Strong Independent Black Woman": The Strong Black Woman Schema and Mental Health in College-Aged Black Women. Psychology of Women Quarterly 46, 196–208. https://doi.org/10.1177/03616843211067501
- Cénat, J.M., Kogan, C.S., Kebedom, P., Ukwu, G., Moshirian Farahi, S.M.M., Darius, W.P., Mulopo Bakombo, S., Dalexis, R.D., Ndengeyingoma, A., Noorishad, P.-G., Labelle, P.R., 2023.

Prevalence and risk factors associated with psychostimulant use among Black individuals: A meta-analysis and systematic review. Addictive Behaviors 138, 107567.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2022.107567

- Chung, W., Jiang, S.-F., Paksarian, D., Nikolaidis, A., Castellanos, F.X., Merikangas, K.R., Milham, M.P., 2019. Trends in the Prevalence and Incidence of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Among Adults and Children of Different Racial and Ethnic Groups. JAMA Netw Open 2, e1914344.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.14344
- Ciccarone, D., 2021. The rise of illicit fentanyls, stimulants and the fourth wave of the opioid overdose crisis. Current Opinion in Psychiatry 34(4), 344-350.
- Compton, W.M., Han, B., Blanco, C., Johnson, K., Jones, C.M., 2018. Prevalence and Correlates of Prescription Stimulant Use, Misuse, Use Disorders, and Motivations for Misuse Among Adults in the United States. AJP 175, 741–755. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.17091048</u>
- Cooper, H.L., 2015. War on Drugs Policing and Police Brutality. Subst Use Misuse 50, 1188–1194. https://doi.org/10.3109/10826084.2015.1007669
- Cottom, T.M., 2017. Black cyberfeminism: Ways forward for intersectionality and digital sociology. In: Daniels, J., Gregory, K., Cottom, T.M. (Eds.). Policy Press, Bristol, UK, pp. 211-232.
- Davis, A., 1983. Women, Race & Class. Vintage, New York, NY.
- DeSilver, D., 2023. What the data says about food stamps in the U.S. URL <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2023/07/19/what-the-data-says-about-food-stamps-in-</u> <u>the-u-s/</u> (accessed February 2024).
- Donovan, R.A., West, L.M., 2015. Stress and Mental Health: Moderating Role of the Strong Black Woman Stereotype. Journal of Black Psychology 41, 384–396. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798414543014
- Dow, D.M., 2015. Negotiating "The Welfare Queen" and "The Strong Black Woman": African American Middle-Class Mothers' Work and Family Perspectives. Sociological Perspectives 58, 36–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0731121414556546</u>

- DuBois, W.E.B., 1903. The Souls of Black Folk: Essays and Sketches. The Atlantic Monthly. Washington, D.C.
- Department of Labor (DOL), 2022. Educational attainment of the labor force by sex, race and Hispanic ethnicity. URL <u>https://www.dol.gov/agencies/wb/data/annual-data/educational-attainment-laborforce-sex-race-</u> (accessed March 2024).
- Earp, B.D., Lewis, J., Hart, C.L., with Bioethicists and Allied Professionals for Drug Policy Reform,
 2021. Racial Justice Requires Ending the War on Drugs. The American Journal of Bioethics 21,
 4–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2020.1861364</u>
- Everett, B.G., Rogers, R.G., Hummer, R.A., Krueger, P.M., 2011. Trends in Educational Attainment by Race/Ethnicity, Nativity, and Sex in the United States, 1989-2005. Ethnic & Racial Studies 34(9), 1543-1566.
- Fairman, K.A., Peckham, A.M., Sclar, D.A., 2020. Diagnosis and Treatment of ADHD in the United States: Update by Gender and Race. J Atten Disord 24, 10–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054716688534</u>
- Fairman, R.T., Vu, M., Haardorfer, R., Windle, M., Berg, C.J., 2021. Prescription stimulant use among young adult college students: Who uses, why, and what are the consequences? Journal of American College Health 69, 767–774.
- Finamore, A., 2022. Geeking and Freaking. California History 99, 59–80. https://doi.org/10.1525/ch.2022.99.2.59
- Fodeh, S.J., Al-Garadi, M., Elsankary, O., Perrone, J., Becker, W., Sarker, A., 2021. Utilizing a multi-class classification approach to detect therapeutic and recreational misuse of opioids on Twitter.
 Comput Biol Med 129, 104132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compbiomed.2020.104132</u>
- Folkman, S., 2010. Stress, Health, and Coping: An Overview. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195375343.013.0001
- Folkman, S., Lazarus, R.S., 1980. An Analysis of Coping in a Middle-Aged Community Sample. Journal of Health and Social Behavior 21, 219–239. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2136617</u>

- Folkman, S., Lazarus, R.S., Gruen, R.J., DeLongis, A., 1986. Appraisal, coping, health status, and psychological symptoms. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 50, 571–579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.50.3.571</u>
- Florini, S., 2014. Tweets, Tweeps, and Signifyin': Communication and Cultural Performance on "Black Twitter." Television & New Media 15, 223–237. https://doi.org/10.1177/1527476413480247
- Francis, D.B., Finn, L., 2021. A Theoretically Based Analysis of Twitter Conversations about Trauma and Mental Health: Examining Responses to Storylines on the Television Show *Queen Sugar*. Health Communication 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2021.1888454</u>
- Friedman, J.R., Hansen, H., 2022. Evaluation of Increases in Drug Overdose Mortality Rates in the US by Race and Ethnicity Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA Psychiatry 79, 379. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.0004
- Geronimus, A., 2001. Understanding and eliminating racial inequalities in women's health in the United States: The role of the weathering conceptual framework. Journal of the American Medical Women's Association 56(4), 133-136.
- Geronimus, A., Hicken, M., Keene, D., Bound, J., 2006. Weathering and age patterns of allostatic load scores among blacks and whites in the United States. American Journal of Public Health 96(5), 826-833.
- Glasofer, A., Dingley, C., 2022. Diagnostic and Medication Treatment Disparities in African American Children with ADHD: a Literature Review. J. Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities 9, 2027–2048. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-021-01142-0
- Goetz, T.G., Becker, J.B., Mazure, C.M., 2021. Women, opioid use, and addiction. The FASEB Journal 35, e21303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.202002125R</u>
- Godbolt, D., Opara, I., Amutah-Onukagha, N., 2022. Strong Black Women: Linking Stereotypes, Stress, and Overeating Among a Sample of Black Female College Students. Journal of Black Studies 53, 609–634. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00219347221087453</u>

- Green, B. "Nilaja," 2019. Strong Like My Mama: The Legacy of "Strength," Depression, and Suicidality in African American Women. Women & Therapy 42, 265–288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02703149.2019.1622909</u>
- Gubrium, A., 2008. Writing Against the Image of the Monstrous Crack Mother. Journal of Contemporary Ethnography 37, 511–527. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891241607309891
- Guntuku, S.C., Ramsay, J.R., Merchant, R.M., Ungar, L.H., 2019. Language of ADHD in Adults on Social Media. J Atten Disord 23, 1475–1485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054717738083</u>
- Hansen, H., Netherland, J., 2016. Is the prescription opioid epidemic a white problem? Am J Public Health 106, 2127–2128. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303479</u>
- Hansen, H., Netherland, J., Herzberg, D., 2023. Whiteout: How Racial Capitalism Changed the Color of Opioids in America. University of California Press, Oakland, CA.
- Hari, J., 2015. Chasing the Scream: The First and Last Days of the War on Drugs. Bloomsbury Publishing, New York, NY.
- Harp, K.L.H., Bunting, A.M., 2020. The Racialized Nature of Child Welfare Policies and the Social Control of Black Bodies. Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State & Society 27, 258–281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/sp/jxz039</u>
- Harrington, E.F., Crowther, J.H., Shipherd, J.C., 2010. Trauma, binge eating, and the "strong Black woman". Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 78, 469–479. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019174

Hart, C., 2021. Drug Use for Grown-Ups: Chasing Liberty in the Land of Fear. Penguin Books, England.

- Hawkins, D.S., 2023. "When you Search a #Hashtag, it Feels Like You're Searching for Death:" Black
 Twitter and Communication About Police Brutality Within the Black Community. Social Media +
 Society 9, 20563051231179705. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/20563051231179705</u>
- Herzberg, D, Hansen, H., Netherland, J., 2023. Whiteout: How Racial Capitalism Changed the Color of Opioids in America. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.

Hill Collins, P., 2009. Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment. Routledge, London, United Kingdom.

hooks, bell, 2004. We Real Cool: Black Men and Masculinity. Routledge, New York, NY.

- Jackson, J.S., Knight, K.M., Rafferty, J.A., 2010. Race and unhealthy behaviors: Chronic stress, the HPA axis, and physical and mental health disparities over the life course. American Journal of Public Health 100(5), 933-939. https://doi.org/10. 2105/AJPH.2008.143446
- Jackson, S.J., Bailey, M., Foucault Welles, B., Lauren, G., 2020. #HashtagActivism: Networks of Race and Gender Justice. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Jemal, A., Gunn, A., Inyang, C., 2020. Transforming responses: Exploring the treatment of substanceusing African American women. Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse 19, 659–687. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2019.1579141</u>
- Jones, A.A., Shearer, R.D., Segel, J.E., Santos-Lozada, A., Strong-Jones, S., Vest, N., Teixeira da Silva, D., Khatri, U.G., Winkelman, T.N.A., 2023a. Opioid and stimulant attributed treatment admissions and fatal overdoses: Using national surveillance data to examine the intersection of race, sex, and polysubstance use, 1992–2020. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 249, 109946. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2023.109946
- Jones, A.A., Schneider, K.E., Tobin, K.E., O'Sullivan, D., Latkin, C.A., 2023b. Daily opioid and stimulant co-use and nonfatal overdoses in the context of social disadvantage: Findings on marginalized populations. Journal of Substance Use and Addiction Treatment, Stimulants 151, 208986. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.josat.2023.208986
- Jones, A.L., Cochran, S.D., Rafferty, J., Taylor, R.J., Mays, V.M., 2020. Lifetime and Twelve-Month Prevalence, Persistence, and Unmet Treatment Needs of Mood, Anxiety, and Substance Use Disorders in African American and U.S. versus Foreign-Born Caribbean Women. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 17, 7007.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17197007

- Jones, C., Shorter-Gooden, K., 2003. Shifting: The Double Lives of Black Women in America. Harper Collins, New York, NY.
- Jones, C.M., 2017. The paradox of decreasing nonmedical opioid analgesic use and increasing abuse or dependence — An assessment of demographic and substance use trends, United States, 2003– 2014. Addictive Behaviors 65, 229–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.08.027
- Jones, L.V., Hopson, L., Warner, L., Hardiman, E.R., James, T., 2015. A Qualitative Study of Black Women's Experiences in Drug Abuse and Mental Health Services. Affilia 30, 68–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109914531957</u>
- Jordan-Zachery, J.S., 2008. A Declaration of War: An Analysis of How the Invisibility of Black Women Makes Them Targets of the War on Drugs. Journal of Women, Politics & Policy 29, 231–259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15544770802118595</u>
- Jordan-Zachery, J.S., 2009. Black Women, Cultural Images, and Social Policy. Routledge, New York, NY.

Kampman, K. M., 2019. The treatment of cocaine use disorder. Science Advances, 5(10). <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aax1532</u>

- Kariisa, M., Davis, N.L., Kumar, S., Seth, P., Mattson, C.L., Chowdhury, F., Jones, C.M., 2022. *Vital Signs:* Drug Overdose Deaths, by Selected Sociodemographic and Social Determinants of Health Characteristics 25 States and the District of Columbia, 2019–2020. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 71, 940–947. <u>https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7129e2</u>
- Katznelson, I., 2005. When Affirmative Action Was White: An Untold History of Racial Inequality in Twentieth Century America. Liveright, New York, NY.

Khan, M.R., Hoff, L., Elliott, L., Scheidell, J.D., Pamplin, J.R., Townsend, T.N., Irvine, N.M., Bennett, A.S., 2023. Racial/ethnic disparities in opioid overdose prevention: comparison of the naloxone care cascade in White, Latinx, and Black people who use opioids in New York City. Harm Reduction Journal 20, 24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-023-00736-7</u>

- Kline, D., Bunting, A.M., Hepler, S.A., Rivera-Aguirre, A., Krawczyk, N., Cerda, M., 2023. State-Level History of Overdose Deaths Involving Stimulants in the United States, 1999–2020. Am J Public Health 113, 991–999. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2023.307337</u>
- Kyei, E.F., Leveille, S., 2023. Opioid Misuse and Opioid Overdose Mortality Among the Black
 Population in the United States: An Integrative Review. Policy, Politics, & Nursing Practice 24, 208–218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/15271544231164323</u>
- Lazarus, R.S., 1987. Transactional theory and research on emotions and coping. European Journal of Personality 1, 141–169.
- Lazarus, R.S., 1999. Stress and Emotion: A New Synthesis. Springer, New York, NY.
- Liao, K.Y.-H., Wei, M., Yin, M., 2020. The Misunderstood Schema of the Strong Black Woman: Exploring Its Mental Health Consequences and Coping Responses Among African American Women. Psychology of Women Quarterly 44, 84–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684319883198</u>
- Lillie-Blanton, M., Anthony, J.C., Schuster, C.R., 1993. Probing the meaning of the racial/ethnic group comparisons in crack cocaine smoking. JAMA 269(8), 993-997.
- Link, B.G., Phelan, J.C., 1995. Social Conditions as Fundamental Causes of Disease. Journal of Health and Social Behavior 35, 80-94.
- Maclin-Akinyemi, C., Thurston, I.B., Howell, K.H., Jamison, L.E., Anderson, M.B., 2021. The protective roles of ethnic identity and community cohesion on substance use among Black women experiencing adversity. Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse 20, 225–240. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2019.1622477
- Massey, D.S., Denton, N.A., 1993. American Apartheid: Segregation and the Making of the Underclass. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Matsuzaka, S., Avery, L.R., Espinel, S., 2023a. Black sexual minority women's Internalized stigma and coping motivated alcohol use: the role of emotional suppression. Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse 0, 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2023.2220656</u>

- Matsuzaka, S., Avery, L.R., Stanton, A.G., 2023b. Black Women's Social Media Use Integration and Social Media Addiction. Social Media + Society 9, 20563051221148977. https://doi.org/10.1177/20563051221148977
- McCabe, S.E., West, B.T., 2013. Medical and nonmedical use of prescription stimulants: results from a national multicohort study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 52, 1272–1280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2013.09.005</u>
- Menakem, R., 2017. My Grandmother's Hands: Racialized Trauma and the Pathway to Mending Our Hearts and Bodies. Central Recovery Press, Las Vegas, NV.
- Mendez, J., Yomogida, K., Figueroa, W., Diaz Roldan, K., Bavarian, N., 2023. Examining associations between prescription stimulant misuse frequency and misuse characteristics by race/ethnicity. Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse 22, 402–416.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2021.1952128

- Mendoza, S., Rivera, A.S., Hansen, H.B., 2019. Re-racialization of Addiction and the Redistribution of Blame in the White Opioid Epidemic: Re-racialized Addiction and Redistributed Blame. Medical Anthropology Quarterly 33, 242–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/maq.12449</u>
- Mezuk, B., Rafferty, J.A., Kershaw, K.N., Hudson, D., Abdou, C.M., Lee, H., Eaton, W.W., Jackson, J.S., 2010. Reconsidering the Role of Social Disadvantage in Physical and Mental Health: Stressful Life Events, Health Behaviors, Race, and Depression. American Journal of Epidemiology 172, 1238–1249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwq283</u>
- Moody, A.T., Lewis, J.A., Owens, G.P., 2023. Gendered Racism, Coping, and Traumatic Stress Among Black Women: The Moderating Roles of the Strong Black Woman Schema and Womanist Attitudes. Psychology of Women Quarterly 47, 197–212.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/03616843221143752
- Mouzon, D.M., 2022. Chronic Stress, Coping, and Mental Health Among Older African Americans. J Aging Health 34, 347–362. https://doi.org/10.1177/08982643221085805

- Murphy, F., Murphy, S., Sales, P., Lau, N., 2018. Examining social supply among nonmedical prescription stimulant users in the San Francisco Bay Area. International Journal of Drug Policy 54, 68–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2017.11.015</u>
- Nelson, T., Cardemil, E.V., Adeoye, C.T., 2016. Rethinking Strength: Black Women's Perceptions of the "Strong Black Woman" Role. Psychology of Women Quarterly 40, 551–563. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684316646716
- Netherland, J., Hansen, H.B., 2016. The War on Drugs That Wasn't: Wasted Whiteness, "Dirty Doctors," and Race in Media Coverage of Prescription Opioid Misuse. Cult Med Psychiatry 40, 664–686. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11013-016-9496-5</u>
- Orndorff, M., Shipp, G.M., Kerver, J.M., Ondersma, S.J., Alshaarawy, O., 2023. Trends in cocaine use among United States females of reproductive age, 2005–2019. The American Journal on Addictions n/a. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.13502</u>
- Palamar, J.J., Davies, S., Ompad, D.C., Cleland, C.M., Weitzman, M., 2015. Powder cocaine and crack use in the United States: an examination of risk for arrest and socioeconomic disparities in drug use. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 149, 108-116. <u>https://doi.org/10.</u>

1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.01.029

- Pendleton, S.M., 2023. Exploring Stigma and Black Mental Health on Twitter. Journal of Health Communication 28, 425–435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2023.2218288</u>
- Peterson-Salahuddin, C., 2022. Posting Back: Exploring Platformed Black Feminist Communities on Twitter and Instagram. Social Media + Society 8, 20563051211069051.

https://doi.org/10.1177/20563051211069051

- Phelan, J.C., Link, B.G., 2015. Is Racism a Fundamental Cause of Inequalities in Health? Annual Review of Sociology 41, 311-330.
- Porter, C.J., Byrd, J.A., 2023. Juxtaposing #BlackGirlMagic as "empowering and problematic:" composite narratives of Black women in college. Journal of Diversity in Higher Education 16, 273–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/dhe0000338</u>
- Provine, D.M., 2007. Unequal Under the Law: Race in the War on Drugs. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- Quattlebaum, M., Kipp, C., Wilson, D.K., Sweeney, A., Loncar, H., Brown, A., Levine, S., Zarrett, N., 2021. A Qualitative Study of Stress and Coping to Inform the LEADS Health Promotion Trial for African American Adolescents with Overweight and Obesity. Nutrients 13, 2247. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13072247
- Ramsey, D. X., 2023. When Crack Was King: A People's History of a Misunderstood Era. One World, London, United Kingdom.
- Raza, S., Schwartz, B., Lakamana, S., Ge, Y., Sarker, A., 2023. A framework for multi-faceted content analysis of social media chatter regarding non-medical use of prescription medications. BMC Digit Health 1, 29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s44247-023-00029-w</u>
- Reynolds-Dobbs, W., Thomas, K.M., Harrison, M.S., 2008. From Mammy to Superwoman: Images That Hinder Black Women's Career Development. Journal of Career Development 35, 129–150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845308325645</u>
- Roberts, D.E., 1991. Punishing Drug Addicts Who Have Babies: Women of Color, Equality, and the Right of Privacy. Harvard Law Review 104, 1419. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1341597</u>
- Roberts, D.E., 2014. Child protection as surveillance of African American families. Journal of Social Welfare and Family Law 36, 426-437.
- Roux, M., 2021. 5 Facts About Black Women in the Labor Force. URL <u>https://blog.dol.gov/2021/08/03/5-facts-about-black-women-in-the-labor-force</u> (accessed February 2024).
- Settles, I.H., Pratt-Hyatt, J.S., Buchanan, N.T., 2008. Through the Lens of Race: Black and White Women's Perceptions of Womanhood. Psychology of Women Quarterly 32, 454–468. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6402.2008.00458.x
- Shearer, R.D., Jones, A., Howell, B.A., Segel, J.E., Winkelman, T.N.A., 2022. Associations between prescription and illicit stimulant and opioid use in the United States, 2015–2020. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment 143, 108894. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2022.108894</u>

Shi, Y., Hunter Guevara, L.R., Dykhoff, H.J., Sangaralingham, L.R., Phelan, S., Zaccariello, M.J., Warner, D.O., 2021. Racial Disparities in Diagnosis of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder in a US National Birth Cohort. JAMA Netw Open 4, e210321.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.0321

Shorter-Gooden, K., 2004. Multiple Resistance Strategies: How African American Women Cope with Racism and Sexism. Journal of Black Psychology 30, 406–425.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798404266050

- Shrider, E., 2023. Poverty Rate for the Black Population Fell Below Pre-Pandemic Levels. URL https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2023/09/black-poverty-rate.html (accessed February 2024).
- Stahler, G.J., Mennis, J., 2018. Treatment outcome disparities for opioid users: Are there racial and ethnic differences in treatment completion across large US metropolitan areas? Drug and Alcohol Dependence 190, 170–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.06.006</u>
- Stanton, A.G., Jerald, M.C., Ward, L.M., Avery, L.R., 2017. Social Media Contributions to Strong Black
 Woman Ideal Endorsement and Black Women's Mental Health. Psychology of Women Quarterly
 41, 465–478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684317732330</u>
- Sypher, I., Pavlo, A., King, J., Youins, R., Shumake, A., Lopez, J., Haeny, A.M., 2023. What's race got to do with it? Factors contributing to self-change from cocaine use disorder among Black adults. Journal of Substance Use and Addiction Treatment, Racism, Racial Identity, and Substance Use 153, 208945. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.josat.2022.208945</u>
- Thompson, M., Dale, S.K., 2022. Gendered Racial Microaggressions and Self-Silencing Associated with Suicidality Among Black Women Living with HIV. J. Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities 9, 748–755. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-021-01009-4</u>
- Townsend, T., Kline, D., Rivera-Aguirre, A., Bunting, A.M., Mauro, P.M., Marshall, B.D.L., Martins, S.S., Cerdá, M., 2022. Racial/Ethnic and Geographic Trends in Combined Stimulant/Opioid

Overdoses, 2007–2019. American Journal of Epidemiology 191, 599–612.

https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwab290

- Trivedi, M. H., Walker, R., Ling, W., dela Cruz, A., Sharma, G., Carmody, T., Ghitza, U. E., Wahle, A., Kim, M., Shores-Wilson, K., Sparenborg, S., Coffin, P., Schmitz, J., Wiest, K., Bart, G., Sonne, S. C., Wakhlu, S., Rush, A. J., Nunes, E. V., Shoptaw, S. 2021. Bupropion and naltrexone in methamphetamine use disorder. New England Journal of Medicine, 384(2), 140–153. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2020214
- Vogel, E.A., Rose, J.P., Roberts, L.R., Eckles, K., 2014. Social Comparison, Social Media, and Self Esteem. Psychology of Popular Media Culture 3(4), 206-222.
- Walia, N., Lat, J.O., Tariq, R., Tyagi, S., Qazi, A.M., Salari, S.W., Jafar, A., Kousar, T., Renzu, M., Leszkowitz, D., Abreu, R., Rodriguez, I., 2021. Trends in Mortality Due to Stimulants Use in Adolescents and Young Adults. Addictive Disorders & Their Treatment 20, 571–577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ADT.00000000000294</u>
- Wallace, M., 1979. Black macho and the myth of the superwoman. Verso, Brooklyn, NY.
- White, C.N., Swan, S., Smith, B., 2023. Trauma, Help-Seeking, and the Strong Black Woman. Journal of Black Psychology 49, 498–528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00957984231191859</u>
- Williams, D.R., Collins, C., 2001. Racial Residential Segregation: A Fundamental Cause of Racial Disparities in Health. Public Health Reports 116,404-416.
- Windsor, L.C., Dunlap, E., Armour, M., 2012. Surviving Oppression under the Rock: The Intersection of New York's Drug, Welfare, and Educational Polices in the Lived Experiences of Low-Income African Americans. Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse 11, 339–361.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2012.735176

Woods-Giscombé, C.L., 2010. Superwoman Schema: African American Women's Views on Stress, Strength, and Health. Qual Health Res 20, 668–683. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732310361892</u> Yang, Y.-C., Al-Garadi, M.A., Love, J.S., Cooper, H.L.F., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2023. Can accurate demographic information about people who use prescription medications nonmedically be derived from Twitter?. PNAS 120(8), e2207391120. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2207391120

Tables & Figures

Definition	Example
Describing generalized	"Eating addies at 7am, because productivity."
effort towards a non-	"Just popped 50mgs of Vyvanse. I'm ready for these
specified goal; or in school-	three finals!!"
; employment- or	"Getting readjusted to Adderall which means 2
occupation-; or home-	straight days of sleeping before I start churning out
related settings.	art again. See y'all later"
	"I'm gonna wash this hair and do a twist out. Let
	me drop this Adderall prescription right now!
Describing views of	"@subscriber I'm about to start popping Vyvanz
physical self, weight, or	again and not eating."
eating behaviors, especially	
in a negative regard.	
Disclosing concerns about	"I'm late to work. Dropped my Dunkin when I
money.	walked in. Out of addy and my car started smoking.
	It's really expensive to fix. Straight terrible."
Mentioning conflict with	"My mom is really on some s*** but I love her
others, including medical	regardless. I might do uppers tonight."
providers and coworkers.	
Acknowledging mental	"I got some adderall from my nephew and have
health diagnosis or	been having the most productive day. I told my
	counselor that we thought my anxiousness and
	Describing generalized effort towards a non- specified goal; or in school- ; employment- or occupation-; or home- related settings. Describing views of physical self, weight, or eating behaviors, especially in a negative regard. Disclosing concerns about money. Mentioning conflict with others, including medical providers and coworkers. Acknowledging mental

 Table 1. Theme definitions and example tweets.

	dependence on drugs	sadness was exacerbating my ADHD but I think it
	(prescription or illegalized).	was the other way around."
Appraisal		
Primary	Explaining perception of	"Crap! I have to wake up for work at 4 am. Oh wel
	stressor as challenge, harm,	This is why I have addy. For late nights. Let's go
	or threat.	#Eagles!"
Secondary	Analyzing resources to deal	"I almost had a moment of weakness. BUT I bough
	with stressor (e.g.,	a red bull so that helped. Gonna take another
	sufficient, insufficient).	Adderall when my mom picks me up so I can study
		all night."
Re-appraisal	Evaluation of coping	"I just took 5 mg of addies against my better
	response or its effects in the	judgement because I NEED to get this paper done.
	past tense. Re-evaluation of	won't be sleeping tonight. #ADHDLife"
	stressor.	
Coping		
Emotion-based	Indirect action to change	"Finna take some addy to keep me busy and to get
	feelings or thoughts about	my mind off things and keep from eating s*** I
	stressors.	don't need."
Problem-based	Direct action to remove or	"@subscriber have you tried snorting 4 pounds of
	reduce a stressor.	addies to stay awake? Works like a charm"

Note: Themes were not mutually exclusive. Tweets could be coded for multiple themes simultaneously.

	Prevalence at the	Prevalence at the
Theme	subscriber level (%)	tweet level (%)
Stressors		
Productivity (general)	38 (38.8)	57 (10.5)
Productivity at school	51 (52.0)	92 (17.0)
Productivity at work	39 (39.8)	62 (11.4)
Productivity at home	13 (13.3)	17 (3.14)
Body image/weight	21 (21.4)	27 (4.98)
Financial	8 (8.16)	12 (2.19)
Interpersonal	25 (25.5)	31 (5.72)
Mental health and	33 (33.7)	52 (9.59)
addiction		
Appraisal		
Primary	54 (55.1)	96 (17.7)
Secondary	64 (65.3)	127 (23.4)
Re-appraisal	84 (85.7)	170 (31.4)
Coping		
Emotion-based	46 (46.9)	82 (15.1)
Problem-based	98 (100)	258 (47.6)

Table 2. Theme distribution across tweets and subscriber representation

Note: Prevalence at subscriber level is based on n = 98 Twitter

subscribers. Prevalence at tweet level is based on n = 542 tweets. Out of total samples of Twitter subscribers or tweets.

Figure 5. Strong Black Woman Framework and Transactional Stress Process Model



Strength-based practices, ethnic pride, self-sacrificing behaviors, spirituality

Chapter 4: "I Been Taking Adderall Mixing it with Lean, Hope I Don't Wake Up Out My Sleep": Harnessing Twitter to Understand Nonmedical Prescription Stimulant Use among Black Women and Men Subscribers

Abstract

Background. Black women and men outpace other races for stimulant-involved overdose mortality despite lower lifetime use. Growth in mortality from prescription stimulant medications is increasing in tandem with prescribing patterns for these medications. We used Twitter to explore nonmedical prescription stimulant use (NMPSU) among Black women and men using emotion and sentiment analysis, and topic modeling. Methods. We applied the NRC Lexicon and VADER dictionary, and LDA topic modeling to examine feelings and themes in conversations about NMPSU by gender. We paid special attention to the ability of current natural language processing techniques to detect differences in emotion and sentiment among Black women and men. Results. We found that although emotion and sentiment outcomes match the directionality of emotions and sentiment observed (i.e., Black Twitter subscribers use more positive language in tweets), this belies ineffectiveness of NRC and VADER dictionaries to distinguish emotion and sentiment for Black people. However, LDA topic models showcase the relevance of hip-hop, dependence on NMPSU, and recreational use as consequent to Black Twitter subscribers' discussions online. Though, gender shapes the relevance of topics for Black women and men. Conclusion. Greater attention needs to be paid to how Black women and men use social media to discuss important topics like drug use. Natural language processing methods and social media research should include larger proportions of Black, Hispanic/Latinx, and American Indian populations in development of emotion and sentiment lexicons, otherwise outcomes will not be generalizable to populations writ large.

Keywords

Gender; nonmedical prescription stimulant use; NRC; race; topic modeling; Twitter; VADER

Introduction

Between 2007 and 2019, Black people experienced rapid growth in mortality from coinvolvement of stimulants and opioids, with a 575 percent increase in death attributable to cocaine and opioids, and 16,200 percent increase in death involving methamphetamines and other stimulants and opioids (Townsend et al., 2022). Contamination of stimulant products with fentanyl and other synthetic opioids is driving rises in overdose deaths of Black women and men (Kline et al., 2023; Ciccarone, 2021; O'Donnell et al., 2020). Yet, mortality is not limited to Black adults, as Black people of all ages, including adolescents and young adults, demonstrate higher mortality from stimulants than White peers (Walia et al., 2021).

Illegalized stimulants like those previously mentioned are not the only culprits. Prescription medications like Adderall, used to treat attention disorders like ADHD, have increased stimulant-involved burdens of death among Black American and American Indians, outpacing White people who use drugs (CDC, 2023; Kariisa, 2021). Although diagnosis and treatment for ADHD have coincided with higher mortality rates, gaps in diagnosis and treatment of ADHD among Black people persists, with Black women and Black girls being less likely to be diagnosed with ADHD than White adults and children, and in some cases Black men (Bergey et al., 2022; Glasofer and Dingley, 2022; Shi et al., 2021; Fairman et al., 2020; Chung et al., 2019). Underdiagnosis of ADHD can lead to self-medicating symptoms through nonmedical prescription stimulant use for Black adolescents contributing to mortality among this group (Goodhines et al., 2020). Nonmedical prescription drug use is the use of medications in ways not prescribed by medical providers, which includes using medications not prescribed to you.

Like young people of all races, Black adolescents and young adults gain access to prescription stimulants through social networks including friends, family members and peers, and medical providers (Mendez et al., 2023; Fairman et al., 2021; Goodhines et al., 2020; Hulme et al., 2018). Of significance is the likelihood of exchanging one form of stimulant for another because of similar effects, like in the case of prescription stimulants and cocaine (Shearer et al., 2022). More research is needed to understand the role nonmedical prescription stimulant use (NMPSU) plays in mortality from stimulants given lower rates of use among Black adults (Shearer et al., 2022) and lack of evidence of demographic differences in patterns of use among Black adolescents in comparison to White peers (Goodhines et al., 2020). Twitter provides an opportunity for us to examine this in greater detail, as Black women and men use the site to communicate with one another and share experiences relevant to a Black cultural identity and to talk about mental health including drug use (Francis and Finn, 2021; Brock, 2020; Florini, 2014).

Black social media subscribers talk about NMPSU on Twitter more often than they discuss other forms of nonmedical prescription drug use (NMPDU; Yang et al., 2023). However, research examining the intersection of race and gender on drug use behaviors using social media data is limited. While studies may account for race and gender in their sampling frames (Yang et al., 2023; Stevens et al., 2020), these variables are not examined together to observe differences in Twitter conversation topics about NMPDU. This is concerning since race and gender are fundamental causes of drug behaviors through racism, sexism, and other forms of oppression, as well as from socio-environmental risks like poverty and exposure to adverse childhood experiences (Banks et al, 2023; Silverstein et al., 2023; Gondre-Lewis et al., 2022; Nicholson, 2020; Miguel et al., 2019; Kramer et al., 2009; Link and Phelan, 1995). Plus, race and gender intersect to create graduated effects on drug related outcomes among Black women and men. For example(s), women are less likely than men to be given Narcan in the case of an overdose (Jones et al., 2023a), and Black women are more likely to die from stimulant use than White women (Jones et al., 2023b). Even more, exposure to violence, be it interpersonal or at community levels, increases risk of testing positive for HIV and using drugs like stimulants for Black women and men in different ways (Stockman et al., 2021; Nydegger et al., 2021; Saadatmand et al., 2020; Miguel et al., 2019; Lichtenstein, 2004; Crenshaw, 1991).

Nevertheless, race and gender are unobserved outside of survey methods and qualitative research. For instance, although Al-Garadi et al., (2022) used novel methods to account for how gender rather than biological sex influenced emotion and sentiment in tweets about nonmedical NMPDU among women and men, they did not attend to how race complicated these differences online, including the influence of race and gender on topics about reasons for NMPDU. Even more, despite race and gender affecting likelihood of diagnosis of and prescription treatment for attention disorders, Guntunku et al. (2019) did not incorporate these characteristics into their study of how Twitter subscribers discussed ADHD, including use of prescription stimulants and other drugs to treat symptoms of ADHD, to self-medicate, or to engage in recreational drug use. While Raza et al. (2023) provided a robust framework to investigate nonmedical use of Adderall, Alprazolam, morphine, and fentanyl through named entity recognition (NER) and BERT classification models to detect and evaluate topics about adverse events, and symptoms of use, race and gender were not evaluated.

Studies regarding race and gender highlight linguistic and thematic distinctions in conversations online, and the need for greater consideration of these socio-demographic variables in analytic methods. Preotiuc-Pietro and Ungar (2018) showed that race affects communication patterns and conversations on Twitter, and Sun et al. (2020) demonstrated that gender determines the kinds of emotional language used and topics discussed by women and men online. For instance, Black people on Twitter use Black American vernacular and other signifiers of a Black cultural identity to ensure safety when communicating with one another, to disclose personal information related to activities and whereabouts, and to express emotions of positivity, anger, disgust, fear, and sadness in comparison to Hispanic/Latinx, Asian, and White Twitter subscribers (Brock, 2020; Preotiuc-Pietro and Ungar, 2018; Florini, 2014). However, Blodgett et al. (2016) and Kiritchenko and Mohammad (2018) observed that lapses of inclusion of Black social media subscribers in digital research leads to biasing of NLP algorithms in the form of language classifiers and emotion/sentiment lexicons causing failure to detect Black Twitter subscribers' speech patterns including syntactic abbreviations, grammar, and emotions that challenges the validity and interpretability of computational methods when they are included in social media research. This means that the collective gap in digital inquiry accounting for race and gender in social media research undermines the reliability of results by whitewashing outcomes, defaulting to a White subscriber when developing NLP tools (Hampton, 2021; Noble, 2018).

By not attending to differences in communication patterns about drug-behaviors online and not observing the significance of gender and race in NLP techniques social media research regarding drug-

related harms is limited in its generalizability across populations. For instance, TF-IDF (term frequencyinverse document frequency) is a good measure of differentiating between important topics across groups, however, results from topic models incorporating TF-IDF may be mislabeled by human annotators if important demographic characteristics are not evaluated. Al-Garadi et al. (2021) disambiguated between nonmedical and medical consumption of prescription medications, revealing the influence of pop culture references like the YouTube video of a man consuming Adderall with whiskey while wearing diesel jeans in tweets labeled for nonmedical use. Although Al-Garadi et al. (2021) accurately labeled the term whiskey with co-consumption of drugs, this label, in reference to the YouTube video, is not generalizable across Twitter subscribers as it may in fact represent interest in cultural objects linked to NMPDU rather than concomitant drug behaviors. In a similar way, Stevens et al., (2020) accounted for race in their sampling frame and analytic methods but did not report the implication of race on results regarding drugrelated keywords and topics. While they used "slang" terms and song lyrics to construct classifiers, they did not inspect their effects at inter-group levels to understand Black and White distinctions in drugbehaviors and communication patterns on Twitter. We explore the implication of this in greater detail as it concerns NMPSU, because emotion expression and topics about NMPSU by Black women and men are likely distinct due to the intersection of race and gender as a fundamental cause of drug use for each group. We attend to emotion and topic analysis specifically, because Al-Garadi et al. (2022) showed gendered differences wherein women Twitter subscribers were more likely than men to express positive emotions, anticipation, sadness, and joy in comparison to men, who were more likely to express feelings of anger in tweets about NMPSU.

Methods

Data Collection

We augment work by Raza et al. (2023), and Al-Garadi et al. (2022) to determine how Black Twitter subscribers talk about nonmedical prescription stimulant use, and how gender shapes these conversations. Tweets were collected from March 6, 2018, to April 30, 2021 (Al-Garadi, 2021). Keyword-

based pipelines were used to extract gender and race from Twitter profile content, with race assigned by self-identification in historical tweets as someone who is Black (e.g., "I am Black"). Pipelines produced high levels of predictive accuracy for gender and race (Yang et al., 2023; Yang et al., 2021). We extracted approximately 2,418 tweets from women and 2,702 tweets from men from a total of 1,506 Black women and 1,703 Black men Twitter subscribers (Table 1). All tweets were publicly available, and usernames were removed to maintain privacy.

Analytic Methods

Emotion Analysis

We conducted emotion analysis using the NRC lexicon, which uses English words to identify the emotional content of text depicting feelings of anger, anticipation, disgust, fear, joy sadness, surprise, and trust, as well as their positive and negative valence (Mohammad and Turney, 2013; Plutchik, 2001). Values for each emotion are dependent on their proportion representation across each tweet. However, we removed tweets assigned a value of 0 for all emotions, indicating an inability of NRC to detect emotions overall, reducing the number of tweets in our sample to 1,631 tweets for women and 1,755 tweets for men. We did this because emotion and sentiment dictionaries fail to distinguish Black American English vernacular and syntax for Black versus White Twitter subscribers, and to increase accuracy of our comparative assessments by gender (Blodgett et al., 2016). We used median values for each emotion to exclude outliers, leaving approximately 440 tweets for Black women Twitter subscribers and 436 tweets for Black men subscribers. The Mann-Whitney U Test helped us identify statistically significant differences in emotions expressed by women and men considering non-normality of data (Table 2; McKnight and Najab, 2010; Nachar, 2008).

Sentiment Analysis

To account for potential accuracy limits of the NRC Lexicon emotion analysis, we supplemented these methods using the VADER sentiment dictionary, which determines the degree to which language in text is considered positive, negative, or neutral, assigning a compound score to detect polarity (Czarnek and Stillwell, 2022; Ribeiro et al., 2016; Hutto and Gilbert 2014; Table 3). Whereas positive, negative, and neutral scores can range between 0 and 1, compound scores are between -1 and 1, with neutrality assigned to values -0.05 to 0.05. We used the original sample o tweets by Black women and men subscribers who talked about NMPSU and removed those with compound scores showing high degree of neutrality because this signified difficulty assigning sentiment to each tweet. As such our tweet sample was reduced for women and men, with 1,597 and 1,665 tweets remaining, respectively. We followed the same procedures from our emotion analysis and conducted Mann-Whitney U Tests for each sentiment to determine gender differences in sentiment valence for Black women and men Twitter subscribers following the removal of outliers (final tweet sample of 1,544 tweets for women and 1,630 tweets for men).

Topic Models

For topic modeling, we used LDA (Latent Dirichlet Allocation), a probability-based model that assigns words to topics based on the likelihood of co-occurrence across documents (Blei et al., 2003). This is an unsupervised approach, which does not incorporate annotation methods, dictionaries, or data categorization to predict relevant topics. We assessed topic models for a range of 5 to 40 topics for each group (Black women and Black men), and inspected coherence values for each model. Coherence measures are used to identify how much words in a topic are related. We chose models with higher coherence values by gender and located the five-most prevalent topics across each model. Finally, we selected a 40-topic model for women and 30-topic model for men using the average percent distribution (minimum of 60 percent mean contribution) of prominent topics per tweet. We did this to ensure appropriate labeling of data, as coherence scores along with topic relevance, and word exclusivity, are important to model interpretation while considering gendered differences in topic representation (Tables 4-5; Weston et al., 2023; Yoon et al., 2013). We present labels before and after manual inspection of tweets alongside sample tweets to demonstrate the utility of qualitative inquiry in natural language processing to evaluate topic models of understudied populations. We observed 10 tweets per topic (when possible) with the highest percentage contribution to ensure themes closely reflected topics. Some topics

were given multiple labels because the same word combinations could be used to describe various aspects of NMPSU.

All assessments were conducted using Python programming language and standard preprocessing techniques (i.e., lowercasing; removal of stop words, hyperlinks, and phone numbers; lemmatization). We present modified versions of tweets to ensure subscriber confidentiality due to the sensitive nature of our study.

[Tables 1-3 go here]

Results

The mean age of Black women and men Twitter subscribers who engaged in NMPSU rounded to 29 years for both groups (Table 1), showing comparable representation between our larger study and Twitter subscribers who talk about nonmedical prescription stimulant use on the site (Raza et al., 2023; Yang et al., 2023). Women and men used the same mean number of stimulant medications (1.01 with a standard deviation between 1,3). Adderall followed by Vyvanse, and Ritalin were the most common medications in our dataset across groups. However, compared to men, women were slightly more likely to tweet about nonmedical prescription stimulant use based on proportion of tweets by gender. This reflects differences in posting patterns by which Black women post Twitter messages more often than Black men, instead of representing differential rates of use by gender (Bailey, 2021; Hargittai 2020).

Emotion Analysis

In comparison to men, median proportion of tweets dedicated to expressing positive emotions and trust were higher for women (0.222 and 0.125 for women and 0.200 and 0.111 for men; Table 2). Whereas those describing negative, anticipatory, or fear-based emotions were greater for men (0.200, 0.0833, 0.0833 for men versus 0.167, 0.0646, 0.000 for women, respectively). Despite this, Mann-Whitney U Tests did not detect differences in emotion scores for women and men at significance levels of 0.05 or less. Though, there was a marginally significant difference in negative emotion expression for men versus

women, with men being more likely to describe negative feelings in relation to NMPSU in their tweets (p = 0.0634). The effect size of this was negligible.

Sentiment Analysis

Using the VADER sentiment analyzer, women and men's tweets reflected similar proportions of positive, negative, and neutral language, with greatest proportion of tweets highlighting neutral, followed by positive, and negative sentiment (neutral = 0.770 vs 0.776; positive = 0.120 vs 0.122; negative = 0.0950 vs 0.0870 for women and men, respectively; Table 3). Although, compound scores were higher for women (0.202 versus 0.153), indicating slightly more positive language in women's tweets, matching NRC results about use of more positive language by women. Like Mann-Whitney results for the NRC Lexicon, differences in valence of scores for Black women and men for all sentiments were not significant. Effect size scores mirrored these results.

[Tables 4-5 go here]

Topic Models

Moving to topic models, we found gendered differences in themes discussed by Black women and men in relation to nonmedical prescription stimulant use. Exploring women's tweets first, we found that the most prevalent topics in order of most to least predominant were labeled for cravings; addiction/dependence; experimentation; how NMPSU affects the subscriber's day or how time determines NMPSU; and taking higher dose of prescription medications or supplementing prescription stimulants with caffeine (Table 4). Labels prior to annotation corresponded to those after reviewing tweets, except for the label for experimentation. Experimentation contained "like", "know", "Adderall", "never", "drug, "said", "let, "asked", "girl", and "need" as dominant words, which we inferred to indicate willingness to try prescription stimulants because of "like", "never", "drug", and "asked". However, further inspection showed that these tweets were about the effects of prescription stimulant use, including noticing the effects NMPSU on others or others noticing the effects of NMPSU on the Twitter subscriber.

Unlike posts by women, we had more difficulty correctly labeling tweets for men. We mislabeled prominent themes for 3 out of 5 topics. Whereas women's tweets were about experiences of NMPSU or dependence, men talked about pop culture via song lyrics along with accessing prescription stimulants or finding a source, and recreational use or using Twitter for information seeking about NMPSU (Table 5). For instance, we coded topic 22 for men as NMPSU for different activities including schoolwork. But, upon reading tweets linked to the topic we realized that Black men were in fact quoting lyrics from a song by Lil' Wayne featuring Takeoff, "I Don't Sleep". The topic words were "Adderall", "really, "sleep", "f***", "give", "school", "good", "play", "call", and "year old". The song lyrics are "F*** a bed, f*** a spread, f*** a sheet (I don't sleep), f*** a Xanny, give me Adderall and weed (I don't sleep)". Our original label was not far off from the content of lyrics which describe NMPSU for various activities like sex, productivity towards reaching goals, and recreational use. However, we were unable to infer whether song lyric content matched Black men's NMPSU patterns in relation to the topic identified. Conversely, we were able to recognize lyrics of YoungBoy Never Broke Again for topic 8 matching the song, "Genie". Based on these lyrics, Black men expressed passive suicidal ideation in relation to consumption of prescription stimulants without providing context as to what might trigger listing these kinds of lyrics in tweets. Including how researchers from populations of interest can improve topic model labeling.

Discussion

This study examined the utility of natural language processing (NLP) techniques like emotion analysis, sentiment analysis, and topic modeling to identify race- and gender-based patterns of NMPSU among Black women and men Twitter subscribers. Our results indicate that while NLP methods offer a way to examine large swathes of social media content, outputs are not generalizable across populations and require further inspection to ensure accurate interpretation of results. For instance, although the lead author (JW) identifies as a Black woman, who is a Twitter subscriber, her gender identity as a woman limited her ability to detect gendered differences in conversations about NMPSU for Black men, including topics about hip-hop as a relevant cultural signifier in Black men's tweets. While other research notes the prevalence of song lyrics in tweets, they are usually discarded and not considered to reflect

personal instances of drug use in social media research (Kim et al., 2020; Preotiuc-Pietro and Ungar, 2018). We recommend against this, since music can provide domain level knowledge not easily recognizable to researchers wherein subgroups of people who engage in nonmedical prescription drug use purposely invoke lyrics to denote subjective experiences tied to use (Semenza, 2018). For example, the invocation of hip-hop songs when talking about suicide and thoughts of overdose were reflected in tweets by Black men who use opioids (paper 1 of this dissertation). This indicates that music, especially hip-hop, is not just a marker of identity (Roy and Dowd, 2010), but a tool by which Black people seek safety and peace when struggling with mental health (Wright, 2019; Harper and Jackson, 2018; DeNora, 2013). Even more, there may be intergroup differences where those racialized as White quote lyrics or mention media intrinsic to their own cultural repertoire, which is not consonant with groups racialized in other ways. Like in the case of hip-hop music and Black men Twitter subscribers.

Whereas past studies show gender-based differences in emotional expression for women and men who engage in NMPSU (Al-Garadi et al., 2022), we did not find this despite pulling data from the same corpus. This may be due to us exclusively analyzing tweets by Black Twitter subscribers whose gender could be predicted. As a result, using these characteristics to categorize data showed the limitations of current emotion and sentiment lexicons, like the NRC Lexicon and VADER dictionary, to detect emotion and sentiment for subscriber tweets since studies accounting for gender still default to White men social media subscribers. It is possible that greater representation of tweets by White women and men in training models used to create these dictionaries obfuscates results at subgroup levels, leading to an inability to elucidate cultural distinctions in linguistic expressions for Black women and men Twitter subscribers (Kiritchenko and Mohammad, 2018).

Though language is not a barrier in dictionary-based emotion analysis of our tweets, as all tweets were in English, NRC and VADER failed to detect the emotions and sentiments of more than 30 percent of tweets, with NRC demonstrating more restrictions. Even still, there were inconsistencies in which tweets were likely to be rated as neutral or showing no detectable emotion across dictionaries. Meaning, VADER tweets showing no sentiment were not always similarly assessed by NRC or vice versa.

However, this could be due to differences in the words used by each lexicon, as NRC has a more robust dictionary (Al-Garadi et al., 2022).

At closer study by sampling and reviewing missing tweets by dictionaries, we found that tweets about time did not show sentiment distinctions for VADER, and that colloquial patterns of speech impeded the NRC lexicon from detecting emotions (per the assessment of JW). Further, among tweets removed for emotion and sentiment scores across [both] dictionaries, we noticed that they concentrated on language about need and functioning in relation to NMPSU, substantiating our claims regarding the potency of dictionaries to assess group-level patterns in speech across racialized and gendered populations.

Still, topic models revealed gendered differences in nonmedical prescription stimulant use behaviors for Black women and men Twitter subscribers. While both groups talked about negative side effects from use, like cognitive impairment. The most prominent topics among women were related to dependency. Women were more likely to talk about craving prescription stimulants or relying on NMPSU to meet their needs, with Black women describing taking higher amounts of prescription stimulants and co-using stimulants with caffeine. This aligns with reports of women moving more quickly towards dependence than men (Bobzean et al., 2014). However, this does not mean that prescription stimulant dependance was not relevant to Black men since it was also among their most prevalent topics. Yet, unlike Black women, Black men were more likely to quote song lyrics about NMPSU, and to talk about issues accessing or finding sources for prescription stimulants, as well as engaging in information seeking about NMPSU on Twitter.

Hip-hop was significant in Black men's conversations about NMPSU, as song lyrics from artists like YoungBoy Never Broke Again and Lil Wayne were featured in two out of five of men's most prominent tweet topics. Future studies should evaluate how pop culture shapes or informs nonmedical prescription stimulant use among Black women and men since they display different degrees of influence in tweet content. Although Black women were less likely to include music in tweets, trigrams (word combinations that exist in context of text documents) ranked by gender show that cultural markers about

hip-hop, comedy, and popular online videos were important to Black women's conversations about NMPSU (Supplementary Tables & Figures: 1-5).

Since hip-hop as a genre is associated with galvanizing online discussions related to mental health for Black social media subscribers, computational studies should incorporate hip-hop to analyze the cooccurrence of mental health disorders among people who use drugs (Raza et al., 2023; Cenat et al., 2023; Banks et al., 2023; Francis 2021, Francis 2018). For instance, rises in conversations about suicide and mental health on Twitter and higher call volume to the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline followed the release of Logic's song, "1-800-273-8255", about seeking help when struggling with suicidal ideation (Niederkrotenthaler et al., 2021; Torgerson et al., 2021). While these studies did not account for racebased differences in Twitter conversations linking mental health to hip-hop, Francis (2021, 2018) showed that Black men discussed mental health and depression on Twitter following rapper Kid Cudi's disclosure of suicidal ideation and depression on Facebook, with Black men being more likely to seek help about their depressive symptoms. This supports topic 8 of our model about Black men's tweets, wherein, YoungBoy Never Broke Again's lyrics from "Genie" describe passive suicidal ideation, and a willingness to mix prescription stimulants with lean (a candy and soda mixture with opioids, like liquid codeine, and promethazine) to die. We do not believe this is innocuous since listing lyrics in tweets coincides with the presentation of mental health concerns for conditions like depression, and content about mental health struggles are rife in hip-hop songs (Alavijeh et al., 2023; Kresovich et al., 2021; Wright, 2019; Harper and Jackson, 2018; Bailey, 2013). Moreover, Al-Garadi infer the words "taking mixing" are about dosage in NMPDU tweets, however, we hypothesize they reflect the song by YoungBoy Never Broke Again we described above.

Limitations

Although our study advances research on drug related outcomes using Twitter to account for how race and gender, as fundamental causes of disease, shape health, there are limitations. For instance, our corpus contained a little more than 5,000 tweets by Black Twitter subscribers who engaged in NMPSU. A larger sample may account for discrepancies in detecting emotion and sentiment across tweets, as posts in

our sample may not be generalizable to all Black Twitter subscribers who engage in NMPSU. Even still, we do not believe this is the case since investigations of sentiment dictionaries display racialized disparities in detecting emotions, with stereotypical emotions assigned to Black social media subscribers (Kiritchenko and Mohammad, 2018) and an undercounting of depressive symptom words for Black Facebook subscribers in comparison to White (Rai et al., 2023). Moreover, topics detected in our analyses match those of Raza et al. (2023) which investigated NMPSU and identified topics about mental health, side effects, and addiction/dependence.

Although a strength of our study is that we focus on the implications of race and gender on stimulant use, we do not assess differences across racial groups or across drug categories (i.e., opioids, benzodiazepines, polydrug use) for nonmedical prescription drug use. Because race is inferred, we were unable to determine whether all subscribers in our repository self-identified with a specific race, impeding our ability to predict races for all subscribers in the full dataset at subgroup levels. As a result, race-based differences for drug behavior patterns among Hispanic/Latinx, Asian, and American Indian populations were limited because of lower volume of tweet representation in our dataset. More work is needed to detect tweets for Black, Hispanic/Latinx, and American Indian populations given rising rates of opioid-and stimulant-involved overdose deaths among these groups, and because their experiences are rarely investigated (Kariisa et al., 2022; Kariisa et al., 2021).

Conclusion

To our knowledge our study is the first to use Twitter to investigate how race and gender intersect in meaningful ways to shape drug-related discussions online using natural language processing techniques, with special attention paid to Black Twitter subscribers. We find that Twitter offers a space for public health researchers in the digital domain to delve more deeply into conversations about nonmedical prescription stimulant use among Black people who use drugs, enabling them to evaluate whether topics relevant to subscribers on the site match real world drug-related experiences more broadly. We believe understanding group level differences can create opportunities for targeted interventions to mitigate drugrelated harms through social media, like in the case of Twitter discussions spurred by rappers Kid Cudi and Logic in relation to suicide and depression.

Though our results show less robust emotion and sentiment detection than Al-Garadi et al. (2022), we believe the inclusion of Black Twitter subscribers as part of analytic teams can improve NLP methods to augment current lexicons by providing domain specific knowledge of Black American vernacular and culture, and its significance in shaping syntax and conversations online (i.e., Black Twitter as a digital community and cultural phenomenon; Aguilar et al., 2023; Frey et al., 2020; Blevins et al., 2016). Furthermore, scrutinizing the implication of hip-hop in tweets can create opportunities for more robust detection of cultural signifiers in the conversations of Black Twitter subscribers (Deas et al., 2023). We hope future researchers, take care in attending to how their racialized and gendered identity influences data interpretation, and how race and gender, as fundamental causes of disease, influence group level differences in conversations online (Aguilar et al., 2023). Black women and men are more vulnerable to overdose-related deaths than their racial cohorts, and we hope this study showcases the imperative of other researchers to pay closer attention to their needs and that of Hispanic/Latinx, and American Indian populations than presently exists in drug-related research.

References

- Aguilar, N., Landau, A., Mathiyazhagan, S., Auyeung, A., Dillard, S., Patton, D., 2023. Applying Reflexivity to Artificial Intelligence for Researching Marginalized Communities and Real-World Problems. Presented at the Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences. https://doi.org/10.24251/HICSS.2023.090
- Al-Garadi, M.A., Yang, Y.-C., Cai, H., Ruan, Y., O'Connor, K., Graciela, G.-H., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2021. Text classification models for the automatic detection of nonmedical prescription medication use from social media. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 21, 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-021-01394-0
- Al-Garadi, M.A., Yang, Y.C., Guo, Y., Kim, S., Love, J.S., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2022. Large-Scale
 Social Media Analysis Reveals Emotions Associated with Nonmedical Prescription Drug Use.
 Health Data Science 2022, 9851989.
- Alavijeh, S.Z., Zarrinkalam, F., Noorian, Z., Mehrpour, A., Etminani, K., 2023. What users' musical preference on Twitter reveals about psychological disorders. Information Processing & Management 60, 103269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ipm.2023.103269</u>
- Bailey, M., 2013. Homolatent Masculinity & Hip Hop Culture. Palimpsest 2, 187-199,235.
- Bailey, M., 2021. Misogynoir Transformed: Black Women's Digital Resistance. New York University Press, New York, NY.
- Banks, D.E., Duello, A., Paschke, M.E., Grigsby, S.R., Winograd, R.P., 2023. Identifying drivers of increasing opioid overdose deaths among black individuals: a qualitative model drawing on experience of peers and community health workers. Harm Reduction Journal 20, 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-023-00734-9</u>
- Bergey, M., Chiri, G., Freeman, N.L.B., Mackie, T.I., 2022. Mapping mental health inequalities: The intersecting effects of gender, race, class, and ethnicity on ADHD diagnosis. Sociology of Health & Illness 44, 604–623. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.13443</u>

- Blei, D.M., Ng, A.Y., Jordan, M.I., 2003. Latent Dirichlet Allocation. Journal of Machine Learning Research 3, 993-1022.
- Blevins, T., Kwiatkowski, R., MacBeth, J., McKeown, K., Patton, D., Rambow, O., 2016. Automatically Processing Tweets from Gang-Involved Youth: Towards Detecting Loss and Aggression, in: Matsumoto, Y., Prasad, R. (Eds.), Proceedings of COLING 2016, the 26th International Conference on Computational Linguistics: Technical Papers. Presented at the COLING 2016, The COLING 2016 Organizing Committee, Osaka, Japan, pp. 2196–2206.
- Blodgett, S.L., Green, L., O'Connor, B., 2016. Demographic Dialectal Variation in Social Media: A Case
 Study of African-American English, in: Proceedings of the 2016 Conference on Empirical
 Methods in Natural Language Processing. Presented at the Proceedings of the 2016
 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, Association for
 Computational Linguistics, Austin, Texas, pp. 1119–1130. https://doi.org/10.18653/v1/D16-1120
- Bobzean, S.A.M., DeNobrega, A.K., Perrotti, L.I., 2014. Sex differences in the neurobiology of drug addiction. Experimental Neurology 259, 64-70. doi:10. 1016/j.expneurol.2014.01.022
- Brock, A., 2012. From the Blackhand Side: Twitter as a Cultural Conversation. Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media 56, 529–549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2012.732147</u>
- CDC, 2023. Stimulant Overdose. URL <u>https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/deaths/stimulant-overdose.html</u> (accessed March 2024)
- Cénat, J.M., Kogan, C.S., Kebedom, P., Ukwu, G., Moshirian Farahi, S.M.M., Darius, W.P., Mulopo Bakombo, S., Dalexis, R.D., Ndengeyingoma, A., Noorishad, P.-G., Labelle, P.R., 2023.
 Prevalence and risk factors associated with psychostimulant use among Black individuals: A meta-analysis and systematic review. Addictive Behaviors 138, 107567.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2022.107567
- Chung, W., Jiang, S.-F., Paksarian, D., Nikolaidis, A., Castellanos, F.X., Merikangas, K.R., Milham,M.P., 2019. Trends in the Prevalence and Incidence of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder

Among Adults and Children of Different Racial and Ethnic Groups. JAMA Netw Open 2, e1914344. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.14344

- Ciccarone, D., 2021. The rise of illicit fentanyls, stimulants and the fourth wave of the opioid overdose crisis. Current Opinion in Psychiatry 34(4), 344-350.
- Crenshaw, K., 1991. Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color. Standford Law Review 43(6), 1241-1299.
- Czarnek, G., Stillwell, D., 2022. Two is better than one: Using a single emotion lexicon can lead to unreliable conclusions. PLoS One 17, e0275910. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0275910</u>
- Deas, N., Grieser, J., Kleiner, S., Patton, D., Turcan, E., McKeown, K., 2023. Evaluation of African American Language Bias in Natural Language Generation.
- DeNora, T., 2013. Music Asylums: Wellbeing Through Music in Everyday Life. Ashgate Publishing Company, Burlington, VT.
- Fairman, K.A., Peckham, A.M., Sclar, D.A., 2020. Diagnosis and Treatment of ADHD in the United States: Update by Gender and Race. J Atten Disord 24, 10–19. Fairman, R.T., Vu, M., Haardorfer, R., Windle, M., Berg, C.J., 2021. Prescription stimulant use among young adult college students: Who uses, why, and what are the consequences? Journal of American College Health 69, 767–774. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054716688534</u>
- Florini, S., 2014. Tweets, Tweeps, and Signifyin': Communication and Cultural Performance on "Black Twitter." Television & New Media 15, 223–237. https://doi.org/10.1177/1527476413480247
- Francis, D.B., 2018. Young Black Men's Information Seeking following Celebrity Depression Disclosure: Implications for Mental Health Communication. Journal of Health Communication 23, 687–694. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2018.1506837</u>
- Francis, D.B., 2021. "Twitter is Really Therapeutic at Times": Examination of Black Men's Twitter Conversations Following Hip-Hop Artist Kid Cudi's Depression Disclosure. Health Communication 36, 448–456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2019.1700436</u>

- Francis, D.B., Finn, L., 2021. A Theoretically Based Analysis of Twitter Conversations about Trauma and Mental Health: Examining Responses to Storylines on the Television Show *Queen Sugar*. Health Communication 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2021.1888454</u>
- Frey, W.R., Patton, D.U., Gaskell, M.B., McGregor, K.A., 2020. Artificial Intelligence and Inclusion:
 Formerly Gang-Involved Youth as Domain Experts for Analyzing Unstructured Twitter Data.
 Social Science Computer Review 38, 42–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439318788314</u>
- Glasofer, A., Dingley, C., 2022. Diagnostic and Medication Treatment Disparities in African American Children with ADHD: a Literature Review. J. Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities 9, 2027–2048. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-021-01142-0</u>
- Gondré-Lewis, M.C., Abijo, T., Gondré-Lewis, T.A., 2022. The Opioid Epidemic: a Crisis Disproportionately Impacting Black Americans and Urban Communities. J. Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-022-01384-6</u>
- Goodhines, P.A., Taylor, L.E., Zaso, M.J., Antshel, K.M., Park, A., 2020. Prescription stimulant misuse and risk correlates among racially-diverse urban adolescents. Subst Use Misuse 55, 2258–2267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2020.1800740</u>
- Guntuku, S.C., Ramsay, J.R., Merchant, R.M., Ungar, L.H., 2019. Language of ADHD in Adults on Social Media. J Atten Disord 23, 1475–1485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054717738083</u>
- Hampton, L.M., 2021. Black Feminist Musings on Algorithmic Oppression, in: Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency. pp. 1–1. https://doi.org/10.1145/3442188.3445929
- Hargittai, E., 2020. Potential Biases in Big Data: Omitted Voices on Social Media. Social Science Computer Review 38, 10–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439318788322</u>
- Harper, K.C., Jackson, H., 2018. Dat' Niggas Crazy: How Hip-Hop Negotiates Mental Health. Western Journal of Black Studies 42, 113–124.

- Hulme, S., Bright, D., Nielsen, S., 2018. The source and diversion of pharmaceutical drugs for non-medical use: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 186, 242–256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.02.010</u>
- Hutto, C., Gilbert, E., 2014. Vader: A parsimonious rule-based model for sentiment analysis of social media text. Proceedings of the International AAI Conference on Web and Social Media, Ann Arbor, MI, pp. 216-225.
- Jones, A.A., Schneider, K.E., Tobin, K.E., O'Sullivan, D., Latkin, C.A., 2023a. Daily opioid and stimulant co-use and nonfatal overdoses in the context of social disadvantage: Findings on marginalized populations. Journal of Substance Use and Addiction Treatment, Stimulants 151, 208986. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.josat.2023.208986</u>
- Jones, A.A., Shearer, R.D., Segel, J.E., Santos-Lozada, A., Strong-Jones, S., Vest, N., Teixeira da Silva, D., Khatri, U.G., Winkelman, T.N.A., 2023b. Opioid and stimulant attributed treatment admissions and fatal overdoses: Using national surveillance data to examine the intersection of race, sex, and polysubstance use, 1992–2020. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 249, 109946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2023.109946</u>
- Kariisa, M., Seth, P., Scholl, L., Wilson, N., Davis, N.L., 2021. Drug overdose deaths involve cocaine and psychostimulants with abuse potential among racial and ethnic groups United States, 2004-2019. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 227, 109001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.109001
- Kariisa, M., Davis, N.L., Kumar, S., Seth, P., Mattson, C.L., Chowdhury, F., Jones, C.M., 2022. Vital Signs: Drug Overdose Deaths, by Selected Sociodemographic and Social Determinants of Health Characteristics 25 States and the District of Columbia, 2019–2020. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 71, 940–947. <u>https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7129e2</u>
- Kiritchenko, S., Mohammad, S.M., 2018. Examining Gender and Race Bias in Two Hundred Sentiment Analysis Systems.

- Kline, D., Bunting, A.M., Hepler, S.A., Rivera-Aguirre, A., Krawczyk, N., Cerda, M., 2023. State-Level History of Overdose Deaths Involving Stimulants in the United States, 1999–2020. Am J Public Health 113, 991–999. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2023.307337</u>
- Kim, M.G., Kim, J., Kim, S.C., Jeong, J., 2020. Twitter Analysis of the Nonmedical Use and Side Effects of Methylphenidate: Machine Learning Study. Journal of Medical Internet Research 22, e16466. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/16466</u>
- Kramer, T.L., Han, X., Booth, B.M., 2009. Young Adult, Rural, African American Stimulant Users: Antecedents and Vulnerabilities. Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse 8, 378–399. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640903327393
- Kresovich, A., Reffner Collins, M.K., Riffe, D., Carpentier, F.R.D., 2021. A Content Analysis of Mental Health Discourse in Popular Rap Music. JAMA Pediatrics 175, 286–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.5155</u>
- Lichtenstein, B., 2005. Domestic violence, sexual ownership, and HIV risk in women in the American deep south. Social Science & Medicine 60, 701–714.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.06.021

- Link, B.G., Phelan, J., 1995. Social conditions as fundamental causes of disease. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 80-94.
- Mendez, J., Yomogida, K., Figueroa, W., Diaz Roldan, K., Bavarian, N., 2023. Examining associations between prescription stimulant misuse frequency and misuse characteristics by race/ethnicity. Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse 22, 402–416.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2021.1952128

McKnight, P.E., Najab, J., 2010. Mann-Whitney U Test. The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology 1(1).

- Mohammad, S.M., Turney, P.D., 2013. Crowdsourcing a word-emotion association lexicon. Computational Intelligence 31(2), 301-326.
- Nachar, N., 2008. The Mann-Whitney U: A test for assessing whether two independent samples come from the same distribution. Tutorials in Quantitative Methods for Psychology 4(1), 13-20.

- Nicholson, H.L., 2020. Socioeconomic status, fundamental cause theory, and prescription opioid use behaviors: a theoretical examination. Sociological Spectrum 40, 1–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02732173.2019.1707138</u>
- Niederkrotenthaler, T., Tran, U.S., Gould, M., Sinyor, M., Sumner, S., Strauss, M.J., Voracek, M., Till, B., Murphy, S., Gonzalez, F., Spittal, M.J., Draper, J., 2021. Association of Logic's hip hop song "1-800-273-8255" with Lifeline calls and suicides in the United States: interrupted time series analysis. BMJ 375, e067726. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2021-067726</u>
- Noble, S.U., 2018. Algorithms of Oppression: How Search Engines Reinforce Racism. NYU Press, New York, NY.
- Nydegger, L.A., Dickson-Gomez, J., Ko Ko, T., 2021. Structural Syndemic Barriers to PrEP Adoption among Black Women at High Risk for HIV: A Qualitative Exploration. Culture, Health, and Sexuality 23(5), 659-673.
- O'Donnell, J., Gladden, R.M., Mattson, C.L., Hunter, C.T., Davis, N.L., 2020. Vital Signs:
 Characteristics of Drug Overdose Deaths Involving Opioids and Stimulants 24 States and the
 District of Columbia, January–June 2019. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 69, 1189–1197.
 https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6935a1
- Plutchik, R., 2001. The nature of emotions. American Scientist 89(4), 344-350.
- Preoțiuc-Pietro, D., Ungar, L., 2018. User-Level Race and Ethnicity Predictors from Twitter Text 12.
- Rai, S., Stade, E.C., Giorgi, S., Francisco, A., Ungar, L.H., Curtis, B., Guntuku, S.C., 2023. Key language markers of depression on social media depend on race (preprint). PsyArXiv.

https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/uvamz

Raza, S., Schwartz, B., Lakamana, S., Ge, Y., Sarker, A., 2023. A framework for multi-faceted content analysis of social media chatter regarding non-medical use of prescription medications. BMC Digit Health 1, 29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s44247-023-00029-w</u>

- Ribeiro, F.N., Araujo, M., Gonclaves, P., Gonclaves, M.A., Benevenuto, F., 2016. Sentibench-a benchmark comparison of state-of-the-practice sentiment analysis methods. EPJ Data Science 5(1), 1-29.
- Roy, W.G., Dowd, T.J., 2010. What Is Sociological about Music? Annu. Rev. Sociol. 36, 183–203. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.012809.102618
- Saadatmand, F., Harrison, R., Bronson, J., Dearfield, C., Crouse, D., Douglas, M., Maxwell, C., 2020. Violence Exposure, Drug Use and HIV/AIDS Risk Taking Behaviors: The Role of Gender. Journal of the National Medical Association 112(5), 484-502.
- Semenza, D.C., 2018. Feeling the Beat and Feeling Better: Musical Experience, Emotional Reflection, and Music as a Technology of Mental Health. Sociol Inq 88, 322–343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/soin.12194</u>
- Shearer, R.D., Jones, A., Howell, B.A., Segel, J.E., Winkelman, T.N.A., 2022. Associations between prescription and illicit stimulant and opioid use in the United States, 2015–2020. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment 143, 108894. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2022.108894</u>
- Shi, Y., Hunter Guevara, L.R., Dykhoff, H.J., Sangaralingham, L.R., Phelan, S., Zaccariello, M.J., Warner, D.O., 2021. Racial Disparities in Diagnosis of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder in a US National Birth Cohort. JAMA Netw Open 4, e210321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.0321</u>

Silverstein, S.M., Rivera, J., Gainer, D., Daniulaityte, R., 2023. "Things that you can't really suppress": Adverse childhood experiences in the narratives of people with opioid use disorder. Social Science & Medicine - Mental Health 3, 100185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmmh.2022.100185</u>

- Stevens, R.C., Brawner, B.M., Kranzler, E., Giorgi, S., Lazarus, E., Abera, M., Huang, S., Ungar, L.,
 2020. Exploring Substance Use Tweets of Youth in the United States: Mixed Methods Study.
 JMIR Public Health Surveill 6, e16191. https://doi.org/10.2196/16191
- Stockman, J., Syvertsen, J.L., Hayashi, H.D., Ludwig-Barron, N., Tsuyuki, K., Morris, M.D., Palinkas,L., 2021. "Violence and love and drugs...it all goes hand in hand": A mixed methods analysis of

the substance abuse, violence, and HIV/AIDS syndemic among women who use methamphetamine. Substance Abuse 42(4), 821-831.

- Sun, B., Mao, H., Yin, C., 2020. Male and Female Users' Differences in Online Technology Community Based on Text Mining. Front Psychol 11, 806. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00806</u>
- Torgerson, T., Swayze, C., Sanghera, S., Cooper, C., Beaman, J., Hartwell, M., Vassar, M., 2021. Public awareness of the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline following the release of a hip-hop song.
 BMJ EBM 26, 191–191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjebm-2020-111509</u>
- Townsend, T., Kline, D., Rivera-Aguirre, A., Bunting, A.M., Mauro, P.M., Marshall, B.D.L., Martins, S.S., Cerdá, M., 2022. Racial/Ethnic and Geographic Trends in Combined Stimulant/Opioid Overdoses, 2007–2019. American Journal of Epidemiology 191, 599–612.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwab290
- Walia, N., Lat, J.O., Tariq, R., Tyagi, S., Qazi, A.M., Salari, S.W., Jafar, A., Kousar, T., Renzu, M., Leszkowitz, D., Abreu, R., Rodriguez, I., 2021. Trends in Mortality Due to Stimulants Use in Adolescents and Young Adults. Addictive Disorders & Their Treatment 20, 571–577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ADT.00000000000294</u>
- Weston, S.J., Shryock, I., Light, R., Fisher, P.A., 2023. Selecting the Number and Labels of Topics in Topic Modeling: A Tutorial. Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science 6, 25152459231160105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/25152459231160105</u>
- Wright, J.K., 2019. For Colored Girls and Boys Who Have Considered Suicide/ When Prayer and GOOD Music Weren't Enough. The Journal of Hip Hop Studies 6, 106-122,136,106A. https://doi.org/10.34718/xz28-g676
- Yang, Y.-C., Al-Garadi, M.A., Love, J.S., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2021. Automatic gender detection in Twitter profiles for health-related cohort studies. JAMIA Open 4, 00ab042. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jamiaopen/00ab042</u>

- Yang, Y.-C., Al-Garadi, M.A., Love, J.S., Cooper, H.L.F., Perrone, J., Sarker, A., 2023. Can accurate demographic information about people who use prescription medications nonmedically be derived from Twitter?. PNAS 120(8), e2207391120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2207391120</u>
- Yoon, S., Elhadad, N., Bakken, S., 2013. A Practical Approach for Content Mining of Tweets. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 45, 122–129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.02.025</u>

Tables & Figures

	Mean				
	Age		Mean num of		
	(min,	Num of	Meds		Num of
Gender (n)	max)	Tweets	(min, max)	Top 5 meds	Tokens
Women	28.7	2418	1.01	Adderall	22303
(1506)	(15, 78)		(1, 3)	Vyvanse	
				Ritalin	
				Adderall and	
				Vyvanse	
				Adderall and	
				Ritalin	
Men	29.2	2702	1.01	Adderall	23600
(1703)	(15, 78)		(1, 3)	Vyvanse	
				Ritalin	
				Adderall and	
				Vyvanse	
				Adderall and	
				Ritalin	

Table 1. Black Twitter Subscriber Tweet Distribution

				e e
Emotions	Median: Women	Median: Men	p-value (p)	Effect size (r)
Positive	0.222	0.2	0.206	-0.0427
Negative	0.167	0.2	0.0634	0.0627
Anger	0	0	0.851	0.00636
Anticipation	0.0646	0.0833	0.702	0.0129
Disgust	0	0	0.452	-0.0254
Fear	0	0.0833	0.422	0.0271
Joy	0	0	0.531	-0.0212
Sadness	0	0	0.568	-0.0193
Surprise	0	0	1	0
Trust	0.125	0.111	0.456	-0.0252

Mann-Whitney U Test

Table 2. NRC Lexicon Emotion Analysis

Size effects(r): *Small difference $(0.1 \le r < 0.3)$. **Medium difference $(0.3 \le r < 0.5)$. ***Large difference $(0.5 \le r < 0.7)$. ****Very large difference $(r \ge 0.7)$

			Mann-Wh	nitney U Test
Sentiment	Median: Women	Median: Men	p-value (p)	Effect size (r)
Positive	0.12	0.122	0.794	0.00463
Negative	0.095	0.087	0.493	0.0122
Neutral	0.77	0.776	0.239	-0.0209
Compound	0.202	0.153	0.346	-0.0167

 Table 3. VADER Sentiment Analysis

Size effects(r): *Small difference $(0.1 \le r < 0.3)$. **Medium difference $(0.3 \le r < 0.5)$. ***Large difference $(0.5 \le r < 0.7)$. ****Very large difference $(r \ge 0.7)$

 take; need; adderall; cravings drink; full; bottle; feel_like; m; feel; thank day; adderall; think; give; Addiction/dependence god; every; fun; white; addiction; accidentally like; know; adderall; Experimentation never; drug; said; let; asked; girl; need feel_like; feel; two; like; How use affects the da adderall; last_night; etc.) fast tomorrow; used; night; etc.) much; coffee; adderall; raking irescrip thease; ritalin; ive stimulants w/ caffeine 	Topic Ngrams Label (Before Annotation) Label (After Annotation)	Label (After Annotation)	Sample Tweet	
feel_like; m; feel; thank day; adderall; think; give; god; every; fun; white; addiction; accidentally like; know; adderall; never; drug; said; let; asked; girl; need feel_like; feel; two; like; adderall; last_night; tomorrow; used; night; last much; coffee; adderall; last much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin; ive		Thoughts/feelings about stimulants (including	"I need more adderall or another brain"	
day; adderall; think; give; god; every; fun; white; addiction; accidentally like; know; adderall; never; drug; said; let; asked; girl; need feel_like; feel; two; like; adderall; last_night; tomorrow; used; night; last much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin; ive	feel; thank	cravings)	:	
addiction; accidentally like; know; adderall; never; drug; said; let; asked; girl; need feel_like; feel; two; like; adderall; last_night; tomorrow; used; night; last much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin; ive	; think; give; Addiction/dependence in; white;	Addiction/Dependence	"@subscriber yeait was an addy day #adderalldon	
like; know; adderall; never; drug; said; let; asked; girl; need feel_like; feel; two; like; adderall; last_night; tomorrow; used; night; last much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin: ive	cidentally		[crying laughing emoji]"	
never; drug; said; let; asked; girl; need feel_like; feel; two; like; adderall; last_night; tomorrow; used; night; last much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin: ive	dderall; Experimentation	Effects of prescription	"what I look like after	
asked; girl; need feel_like; feel; two; like; adderall; last_night; tomorrow; used; night; last much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin; ive	said; let;	stimulant use (includes	binging some adderall"	
feel_like; feel; two; like; adderall; last_night; tomorrow; used; night; last much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin: ive	eed	noticing effects on others		
feel_like; feel; two; like; adderall; last_night; tomorrow; used; night; last much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin: ive		or others noticing the		
feel_like; feel; two; like; adderall; last_night; tomorrow; used; night; last much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin: ive		effects on self)		
adderall; last_night; tomorrow; used; night; last much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin: ive	 two; like; How use affects the day 	Storytelling about	"getting drunk and on	
tomorrow; used; night; last much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin: ive	_night; (e.g., at night, next day,	NMPSU (including based	addies feels like youre	
last much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin: ive		on time of day)	stupid but faster"	
much; coffee; adderall; taking; extra; lot; getting; please: ritalin; ive				
getting;	; adderall; Taking higher dose or	Negative effects of	"vitamin r - crushed.	
	lot; getting; supplementing prescription	NMPSU (side effects from	kmfdm - on repeat. coffee	
	t; ive stimulants w/ caffeine	consuming large quantities	 extra strong. hydros - 	
		or with caffeine)	why not."	
Topic				
--------	--------------------------------	--	------------------------------	-----------------------------
Number	Topic Ngrams	Label (Before Annotation) Label (After Annotation)	Label (After Annotation)	Sample Tweet
×	taking adderall; adderall;	YB NBA - Genie lyrics	YB NBA - Genie lyrics	"I'm taking adderall mixing
	taking; feel; mixing; better;			it with lean hope I don't
	mixing_lean; eat; snorted;			wake out my sleep"
19	cet: day: work: adderall:	Stimulant use to get	Access or source	"someone bring me an
	know; want; caffeine;	through the day (including		adderall to my job. I will
	damn; three; 14	caffeine)		pay you \$\$\$"
11	take; back; adderall; make;	Distracted from studying	Dependence on stimulants	"a solid 80% of my tweets
	study; lot; made; I'll; tweet;	(side effect)	(and cognitive side effects)	are while under the
	good; like			influence of addy. My bad"
22	adderall; really; sleep; f***;	Stimulant use for different	Lil Wayne ft. Takeoff - I	"I don't sleepf*** a
	give; school; good; play;	activities including	Don't Sleep	bedf*** a spreadf***
	call; year old	schoolwork		a sheetf*** a xangive
	1			me adderall and weed"
14	14 like; adderall; weed; year;	Polydrug use	Recreational	"please god can I find
	help; cup; pop; house; beer;	1	use/information about drug	adderall on the floor again
	vet		experiences	like the day hefore"

Supplementary Tables & Figures



S1. Unigram Wordcloud for Women (Top 200 words)

S2. Unigram Wordcloud for Men (Top 200 words)



	women	Ivien
1	adderall	adderall
2	get	like
3	take	get
4	like	got
5	need	time
6	day	take
7	took	vyvanse
8	time	day
9	vyvanse	need
10	got	took

<u>S3. TF-IDF Top 10 Ranked</u> Unigrams for Women vs Men **Women Men**

S4. TF-IDF Top 10 Ranked Bigrams for Women vs Men Women Men

	Women	Men
1	took adderall	taking adderall
2	take adderall	take adderall
3	need adderall	took adderall
4	red bull	much adderall
5	much adderall	got adderall
6	snorting adderall	need adderall
7	get adderall	pop adderall
8	got adderall	adderall got
9	taking adderall	snorting adderall
10	adderall get	get adderall

	Women	Men
1	whiskey diesel jean	taking adderall mixing
2	glass whiskey diesel	adderall mixing lean
3	adderall red bull	adderall glass whiskey
4	adderall glass whiskey	whiskey diesel jean
5	alright alright alright	glass whiskey diesel
6	time adderall glass	shower time adderall
7	shower time adderall	time adderall glass
8	adderall mixing lean	money reason gotta
9	taking adderall mixing	reason gotta take
10	day adderall red	gotta take ritalin

S5. TF-IDF Top 10 Ranked Trigrams for Women vs Men

Chapter 5: Conclusion

In *Men We Reaped: A Memoir* (2013), author Jesmyn Ward traced the effects of stress from racism in her life through the lens of the Black men she loved. These men, and invariably Ward, traversed poverty while maintaining relationships with women and girls who would eventually mourn their early deaths. Although some lost their lives because of accidents, systemic oppression was commonplace in each man's story as they presented with feelings of depression, thoughts of suicide, and drug use to cope with unemployment, discrimination, limited options, and feelings of hopelessness. While Ward considered her place in society with respect to each man, she, along with her mother and sisters, was rarely centered in the memoir outside of her connection to men.

By de-centering herself, Ward showcases the lasting effects of strong Black womanhood in her life and in the lives of Black women closest to her. The systems that oppressed the Black men she cared for and valued, simultaneously and differentially subjugated Ward, causing bouts of depression and dependence on alcohol to manage feelings of sadness, helplessness, and loss. Ward's memoir was her way of resisting, and pushing back against controlling images that made her experiences and those of the men she loved illegible, because they strayed from American ideals of propriety and success (Neal, 2013; DuBois, 1903). Ward's memoir was her way of saying, "Hello. We are here. Listen." (Ward, 2013, pg. 250).

In this way, as I found in this dissertation, Black women and men Twitter subscribers make their lives legible to one another against the backdrop of the war on drugs and stereotypes of hypersexuality and waywardness by showing us they are still here. They have found ways to survive and seek pleasure in connection to one another and with drug use. This dissertation stands as a testament to the lives of Black women and men who use drugs, not just those who disclose their use on Twitter, but Black women and men writ large.

Black women and men Twitter subscribers challenge inequality and attempts at social control enacted upon them by finding ways to survive, even as they are incarcerated and penalized for drug use. Black women and men redefine NMPDU (nonmedical prescription drug use) by finding alternative

sources for drugs as access to legalized drugs are denied irrespective of need (or medical conditions). They use Twitter as sites of memory to articulate how pain and pleasure coalesce through NMPDU, and bear witness to one another as they manage their pain (Morrison, 1998). They are here.

Black women and men Twitter subscribers memorialize themselves, to defy controlling images that present them as unworthy of victimhood or treatment by humanizing themselves and normalizing NMPDU with their network members (Monier, 2023; Taylor, 2022).

In paper one, I examined how Black men discussed nonmedical prescription opioid use (NMPOU) on Twitter, paying close attention to reasons for, patterns of, and side effects from use. I observed that Black men engaged in NMPOU to cope with emotional, physical, and psychological pain and distress; to have fun and relax; and to die by suicide. Twitter allowed Black men to manage unpleasant emotions like anxiety by engaging in NMPOU when interacting with other subscribers on and off the site. However, the relationships they cultivated on Twitter were not limited to forming drug-partnerships, which could be protective in the case of an unintentional overdose. Instead, Black men also used Twitter to provide information to increase safer practice of NMPOU (and nonmedical prescription stimulant use) to network members, and to find sources for drugs online. Nevertheless, addiction, unintentional overdose, sleep issues, and sexual dysfunction were negative outcomes tied to NMPOU for Black men, with hip-hop offering a way to normalize their experiences, as well as to set expectations.

Although Black men subscribers sometimes used hip-hop to present aspects of Black masculinity oriented in hypersexuality and braggadocio as real and cool (Neal, 2013; hooks, 2004; Assante, 2008), others used hip-hop to mark transitions in NMPOU. I understand these distinctions to be part of rising mortality of Black men from opioids in the early 2000s. The fact that hip-hop and its commercialization marked shifting trends in overdose death is unsurprising since popular songs across genres act as records of the marketing and proliferation of pain killers by pharmaceutical companies (Herzberg et al., 2023; Peteet et al., 2021; Hanba and Hanba 2018; Oksanen, 2012). What is more important to me, however, is that Black men used hip-hop to create a safe way to talk about their grief and thoughts of death. This was profound since Black men commiserate with one another to move through stress from discrimination and

the silencing it causes (Young, 2021; Jackson, 2018; Evans and Moore, 2015; Watkins, 2010; Wingfield, 2007). Disclosures of sadness, depression, and grief in tweets and through hip-hop mimics how popular rap artists use creative expression to deal with the ramifications of structural inequality in their lives by naming it as a thing and managing its effects with drugs (Pendleton, 2023; Francis, 2021; Wright, 2019; Harper and Jackson, 2018).

In kind, paper two showed how Black women rearticulated identities tied to the war on drugs by distancing themselves from controlling images of the crack-addicted mother and welfare queen. Black women engaged in nonmedical prescription stimulant use (NMPSU) to establish autonomy while navigating traditional modes of success in a racialized capitalist system that offered diminishing returns for their productivity at school, work, and at home (Assari et al., 2019; Assari et al., 2018).

Black women often employed strength-based practices based on the strong Black woman (SBW) controlling image to manage demands, because the SBW is perceived less negatively than the crack-addicted mother and welfare queen (Collins, 2022; Morgan, 2000). As such, Black women reshaped the expectations they, and others had of them, with frames of success and high achievement with NMPSU. However, this came at a cost, as Black women, like Black men, struggled with thoughts of suicide, and feelings of depression and sadness.

Primarily engaging in problem-based methods impeded Black women's ability to consider the emotional toll more active coping took on their physical and psychological health. When stressors mounted, Black women found it more difficult to function, attenuating their ability to draw esteem from accomplishing goals. As a result of this, and the cumulative effects of multiple stressors, Black women's mental health worsened, and they experienced challenges like addiction and low self-esteem. This was more detrimental to Black women when they did not perceive support from loved ones or faced difficulty accessing prescription medications from medical providers. For Black women for whom the SBW was a difficult ideal to attain, they received diminishing returns while sacrificing their health, especially when their attempts to meet their needs were hindered by systems of power through medical care (Cottom,

2019; Mingus, 2015; Geronimus et al., 2006; Geronimus, 2001). Even still, when Black women were able to manage stressors effectively, they felt indominable.

Paper three highlighted how innocuous race-neutral research in digital realms appear, until the intersection of key demographic variables is incorporated into analytic frames (Cottom, 2020; Bonilla-Silva and Zuberi, 2008). By not including Black researchers or Twitter subscribers in drug-related research in meaningful ways, outcomes are not generalizable and text analysis results are misinterpreted because they only produce information that defaults to a White (man) subscriber (Noble, 2018). For instance, I observed that unlike prior research, which validates the NRC Lexicon and VADER sentiment dictionary as measures of emotion and sentiment for tweet data across social media populations, these mechanisms do not produce reliable results when extended to Black women and men Twitter subscribers.

The syntactic and grammatical differences of Black American English vernacular is not recognized by NRC and VADER, and so, they fall short of measuring Black women and men's emotions and sentiments. Even more, hip-hop is not usually considered cultural markers of evaluation despite its proliferation and popularity among younger populations who are more likely to use Twitter. Thus, misinterpreting validation results across populations is likely because Black people use comparative language when they engage with one another online, including when they use humor and hip-hop songs in tweets to convey thoughts and emotions (Deas et al., 2023; Taylor, 2022; Brock, 2020; Preotiuc-Pietro and Ungar, 2018). Moreover, outcomes from topic models established that issues of dependence on prescription stimulants is something that affects Black women and men who engaged in NMPSU. However, dependence was more pronounced in Black women whereas polysubstance use and suicidality seemed to affect Black men across nonmedical prescription drug categories (stimulants and opioids).

The prevalence of suicidal thoughts was not surprising. In fact, many Black researchers pushback against the Black-White mental health paradox, which establishes that resilience explains why Black women and men have lower rates of affective disorders like depression and anxiety (Keyes, 2009). Some Black researchers (including myself) find it difficult to accept that rates of these disorders are lower since Black people (as a proportion of the population) show higher risk factors associated with mental illness

(e.g., poverty, discrimination; Mouzon et al., 2016; Soto et al., 2011; Brown et al., 2003; Clark et al., 1999). Nonetheless, it is not apparent how the mental health paradox can be explained away using my results.

Although Twitter permits a longitudinal approach to evaluation, the information gleaned is not enough to determine causation. The Black Twitter subscribers in my sample describe comorbid disorders (or symptoms of comorbidity), yet it is not possible to determine the time order of when these symptoms began in relation to the onset of NMPDU. As such, symptoms of depression, including suicidal thoughts, may be a side effect of use rather than a precursor to it. Though, I do not believe this to be true by and large. I believe it is more likely that stressors increase susceptibility to negative side-effects from drug use, but for those who become dependent on NMPDU to cope, underlying mental health struggles are likely to have already been present. Furthermore, mental health disorders are only comorbid if nonmedical drug use meets the diagnostic criteria of addiction and if symptoms for affective disorders meet the threshold of those conditions. Because I was unable to establish causality regarding affective symptoms and NMPDU, more research using historical tweets of Black Twitter subscribers is needed to determine whether they are side effects of NMPDU or precede use. Computational methods should be supplemented with interviews, surveys, and instrument testing to detect if Black populations who talk about drug use online differ in significant ways from Black Twitter subscribers who do not talk about NMPDU.

Nevertheless, Black Twitter subscribes in my sample (and Black people who use drugs more broadly) showcase dexterity in their decisions to engage in NMPDU. Often their use was not linear and could be associated with specific events. However, for those who engaged in NMPDU as a general coping strategy or who experience addiction, I believe harm reduction practices that place value in the individuals' right to self-determination regarding NMPDU should be used. Expectations of complete abstinence support recidivism and re-institutionalization, while I do not mean that abstinence is not necessary for some, it should be a decision made by the person who uses drugs of their own accord (Chang et al., 2023; Dennis and Pienaar, 2023; Herzberg et al., 2023; Jauffret-Roustide, 2023).

Furthermore, abstinence without tangible support in the way of therapy, employment, housing, and reinvestment of drug sales back into communities impacted by criminalization of drug use, is a Band-Aid that does not attend to how social disadvantage creates use in the first place (Herzberg et al., 2023; Dennis and Pineaar, 2023; Rudzinski and Strike, 2020; brown, 2019; Phelan and Link, 2015; Phelan et al., 2010; Williams and Collins, 2001). This is salient as pleasure and rest are part of an African cultural ethos to establish wellness when engaging with systems of inequality to reduce stress (Monier, 2023; Collins, 2022; Taylor, 2022; brown, 2019; hooks, 2004; Morgan, 2000).

Racialized capitalism through the legacy of slavery and continued inequality creates deaths of despair (Herzberg et al., 2023; Case and Deaton, 2015). These deaths are predicated on the invisibility of white racialism that impedes full integration into American society (Omi and Winant, 2014; Feagin, 2006; Bonilla Silva, 2006; DuBois, 1903). Yet, and still this kind of social disconnection produces suicide as Black women and men, must constantly peak through the veil to manage their emotions and social location when pushing back against controlling images (Herzberg et al., 2023; Collins 2022; brown, 2019; Morgan, 2000; Collins, 2004; DuBois, 1903; Durkheim, 1897). This weathers the body, mind, and soul (Geronimus, 2010; Jackson et al., 2010; Geronimus et al., 2006). While I do not believe nonmedical drug use is "enuf," decriminalization and social support nets in tandem with resistance can help Black women [and men] who are "movin to the end of their rainbows" (Shange, 1997, pg. 25; Jones et al., 2019; Jones, 2014). Indeed, I find especially helpful the key principles of harm reduction identified by the Harm Reduction Coalition:

- "Accepts for better and or worse, that licit and illicit drug use is part of our world and chooses to work to minimize its harmful effects rather than simply ignore or condemn them....
- Calls for the non-judgmental, non-coercive provision of services and resources to people who use drugs and the communities in which they live in order to assist them in reducing attendant harm....

- Affirms drugs users themselves as the primary agents of reducing the harms of their drug use, and seeks to empower users to share information and support each other in strategies which meet their actual conditions of use.
- Recognizes that the realities of poverty, class, racism, social isolation, past trauma, sex-based discrimination and other social inequalities affect both people's vulnerability to and capacity for effectively dealing with drug-related harm." (brown, 2019, pg. 100; Harm Reduction Coalition, n.d.)

References

- Assante, M.K., 2008. It's Bigger Than Hip-Hop: The Rise Of The Post-Hip-Hop Generation. St. Martin's Press, New York.
- Assari, S., Lapeyrouse, L.M., Neighbors, H.W., 2018. Income and Self-Rated Mental Health: Diminished Returns for High Income Black Americans. Behavior Science 8(5), 50.
- Assari, S., Schatten, H.T., Arias, S.A., Miller, I.W., Camargo, C.A., Boudreaux, E.D., 2019. Higher Educational Attainment is Associated with Lower Risk of a Future Suicide Attempt Among Non-Hispanic Whites but not Non-Hispanic Blacks. J. Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities 6, 1001– 1010. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-019-00601-z</u>
- Bonilla-Silva, E., 2006. Racism without Racists: Color-Blind Racism and the Persistence of Racial Inequality. Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Washington, DC.
- Bonilla-Silva, E., Zuberi, T., 2008. White Logic, White Methods: Racism and Methodology. Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Washington, DC.
- Brock, A., 2020. Distributed Blackness: African American Cybercultures. NYU Press, New York.

brown, adrienne maree, 2019. Pleasure Activism: The Politics of Feeling Good. AK Press, Chico, CA.

- Case, A., Deaton, A., 2015. Rising morbidity and mortality in midlife among white non-Hispanic Americans in the 21st century. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science 112(49), 15078-15083.
- Chang, J., 2023. Narcofeminism: A feminist auto-ethnography on drugs. The Sociological Review 71, 760–779. https://doi.org/10.1177/00380261231176893
- Clark, R., Anderson, N.B., Clark, V.R., Williams, D.R. 1999. Racism as a Stressor for African Americans: A Biopsychosocial Model. American Psychologist 54(10), 805-816.
- Collins, P.H., 2004. Black Sexual Politics: African Americans, Gender, and the New Racism. Routledge, New York, NY.
- Collins, P.H., 2022. Black Women and Wellness. Women & Therapy 45, 354–368. https://doi.org/10.1080/02703149.2022.2125620

Cottom, T.M., 2019. Thick: And Other Essays. The New Press, New York, NY.

- Cottom, T.M., 2020. Where Platform Capitalism and Racial Capitalism Meet: The Sociology of Race and Racism in the Digital Society. Sociology of Race and Ethnicity 6, 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332649220949473
- Deas, N., Grieser, J., Kleiner, S., Patton, D., Turcan, E., McKeown, K., 2023. Evaluation of African American Language Bias in Natural Language Generation.
- Dennis, F., Pienaar, K., 2023. Refusing recovery, living a 'wayward life': A feminist analysis of women's drug use. The Sociological Review 71, 781–800. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00380261231175729</u>
- DuBois, W.E.B., 1903. The Souls of Black Folk: Essays and Sketches. The Atlantic Monthly. Washington, D.C.
- Durkheim, E., 1897 (1951). Suicide: A Study in Sociology. The Free Press, New York, NY.
- Evans, L., Moore, W.L., 2015. Impossible Burdens: White Institutions, Emotional Labor, and Micro-Resistance. Social Problems 62, 439–454.
- Feagin, J.R., 2006. Systemic Racism: A Theory of Oppression. Routledge, New York, NY.
- Francis, D.B., 2021. "Twitter is Really Therapeutic at Times": Examination of Black Men's Twitter Conversations Following Hip-Hop Artist Kid Cudi's Depression Disclosure. Health Communication 36, 448–456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2019.1700436</u>
- Geronimus, A., 2001. Understanding and eliminating racial inequalities in women's health in the United States: The role of the weathering conceptual framework. Journal of the American Medical Women's Association 56(4), 133-136.
- Geronimus, A., Hicken, M., Keene, D., Bound, J., 2006. Weathering and age patterns of allostatic load scores among blacks and whites in the United States. American Journal of Public Health 96(5), 826-833.
- Hanba, C., Hanba, D., 2018. Opioid and Drug Prevalence in Top 40's Music: A 30 Year Review. J AmBoard FamMed 31, 761–767. https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2018.05.180001

- Harm Reduction Coalition, n.d. Principles of Harm Reduction. URL <u>https://harmreduction.org/about-us/principles-of-harm-reduction/</u> (accessed March 2024).
- Harper, K.C., Jackson, H., 2018. Dat' Niggas Crazy: How Hip-Hop Negotiates Mental Health. Western Journal of Black Studies 42, 113–124.
- Herzberg, D, Hansen, H., Netherland, J., 2023. Whiteout: How Racial Capitalism Changed the Color of Opioids in America. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.

hooks, b., 2004. We Real Cool: Black Men and Masculinity. Routledge, New York, NY.

- Jackson, B.A., 2018. Beyond the cool pose: Black men and emotion management strategies Jackson -2018 - Sociology Compass - Wiley Online Library. Sociology Compass 12.
- Jackson, J.S., Knight, K.M., Rafferty, J.A., 2010. Race and unhealthy behaviors: Chronic stress, the HPA axis, and physical and mental health disparities over the life course. American Journal of Public Health 100(5), 933-939. https://doi.org/10. 2105/AJPH.2008.143446
- Jauffret-Roustide, M., 2023. Pleasure, drugs, materiality and tensions in harm reduction in practice: The case of safer injection programmes. The Sociological Review 71, 903–921. https://doi.org/10.1177/00380261231176894

Jones, C.P., 2014. Systems of power, axes of inequity: parallels, intersections, braiding the strands.

Medical Care 52(10), S71-S75.

- Jones, C.P., Holden, K.B., Belton, A.B., 2019. Strategies for Achieving Health Equity: Concern about the Whole Plus Concern about the Hole. Ethnicity & Disease 29(2), 345-348.
- Keyes, C.L.M., 2009. The Black-White Paradox in Health: Flourishing in the Face of Social Inequality and Discrimination. Journal of Personality 77(6), 1677-1706.
- Mingus, M., 2015. Medical Industrial Complex Visual. URL <u>https://leavingevidence.wordpress.com/2015/02/06/medical-industrial-complex-visual/</u> (accessed March 2024)

- Monier, M., 2023. "Rest as resistance:" Black cyberfeminism, collective healing and liberation on @TheNapMinistry. Communication, Culture and Critique 16, 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1093/ccc/tcad022
- Morgan, J., 2000. When Chickenheads Come Home to Roost: A Hip-Hop Feminist Breaks It Down. Simon & Schuster, New York, NY.
- Morrison, T., 1998. The Site of Memory, in: Inventing the Truth: The Art and Craft of Memoir. Harper Perennial, New York, pp. 183–200.
- Mouzon, D.M., Taylor, R.J., Nguyen, A.W., Chatters, L.M. 2016. Serious Psychological Distress Among African Americans: Findings From the National Survey of American Life. Journal of Community Psychology 44(6), 765-780.
- Noble, S.U., 2018. Algorithms of Oppression: How Search Engines Reinforce Racism. NYU Press, New York, NY.

Neal, M.A., 2013. Looking for Leroy: Illegible Black Masculinities. NYU Press.

Oksanen, A., 2012. To Hell and Back: Excessive Drug Use, Addiction, and the Process of Recovery in Mainstream Rock Autobiographies. Substance Use & Misuse 47, 143–154.

https://doi.org/10.3109/10826084.2012.637441

- Omi, M., Winant, H., 2014. Racial Formation in the United States. Routledge, New York, NY.
- Pendleton, S.M., 2023. Exploring Stigma and Black Mental Health on Twitter. Journal of Health Communication 28, 425–435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2023.2218288</u>
- Peteet, B., Roundtree, C., Dixon, S., Mosley, C., Miller-Roenigk, B., White, J., Bediako, M., Hitch, A., McCuistian, C., 2021. 'Codeine crazy:' a content analysis of prescription drug references in popular music. Journal of Youth Studies 24, 1100–1116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2020.1801992</u>
- Phelan, J.C., Link, B.G., 2015. Is Racism a Fundamental Cause of Inequalities in Health. Annual Review of Sociology 41, 311-330.

- Phelan, J.C., Link, B.G., Tehranifar, P., 2010. Social Conditions as Fundamental Causes of Health Inequalities: Theory, Evidence, and Policy Implications. Journal of Health and Social Behavior 51, S28-240.
- Preoțiuc-Pietro, D., Ungar, L., 2018. User-Level Race and Ethnicity Predictors from Twitter Text 12.
- Rudzinski, K., Strike, C., 2020. Resilience in the Face of Victimization: A Bourdieusian Analysis of Dealing With Harms and Hurts Among Street-Involved Individuals Who Smoke Crack Cocaine. Contemporary Drug Problems 47, 3–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0091450920907425</u>
- Shange, N., 1997. For Colored Girls Who Have Considered Suicide/When the Rainbow Is Enuf: A Choreopoem. Scribner Poetry, New York, NY.
- Soto, J., Dawson-Andoh, N.A., Belue. 2011. The relationship between perceived discrimination and Generalized Anxiety Disorder. Journal of Anxiety Disorders 25, 258-265.
- Taylor, Z., 2022. "(It) Shouldn't Be Funny But You Can't Help But Laugh": Black Twitter, #TweetLikeThe1600s, and Black Humor Online. Social Media + Society 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/20563051221107631
- Ward, J., 2013. Men We Reaped: A Memoir. Bloomsbury USA, New York, NY.
- Watkins, D.C., Walker, R.L., Griffith, D.M., 2010. A Meta-Study of Black Male Mental Health and Well-Being. Journal of Black Psychology 36, 303–330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798409353756</u>
- Williams, D.R., Collins, C., 2001. Racial residential segregation: a fundamental cause of health disparities. Public Health Reports 116(5), 404-416.
- Wingfield, A.H., 2007. The Modern Mammy and the Angry Black Man: African American Professionals' Experiences with Gendered Racism in the Workplace. Race, Gender & Class 14, 196–212.
- Wright, J.K., 2019. For Colored Girls and Boys Who Have Considered Suicide/ When Prayer and GOOD Music Weren't Enough. The Journal of Hip Hop Studies 6, 106-122,136,106A. https://doi.org/10.34718/xz28-g676
- Young, A.A., 2021. Black Men and Black Masculinity. Annu. Rev. Sociol. 47, 437–457. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-091620-024714